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Corporate Information
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KBFAE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited

P.O. Box 1350
Clifton House
75 Fort Street

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

KiaE1 -

Estera Trust (Cayman) Limited 2 5 20 & &
% 1 & Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited -
20205 4 A6 BARL

Estera Trust (Cayman) Limited has changed entity name to Ocorian
Trust (Cayman) Limited with effect from é April 2020.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHE

To all shareholders,

2019 was a year of volatility in the global market environment,
the tension of trade war between China and the United States
continued to escalate, and sanctions against Iran and Venezuela
have been imposed. All these challenges exerted a pressure to
the growth of our Group's business. Our Group managed to
maintain the total revenue with a moderate growth by
approximately 16.6% to approximately HK$49.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2019 under this difficult times.

Apart from stabilizing the current asphalt tanker chartering
business, we also explored for new development opportunities
during the year, so as to diversify our business portfolio. In the
first half of 2019, our Group commenced asphalt trading
business. Based on our strong industry network over the years
that established good cooperative relations with the upstream
and downstream of the asphalt industry chain such as major
refineries, energy trading companies and end users around the
world, we are confident that it is our strengths to present in the
international and domestic asphalt markets.

Besides, we enlarged our fleet by acquiring two second-hand
Capesize vessels in late 2019, increased to twelve vessels in
operation with total capacity of 470,000 dwt, and extended our
business line to bulk carrier chartering services. For the year
ended 31 December 2019, these two vessels have contributed
approximately US$0.6 million to our Group, by entering into
time charter agreements on a long-term basis with reputable
customers. We believe the bulk carrier charter business will
continue to generate steady income to our Group.

The global economic uncertainties exacerbated by the outbreak
of the novel coronavirus around the world may adversely affect
our chartering services in 2020. But we will continue to provide
high quality standard chartering services to our customers in the
coming year. Furthermore, we will continue to actively manage
our liabilities. In March 2020, we have entered into two finance
lease agreements of approximately US$18.0 million repayable
in five years at floating rate, in order to improve the liquidity
position.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHE

We would like to express our gratitude to all of our employees
for their dedication and professionalism, and most of all, our
shareholders, customers, and suppliers for their continued
support. Going forward, we will continue to refine and optimise
our business in order to further enhance the long-term returns
of our Group.

Mr. Wang Faqing
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 March 2020
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Five-Year Financial Summary

EFEMBERE

A summary of the results, and of the assets, liabilities and non- 588 A Q82 T & B XM B HRER AR
controlling interest of the Group for the last five financial years, SEiBEREMBEENEEUAREE -
as extracted from the published audited financial statements of & & & IEFERRER BT ©

the Company is set out below.

RESULTS £
Year ended 31 December HZ12A31BILFE
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

20154 20165 2017 £ 20184 2019 &
US$'000 US$000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

TET TET T=r TEn Txr

Revenue g 10,760 15,457 33,727 42,716 49,751
Cost of sales HEKA (6,357) (9,043) (20,458) (28,225) (35,762)
Gross profit EF| 4,403 6,414 13,269 14,491 13,989
Other income HAs A 250 666 332 8,222 1,489
Administrative expenses THFEX (642) (783) (2,095) (3,864) (2,535)
Other operating expenses ~ Efth &8 F Y = (162) (350) (7,110) (634)
Exchange gains/(losses),net [ i 25,/ (&18)
pE:E] 14 299 (1,543) 343 (218)
Profit from operations (B RTS % 4,025 6,434 9,613 12,082 12,091
Finance costs AR (649) (1912 (3,581) (5,469) (6,087)
Profit before tax 235wl 3,376 4,522 6,032 6,613 6,004
Income tax expense FTSBiF - - - - -
Profit for the year FRHEF 3,376 4,522 6,032 6,613 6,004
Attributable to: AT &IBRESR
Owners of the Company KARER A 3,377 4,390 5,489 6,613 6,004
Non-controlling interests JEIEIR RS m 132 543 = =
3,376 4,522 6,032 6,613 6,004

EREXEEERAT /2019 FF1] 7



Five-Year Financial Summary

T FHMBERE
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING BE  BENFZERER
INTERESTS
As at 31 December »12H31H
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
20154 20164 2017 5 2018 4F 2019 &
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$’000
FET FEr FET FET FExn
Total assets BERE 70,250 110,733 164,033 211,014 218,965
Total liabilities BEEE (51,177) (96,932) (89,598) (111,910)  (113,875)
Non-controlling interests  FE1ZA i (59) (431) = = =
19,014 13,370 74,435 99,104 105,090

XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2019



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEN W R D

The board of Directors (the “Board”) of Xin Yuan Enterprises
Group Limited (the “"Company”) is pleased to present the
audited consolidated results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2019, together with the comparative figures for the
corresponding period in 2018 (the “Years Under Review").

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

During the year ended 31 December 2019, our Group has three
operating segments which included (i) asphalt tanker chartering
services; (i) bulk carrier chartering services; and (iii) asphalt
trading. Our Group principally provides asphalt tanker
chartering services under various types of charter agreements
comprising: (i) time charters; and (ii) voyage charters and
contracts of Affreightment (“CoAs"). Apart from stabilizing the
current asphalt tanker chartering business, we are also looking
for new development opportunities in the shipping market. In
late 2019, we acquired two second-hand Capesize vessels,
namely XYG Fortune and XYMG Noble, which has been
providing bulk carrier time chartering services to our customers.
Furthermore, our Group has been developing new asphalt
trading business since the first half of 2019.

Currently we operate a fleet of twelve vessels with total capacity
of 470,000 dwt, in which six vessels are operated under asphalt
tanker time charters, four vessels are operated under asphalt
tanker voyage charters or CoAs, the remaining two second-
hand Capesize vessels are operated under bulk carrier time
charters. Most of our vessels fleet are operated under time
charters, including the two newly acquired secondhand
Capesize vessels serving bulk carrier chartering, and are
chartered to customers with high performance capabilities on a
long-term basis ranging from one to ten years, which generated
steady income for our Group.

We endeavour to provide high quality asphalt tanker chartering
services. We have our own team of engineers and we are
actively involved in the design of our vessels. Our team works
closely with ship design experts, our customers, the shipyards,
an international classification society and banks or finance lease
companies. We formulate customised shipbuilding plan to build
new vessel that suits our customers’ requirements such as fuel
consumption efficiency and carrying capacity. In light of the fact
that the market price of secondhand Capesize vessels was at a
historical low point, we purchased the secondhand Capesize
vessels to explore new business model by providing bulk carrier
chartering services and to lock up profit by entering into charter
agreements with our customers, so as to combat the risks
brought by escalation of trade wars, abrupt tightening of global
economic conditions and increasing uncertainties in the global
asphalt tanker chartering business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEERWR D

Our major customers include global shipping and logistics
groups, global independent energy traders, and publicly traded
energy companies based in the United States. Our Group has
diversified our business and services and gradually developed
our own customers portfolio. As a result of our Group's efforts
to engage new business and customers, the number of
customers increased in the past few years, from thirteen
customers for the year ended 31 December 2018 to twenty
customers for the year ended 31 December 2019.

With our Group's experienced management team and
competitive strengths, our Directors believe that our Group is
well-positioned to further develop our presence in the asphalt
tanker chartering services market and capture new business
opportunities such as bulk carrier time chartering services and
asphalt trading. Hence, our Group maintains the variety of
services types with a balanced approach to meet different
demands in the market.

Asphalt is a necessity for infrastructure construction, especially
for road construction and maintenance. With the “One Belt
One Road” project and the expansion of the global road
network, the demand for asphalt has steadily increased. In
addition, current lower level bunker price will save costs and
improve energy efficiency, which is favorable to our voyage
charter services. The Group will continue to focus on high
standard of maintenance of our fleet to offer quality and safe
asphalt tanker chartering services, and asphalt trading business
is another focus of our business development. Our Group is
cautiously optimistic on the asphalt market in near future.

Statistically, the bulk cargo carriers have a stake of about 40% in
the international shipping sector. During the year, our Group
achieved another milestone to extend our business into dry bulk
shipping market by purchasing two secondhand Capesize
vessels. Upon delivery of the vessels, we had locked up profit by
entering into charter agreements with the reputable customers
on a long-term basis at a reasonable hire rate. Our Group
expects positive growth prospect of the bulk carrier market in
the future.

10 XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR D

During the year, the trade protectionism initiated by the
government of the United States and the sanctions imposed
against Iran and Venezuela have created uncertainties to the
global and regional trade. With the signing of first stage
agreement in trade negotiations between governments of
China and the United States on 15 January 2020, our Directors
have faith in the prospect of the global chartering industry, but
remains mindful of the uncertainties ahead brought by the Sino-
US trade war and the sanctions against Iran and Venezuela.

The outbreak of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19") at the end
of 2019 has had a certain impact on the economic growth of
China and the world. Since late January 2020, the COVID-19
epidemic in Mainland China caused temporary economic
activities halt for a short period of time, but such epidemic
situation in China is gradually being controlled and alleviated.
However since late February 2020, there is a tendency for
COVID-19 to spread outside China; and on 11 March 2020, the
World Health Organisation announced that COVID-19 can be
characterized as a pandemic. As there is great uncertainty over
the spread of the epidemic, it is difficult for us to predict the
degree of impact on our chartering services at this stage. Our
Group has been closely tracking the impact of the COVID-19
epidemic on the shipping industry. The management has
adopted various measures to safeguard the health of
employees and has complied with all local government's related
regulations.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2019, our revenue increased
to approximately US$49.8 million by approximately US$7.1
million or 16.6% from approximately US$42.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2018. For the Years Under Review, the
increase was mainly due to the number of our vessels increased
from seven vessels as at 1 January 2018, to ten vessels as at 31
December 2018, further to twelve vessels as at 31 December
2019 so as to gradually increase the chartering capacity, as well
as the commencement of new business segment of asphalt
trading since the first half of 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEERWR D

Revenue generated from asphalt tanker time charter services
increased by approximately US$2.3 million or 9.8% from
approximately US$23.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2018 to approximately US$25.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2019. Such increase in revenue was mainly generated
from our vessel Rostella, which started operating under time
charter since May 2019 and contributed to approximately
US$1.9 million of revenue from time charter for the year ended
31 December 2019 (Rostella was operated under voyage
charter, and CoA for the year ended 31 December 2018). In
addition, two second-hand Capesize vessels, namely XYG
Fortune and XYMG Noble, were delivered in late 2019, which
contributed an insignificant revenue from bulk carrier time
chartering services, amounting to approximately US$0.6 million,
to our Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The increase of approximately US$2.5 million or 13.0% of
revenue generated from asphalt tanker voyage charter, and
CoAs from approximately US$19.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately US$21.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019, was mainly due to (i) our vessels,
Baustella, Jastella and Lotstella, were delivered in February,
April and November 2018 respectively and thus not in full
operation for voyage charter and CoAs for the year ended 31
December 2018 but they were in full operation for the year
ended 31 December 2019; such increase was partially offset by
(i) the operation of our vessel Rostella has been changed from
voyage charter to time charter since May 2019 as mentioned
above, (i) certain vessels under voyage charters were off-hired
for 38 days for dry docking and changing mode of operation
during the year ended 31 December 2019, and (iv) the decrease
in average daily hire rate in the second half of 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, our Group

commenced new asphalt trading business, which contributed
approximately US$1.7 million to our Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR D

Cost of sales

Our cost of sales increased by approximately US$7.5 million or
26.6% for the year ended 31 December 2019 as compared to
that for 2018. Such increase was in line with the increase in
revenue, resulting from the increase in the number of vessels
operated, namely Baustella, Jastella and Lotstella, which were
delivered in February, April and November 2018, respectively
and were in full operation for the year ended 31 December
2019, and the commencement of new asphalt trading business.
As the two secondhand Capesize vessels, namely XYG Fortune
and XYMG Noble, were delivered in late 2019 and operated
under bulk carrier time charter, no material operating costs
were incurred for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The increase of cost of sales was mainly due to the following
factors:

(i)  our crew expense recorded an increase of approximately
US$1.5 million or 15.8%, which was mainly due to the fact
that our vessels, Baustella, Jastella and Lotstella, were
delivered in February, April and November 2018,
respectively and put into full operation for the year ended
31 December 2019, but not in full operation for the year
ended 31 December 2018;

(i) our depreciation recorded an increase of approximately
US$1.8 million or 24.7%, which was mainly due to the fact
that our new vessels in 2018, namely Baustella, Jastella and
Lotstella, were depreciated in full year for the year ended
31 December 2019;

(i) our bunker fees recorded an increase of approximately
US$1.4 million or 28.6%, which was mainly due to the
almost full operation for voyage charters and CoAs for the
year ended 31 December 2019 by our vessels, Baustella,
Jastella and Lotstella, which were delivered in February,
April and November 2018, respectively, but which did not
operate in full year for the year ended 31 December 2018;
and

(iv) the cost for the new asphalt trading business amounted to
approximately US$1.6 million.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our gross profit decreased by approximately US$0.5 million or
3.4%, from approximately US$14.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2018 to approximately US$14.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019. Such decrease was mainly due to (i)
the decline in the gross profit of approximately US$1.3 million
from asphalt tanker voyage charter, and CoAs; such decrease
was partially offset by (ii) the increase in the gross profit of
approximately US$0.6 million or 6.4% generated from asphalt
tanker time charters services which was in line with the increase
in revenue generated from asphalt tanker time charter services
by approximately 9.8%.

However, our overall gross profit margin dropped from
approximately 33.9% for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately 28.1% for the year ended 31 December 2019,
which was mainly attributable to (i) the drop of profit margin of
asphalt tanker voyage charter, and CoAs by approximately 8.9%,
and (ii) relatively low profit margin of approximately 6.3% for the
new asphalt trading business.

Our gross profit from asphalt tanker voyage charters and CoAs
dropped sharply by approximately US$1.3 million or 25.5% for
the year ended 31 December 2019, though the revenue
generated from asphalt tanker voyage charters and CoAs
increased by approximately 13.0% for the year ended 31
December 2019. Such decrease in gross profit was mainly
resulted from the combined effects of (i) certain vessels being
off-hired for 38 days for dry docking and changing mode of
operation, but their operating costs such as depreciation and
crew expenses etc. were still incurred for the off-hired periods,
(i) the decrease in the average daily hire rate in the second half
of 2019, which was partially offset by (iii) the increase in gross
profit from three vessels, namely Lotstella, Baustella and
Jastella, as they were in full operation for the year ended 31
December 2019. Accordingly, the gross profit margin from
asphalt tanker voyage charters and CoAs dropped by
approximately 8.9% for the year ended 31 December 2019,
which was mainly attributed to the increase in the number of
off-hired days (during which no revenue was generated but
operating costs were still incurred), and the decrease in the
average daily hire rate.
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Our gross profit generated from asphalt tanker time charters
services increased by approximately US$0.6 million or 6.4% for
the year ended 31 December 2019 and its gross profit margin
maintained at similar level for the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2019 at approximately 40.0% and 38.8%, respectively.
Such increase in gross profit mainly because the operation of
our vessel Rostella has been changed to time charters since
May 2019, while it was operated under voyage charter for the
year ended 31 December 2018 which resulted in an increase in
revenue generated from asphalt tanker time charter services.

Other income

Our other income decreased by approximately US$6.7 million
or 81.7% from approximately US$8.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2018 to approximately US$1.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019. The decrease was mainly due to a
non-recurring insurance compensation income of approximately
US$6.8 million in relation to the repair costs of a vessel with a
fire accident for the year ended 31 December 2018, but no such
accident and compensation was incurred for the year ended 31
December 2019. Besides, the fair value gains on derivative
financial instruments of approximately US$0.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2018 was mainly in relation to the fair
value gains on interest rate swap contracts which was
recognised as other income for the year ended 31 December
2018, but the fair value losses on interest rate swap contracts
was recorded as other operating expense for the year ended 31
December 2019.

Administrative expenses

Our Group's administrative expenses decreased by
approximately US$1.4 million or 35.9% from approximately
US$3.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately US$2.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2019, mainly due to the fact that the non-recurring listing
expenses of approximately US$1.9 million was recognised for
the year ended 31 December 2018 but nil for the year ended 31
December 2019.
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Other operating expense

Our Group recorded other operating expenses of
approximately US$0.6 million and US$7.1 million for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, respectively. The decrease
in other operating expenses was mainly due to the non-
recurring repair costs for the vessel with fire accident which was
totally compensated by insurance for the year ended 31
December 2018, but no such repair costs were incurred for the
year ended 31 December 2019. Other operating expenses of
approximately US$0.6 million for year ended 31 December 2019
mainly included the fair value losses on interest rate swap
contracts of approximately US$0.2 million and accident related
costs of approximately US$0.4 million.

Exchange losses/gains, net

Our Group recorded net exchange losses of approximately
US$0.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 as
compared to net exchange gains of approximately US$0.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2018, which was
principally attributable to the exchange fluctuation of our
Group's bank loans denominated in Singapore Dollars (“SGD").
Our Group maintained the bank loans denominated in SGD
during the Years Under Review, amounting to approximately
US$16.7 million as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018:
US$20.2 million). United States dollars (“USD") depreciated
against SGD by approximately 1.0% for the year ended 31
December 2019, resulting in exchange losses when conversion
of the bank loans denominated in SGD, while USD appreciated
against SGD by approximately 1.9% for the year ended 31
December 2018, resulting in exchange gains when translation of
the bank loans denominated in SGD.

Finance costs

Our finance costs increased by approximately US$0.6 million, or
10.9% for the year ended 31 December 2019 as compared to
the year ended 31 December 2018. The increase was mainly
due to rise of interest expenses on lease liabilities (2018: finance
lease charges) by approximately US$1.3 million resulting from
the addition of our new vessels, namely Baustella, Jastella and
Lotstella, under the finance lease arrangement in 2018.
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Income tax expense

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax, PRC Corporate Income
Tax and Singapore Corporate Income Tax was made since our
Group has no assessable profit for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2019.

Profit for the year

Our profit for the year decreased by approximately US$0.6
million, or 9.1% to approximately US$6.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019 as compared to approximately
US$6.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2018, while our
net profit margin also decreased to approximately 12.0% from
approximately 15.5% for the respective years.

Such decrease in our profit for the year was primarily due to the
combined effect of (i) the decrease in gross profits of
approximately US$0.5 million mainly due to the decrease in the
average daily hire rate and increase in off-hire days in the
second half of 2019 from asphalt tanker voyage charters and
CoAs, (ii) fair value losses on interest rate swap contracts and
net exchange losses of approximately US$0.2 million and
US$0.2 million, respectively, for the year ended 31 December
2019, (iii) fair value gains on interest rate swap contracts and net
exchange gains of approximately US$0.3 million and US$0.3
million, respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2018, (iv)
increase in interest on lease liabilities due to more finance lease
arrangements since 2018, but partially offset by (v) non-recurring
listing expenses of approximately US$1.9 million was recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2018 but nil for the year ended
31 December 2019.
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FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2019, our Group's total assets amounted to
approximately US$219.0 million (31 December 2018: US$211.0
million) with net assets amounting to approximately US$105.1
million (31 December 2018: US$99.1 million). As at 31 December
2019, gearing ratio (total debts divided by the total equity
attributable to owners of our Company) of our Group was 1.04,
a mere decrease of 4.6 percentage points as compared to that
of 1.09 as at the end of 2018. Net debt to equity ratio (net debt,
being our total debts net of bank and cash balances and
pledged bank deposits, by total equity attributable to owners of
our Company) of our Group was 1.0 as at 31 December 2019, an
increase of 12.4 percentage points as compared to that of 0.89
as at the end of 2018. As at 31 December 2019, current ratio of
our Group was 0.23, a decrease of 80.2 percentage points as
compared to that of 1.16 as at the end of 2018, as a result of
significant drop in bank and cash balances as at 31 December
2019.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Our Group adopts a balanced approach to cash and financial
management to ensure proper risk control and lower the costs
of funds, and seek to maintain optimal level of liquidity that can
meet our working capital needs while supporting a healthy level
of business and our various growth strategies. As at 31
December 2019, the Group's bank loans, loans from a related
company, other loans and lease liabilities (2018: finance lease
payables) of approximately US$109.6 million in aggregate
increased by approximately US$1.8 million as compared to 31
December 2018, which was primarily due to loans from a related
company and other loans were obtained in the second half of
2019 but partially offset by repayment of bank loans and lease
liabilities. Our Group finances our operations and growth
primarily through cash generated from operations, bank loans,
loans from a related company and finance lease arrangement,
as well as the net proceeds from the share offer. As at 31
December 2019, the aggregate carrying amount of loans from a
related company and other loans was approximately US$20.4
million, which were obtained mainly to finance the full or partial
consideration of the acquisitions of the two secondhand
Capesize vessels in late 2019.
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As at 31 December 2019, our Group had pledged bank deposits
and bank and cash balances of approximately US$4.2 million, a
decrease of approximately US$15.4 million as compared to
approximately US$19.6 million as at 31 December 2018. Such
decrease was mainly due to the utilisation of net proceeds of
approximately US$14.2 million to acquire a secondhand
Capesize vessel in late 2019, resulting the reduction of bank and
cash balances during the year ended 31 December 2019. Our
pledged bank deposits are denominated in USD and most of
our bank and cash balances are denominated in USD.

Treasury Policies

The primary objective of our Group’s capital management is to
maintain its ability to continue as a going concern so that our
Group can constantly provide returns for shareholders of our
Company (the “Shareholders”) and benefits for other
stakeholders by securing access to financing at reasonable
costs. Our Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure and makes adjustment by taking into
consideration the changes in economic conditions, its future
capital requirements, prevailing and projected profitability and
operating cash flows, projected capital expenditures and
projected strategic investment opportunities.

INDEBTEDNESS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's indebtedness comprised
bank loans, loans from a related company, other loans and
lease liabilities (2018: finance lease payables) of approximately
US$32.3 million, US$11.7 million, US$8.7 million and US$56.9
million, respectively. Our bank loans are denominated in USD
and SGD, while our loans from a related company, other loans
and lease liabilities (2018: finance lease payables) are
denominated in USD. All bank loans, loans from a related
company, other loans and lease liabilities are arranged at
floating rates, thus exposing our Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. During the year ended 31 December 2019, our Group
used interest rate swaps in order to mitigate its exposure
associated with fluctuations relating to interest cash flows.

R2019F 12 8318 » AEEC EIFIET
FTRARBITRIASERNBI2EEE
JT 2018 12 A31HH196EEXTT
WA ABEETL - ZRLEERER
019FEEBAMERIBFEN142E88
ETWE-—E-_FERRY  BFEHE
2019F 12 A3 B IEFRRIT RN S48
WL e BN EBIPRITFHRAEITE
B MEMIRE D RITRIBS &R A
EITEHE °

MEBR

AEEEAEERNTEBRRERFEFE
B2 AEAKBRENFERART]
BOR (TR D IRE DR - A H s F 2548
AESRNGE  BRUAGEXNNESE
B AEERB R ERS REERLER
BB WER REEIRAEE - HRKE
AFR - RITRFEABNEN REERE
mE  BREART RBRRERERS
fEHAE -

B8

M2019F12A31H - AEEMNEIEBRE
RITENR RE—FK@HARZER  HE
tHhERLEEAEQ0I8FE  mEHEE
NRIB) D RIHRIBEET 11788
XL -87TEHEBEERLKSIBEET K
MIMIRITE AR RN TEHE - M
KE—REABARIZER - HthEHR KA
Ea8E018F - rEMEEHIE) A
EIUEHE - FTEIRITER » 2RE — K@
REIZER At ERRHAER EIRY
BRI R MASEHBRESREN
KRR - HZE2019F12A31HIEFE -
ANEERBAF R A LUR K ET B8 &R
EHEREERER -

EREXEEERAT /2019 FF1] 19



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEERWR D

The maturity of bank loans, loans from a related company, other
loans and lease liabilities (2018: finance lease payables) as at 31
December 2019 is as follows:

R2019F12A31H » RITER - KB7—
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I
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a related Other Lease
Bank loans company loans liabilities
RE—R
220 NG|
IRITER ZEX Hit &K HEEE
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FET FE7 FET FET
Within one year —F AR 7,379 11,736 8,716 11,635
More than one year, but not —% A BT HBA
exceeding two years R 7,379 = = 45,265
More than two years, but not M A H1ETEEBE
more than five years hF 17,559 - = =
32,317 11,736 8,716 56,900

Our bank loans were obtained for the sole purpose of
construction of our vessels, as at 31 December 2019, such bank
loans were secured by:

(i)  mortgage over our Group's vessels;

(i) corporate guarantees provided by our Company and
subsidiaries; and

(i) pledged bank deposits and restricted bank balances.

As at 31 December 2019, our lease liabilities of approximately
US$56.8 million were secured by:

(i)  charges over the Group's certain right-of-use assets;

(i) corporate guarantee provided by our Company and/or
subsidiaries;

(iii) restricted bank balances; and

(iv) shares of subsidiaries.

20 XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2019

HPIFTERARITERERNEERMIA
MifE - 201912 A31H - WERTE
FGRLA T A R
(i) AEBEMM A

(i) ANRBRHBRRHRHA R RER
&

(i) DEMRITHERARZRFIRITHE
ﬁ%o

R2019F12A31H  HFWEEEREYD
56.8 B&FTLA T A A B ¢

() AEBETEREEEZER:

iy ARER/HWEARREHD T
R

(iiiy ZERHFEITESR K

(iv) BRI -



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR D

The remaining lease liabilities of approximately US$0.1 million
was in relation to the office properties leases and no collateral
was secured.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISKS

Our Group has a certain exposure to foreign currency risk as
some of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of
respective Group entities such as SGD and Renminbi. Our
Group also has adopted a foreign exchange rate and interest
rate risk control policy to manage the foreign exchange risk and
interest rate risk. Our Group monitors the foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging transactions to
mitigate significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise. Our Group has foreign currency forward contracts to
hedge the foreign currency risk in respect of bank loans
denominated in SGD, but which were fully matured during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2019, the carrying amounts of pledged bank
deposits, bank balances restricted from being used and vessels
pledged as securities for our Group's bank loans amounted to
approximately US$1.4 million, US$1.2 million and US$66.9
million respectively. At 31 December 2019, the carrying amounts
of leased vessels and dry docking as right-of-use assets held by
our Group and bank balances restricted from being used under
leases arrangement amounted to approximately US$108.8
million and US$0.5 million, respectively.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2019, our Group did not have any material
capital commitment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2019, our Group did not have any significant

contingent liabilities.
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EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

We value our employees and recognise the importance of a
good relationship with our employees. We recruit our
employees based on their work experience, education
background and qualifications. To maintain and ensure the
quality of our employees, we provide our personnel formal and
on-the-job training to enhance their technical skills as well as
knowledge of industry quality standards and work place safety
standards. As at 31 December 2019, our Group had a total of 35
employees of which 30 were in the PRC, 2 were in Hong Kong
and 3 were in Singapore. The remuneration to our employees
includes salaries and allowances. Employees are remunerated
according to their qualifications, experiences, job nature,
performance and with reference to market conditions.

Our Group'’s total employee benefit expenses (including
directors’ emoluments) for the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2018 were approximately US$1.3 million and US$1.1 million,
respectively.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

Our Group had not held any significant investments during the
year ended 31 December 2019.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was no
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures by our Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@) After the COVID-19 outbreak in early 2020, a series of
precautionary and control measures have been and are
expected to be continuously implemented across the
globe. Our Group is paying close attention to the
development of, and the disruption to business and
economic activities caused by, the COVID-19 outbreak and
evaluates its impact on our financial position, cash flows
and operating results. Given the dynamic nature of the
COVID-19 outbreak, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of its impacts on our financial
position, cash flows and operating results at the date of
this annual report.
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(b)  On 9 March 2020, our Group entered into a supplementary
agreement with a related company for the extension of the
repayment term of the loan from November 2020 to
November 2021.

(¢)  On 12 March 2020, our Group entered into two finance
lease agreements of US$18 million in aggregate for the
additional working capital of our Group. The finance leases
are repayable in five years, bearing interest at 3-month
LIBOR plus 3.69% per annum and secured by the
followings:

(i) charge over two vessels of our Group;

(i) corporate guarantee provided by our Company and
one of our subsidiaries;

(iii) restricted bank balances; and
(iv)  100% of the shares of two subsidiaries.

Further on 23 March 2020, our Group received US$17.1
million from the financial institution.

Save as disclosed above, no significant events took place
subsequent to 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this
report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted the share option
scheme on 6 September 2018 and which became effective on
26 September 2018 (the “Listing Date”). Under the share option
scheme, the eligible participants of the scheme, including
Directors, full-time employees of and advisers and consultants
to our Company or our subsidiaries may be granted options
which entitle them to subscribe for Shares, when aggregated
with options granted under any other scheme, representing
initially not more than 10% of the Shares in issue on the Listing
Date. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the scheme will
remain in force for 10 years from that date. No share option had
ever been granted under the scheme since its adoption.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no definite future plan for material investments or
acquisition of material capital assets as at 31 December 2019.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

The net proceeds from the Global Offering, after deducting the
listing expenses, were approximately HK$123.2 million. An
analysis of the net proceeds up to 31 December 2019 is set out
below:

Proposed use of

EAREREFREENARRETE

HE2019F 128310 Y EAAEME
AIEERBEREAEEWERN AR KT

El
ERBEFFTIEAR

SIRBEMGSHIEFRE(FkR ETEBREZ)
BHI1232BEETT c B R 2019412 A 31
BEFTBFIBFEOWOT ¢

Proposed use of
proceeds as
disclosed in the

proceeds as “Change in Use
disclosed in of Proceeds”
the prospectus of announcement Utilised Un-utilised
the Company  of the Company up to up to
dated dated 17 July 31 December 31 December
11 September 2018 2019 2019 2019
ETAFEMA
KATBEA  2019%7R178
2018%9A118 MIEXFMBHE
WRRERFMRE RRIAEHAKE BZ2019F BZ2019F
WAERIEN NARBRER 12A31H 12A 318
BERZ wERZ EBA ABA
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEAT BEAT AEAT BEAT
Purchase of two new vessels (Note) BB B MAEETHEAA (H75L) 111 = = =
Purchase of one second-hand BE—E_THEBRM
Capesize vessel - 111 1.
General working capital —KeELe 12.1 12.1 12.1 -
1232 1232 1232 -

Note:  On 17 July 2019, the Company has decided to adjust the intended use
of proceeds from the Global Offering because of the uncertainties in
the global chartering business created by the Sino-US trade war and the
sanction against Iran and Venezuela. For further details, please refer to
the Company’s announcement “Change in Use of Proceeds” dated 17
July 2019.
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During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has
utilised the net proceeds of approximately US$14.2 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$111.1 million) to acquire a
secondhand Capesize vessel. Thus, the net proceeds from the
Global Offering were used according to the adjusted intended
use of proceeds as disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 17 July 2019.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Wang Faqing

Mr. Wang Faqing (X)), aged 56, is currently the
chairman of the board, legal representative and general
manager of China MingShang Commodity Exchange Center
Limited * (RE AR EmR 5 F AR AF]). Currently, he is also
a director of various subsidiaries of the Company, namely China
Union Sealand Group Limited, Z&L Blue Whale Shipping
Limited, Z&L White Shark Shipping Limited, Z&L Flying Fish
Shipping Limited, Z&L Dolphin Shipping Limited, Z&L Sea Lion
Shipping Limited and Z&L Seal Shipping Limited, all being
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Before
joining the Group, he was a vice president at Weimin
International Holdings Limited* (\(RREIFRIZEREEFR A 7))
from July 2017 to July 2019.

Mr. Wang obtained the certificate of Fujian Province
Administrative Law Enforcement Qualification* ({8324 1TEEL A
BI8FBE) issued by the Fujian Provincial People’s Government*
(fBEE ARBUF) in December 2005. He obtained the certificate
of Surveying and Mapping Intermediate Engineer* (Rl4&&+ A& T
#2AM) issued by the Fujian Provincial Personnel Department* (1@
#%E AEEE) in October 2005. He obtained the Registered
Qualification Certificate for Enterprise Legal Adviser of The
People’s Republic of China (F1# A R MBI {2 AR BRI E
B FEE) issued by the Fujian Provincial Personnel
Department* (18i2%& AEEE) in December 2004. He obtained
the certificate of Land Management Assistant Engineer* (T8
12 BHIE T #2AM) issued by the Fuzhou Municipal Personnel
Bureau* (/N AZER) in July 1992.

Mr. Wang passed the Self-Taught Higher Education

Examinations (8% # 5 B 2% ) and obtained a bachelor of
laws degree at Xiamen University (EFTAKZ) in December 1992.
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Xu Wenjun

Mr. Xu Wenjun (8303955 4), aged 64, is our executive Director
and the chief executive officer of our Group. Mr. Xu has been a
Director since 28 June 2016, being the date of incorporation of
our Company. Mr. Xu has participated in the management of
our Group since 1 February 2010 where he has been responsible
for corporate strategic planning, overseeing the overall
operations and business development and day-to-day business
management of our Group. Mr. Xu is a director of each member
of our Group other than Brilliant Star.

Mr. Xu has approximately thirteen years of relevant experience
in the shipping industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Xu
worked as the deputy general manager at Fuzhou Dongfang
Ltd. (fBMNRITSHBBEBEFRAF), a

company principally engaged in international shipping

Jinrong Shipping Co.,

management business, from November 2002 to June 2006,
where he was mainly responsible for international shipping
business. From May 2006 until now, Mr. Xu worked as the
general manager of Fujian Chuan Yuan, a company principally
engaged in investment, where he was mainly responsible for
making investment.

Mr. Xu served as the chief executive officer and general
manager of Jincheng Hengtong from January 2010 to
November 2017, where he was mainly responsible for
overseeing the overall operations.

Mr. Xu received the certificate of Adult Higher Education
majoring in economic management from Fujian Normal

University (f& 2280 & A 2Z2) in the PRC in September 2000.
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Ding Yuzhao

Mr. Ding Yuzhao (T E#&I5E4), aged 65, is our executive
Director. Mr. Ding has been a Director since 28 June 2016,
being the date of incorporation of our Company. Mr. Ding has
participated in the management of our Group since 1 February
2010 where he has been responsible for overseeing the overall
operations and business development of our Group.

Mr. Ding has approximately nine years of relevant experience in
the shipping industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ding
worked as a deputy manager at Ningde District Power Company
(ZE1E=Hb[RE /A F), a company principally engaged in providing
technical support and construction for power systems from
March 1990 to December 1991, where he was mainly
responsible for providing technical support for power
construction. From April 1994 to May 1997, Mr. Ding worked as
a director and general manager at Fujian Muyang Creek
Hydropower Development Co., Ltd. (f@i2& B EKERES
FR /A 7)), a company principally engaged in hydropower
construction, where he was mainly responsible for providing
technical support for hydropower station development and
construction. From May 1997 to August 2006, Mr. Ding served
as the general manager of Mindong Power Investment
Company Limited (B3R gEIRIZE BR A, which is principally
engaged the business of power investment, where he was
mainly responsible for overseeing investment in hydropower
station and fossil-fuel power station.
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From November 2003 to August 2006, Mr. Ding served as the
general manager of Ningde City State-owned Asset Investment
Company Limited (EEMEAEEREBR AR, a company
principally engaged in investment, where he was mainly
responsible for investment and operation of state-owned asset.
From August 2006 to March 2010, Mr. Ding served as the
chairman of Ningde City State-owned Properties Investment &
Management Co., Ltd. (BEEMEAEERELEHRRATF]) and
director of Ningde City State-owned Asset Supervision and
Management Committee (EEMBAEEEEEEHRZET),
both of which principally engaged the business of investment,
where he was mainly responsible for investment and operation
of state-owned asset. From July 2011 to September 2017, Mr.
Ding served as the general manager at Fujian Haodeyuan
Investment Co., Ltd (fBEZ2E TR EBRAT]), a company
principally engaged in investment, where he was mainly
responsible for investment in real estate business. From January
2016 until now, Mr. Ding served as the supervisor of Xiamen
Tangram Science and Technology Co., Ltd. (EF9E ARHZAR (D
B A7), a company principally engages in information
technology.

Mr. Ding received the Bachelor's degree from the electric
engineering school of the Wuhan Institute of Hydraulic and
Electric Engineering (BUZ/KFE J1EE7), currently known as
School of Electrical Engineering and Automation, Wu Han
University (BVE R 2% 5 8 B 2L 27) majoring in High-voltage
electricity technology and equipment in September 1982. Mr.
Ding was granted the qualification as a senior engineer in
hydropower by the Department of Personnel of Fujian Province
in July 1996.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Lai Guanrong

Dr. Lai Guanrong (RBER& 5L 4), aged 57, has been our
independent non-executive Director since 6 September 2018.

Dr. Lai has approximately seventeen years of experience in
finance industry. From November 2001 to May 2005, he served
as the president of Huafu Securities Company Limited (ZEfR &
D BBRAR]), currently known as Huafu Securities
Corporation Limited (@& HBREEAF]), a company
principally engaged in securities brokerage and trading where
he was mainly responsible for material decision making. From
December 2005 until now, Dr. Lai acted as the deputy general
manager, general manager and deputy chairman of Jiahe Life
Insurance Co., Ltd. (FARASRBERHDBER AR, currently
known as ABC Life Insurance Co., (BSRAZRBIRMDERAR),
a company principally engaged in insurance business, where he
was mainly responsible for material decision making. Dr. Lai has
also been serving as an independent non-executive director of
Chinasoft International Limited (Stock Exchange stock code:
00354), a company principally engaged in system applications
technology service business since June 2015.

Dr. Lai graduated from the School of Economics of Xiamen
University in July 1983 with a bachelor’s degree, majoring in
finance. He obtained a master’s degree in currency and banking
business from the PBC School of Finance of Tsinghua University
(formerly known as the Graduate School of the People’s Bank of
China) in June 1986. He obtained a doctor's degree majoring in
finance from the School of Economics of Xiamen University in
December 2001.
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Suen Chi Wai

Mr. Suen Chi Wai (AEE%A), aged 55, has been our
independent non-executive Director since 6 September 2018.
He is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a partner of
Withers. Mr. Suen has approximately eighteen years’ experience
in corporate finance and with area of practice principally in
initial public offerings on the Stock Exchange, mergers and
acquisitions, corporate reorganisations and Listing Rules
compliance.

Before joining Withers, Mr. Suen was an associate and later a
partner of DLA Piper Hong Kong from June 2007 to May 2012
and May 2012 to February 2018 respectively, and served as a
manager in the investment products department of the SFC
between October 2005 and July 2006, responsible for reviewing
applications of collective investment schemes and monitoring
continuing compliance of authorized schemes. Mr. Suen was an
assistant solicitor at Woo Kwan Lee & Lo from September 2000
to March 2005. Mr. Suen was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (Stock
Exchange stock code: 01073), a company principally engaged in
development and manufacturing of agricultural biochemical
products on 26 July 2019; and Venus Medtech (Hangzhou) Inc.
(Stock Exchange stock code: 02500), a company principally
engaged in transcatheter heart valve medical device business
on 8 July 2019 respectively.

Mr. Suen graduated from the University of East Anglia in July
1987 with a Bachelor of Science Degree and the Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws program in the University of Hong Kong in
June 1998. Mr. Suen was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong
in October 2000 and in England and Wales in December 2003.
Mr. Suen is also a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants since May 1998 and a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since April 1993.
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Xu Jie
Mr. Xu Jie (fREEST4), aged 65, has been our independent non-
executive Director since 6 September 2018.

Mr. Xu has accumulated over thirty-two years of experience in
the legal field. From June 1986 to July 1993, Mr. Xu was the
deputy president of the Maritime Commercial Tribunal of the
Shanghai Maritime Court (E/&88%%AFt) of the PRC. From
September 1993 to October 1994, Mr. Xu was a teacher at the
Shanghai Maritime College (_E/8/8:82Fx), currently known as
Shanghai Maritime University (L8 % KX2). From October
1994 to December 2000, Mr. Xu worked as a partner in Shanghai
Duan & Duan Law Firm ((E/8EBRFEREBMEIEAT). From January
2001 to May 2014, Mr. Xu served as the partner of Shanghai
Haoying Law Firm* (/@M &SRR ERFT). From May 2014 to
November 2016, Mr. Xu served as the senior partner of Co-

Effort Law Firm LLP (/8™ 15 11 2REN = 75FR).

Mr. Xu graduated from the Shanghai Maritime College (/&8
$BEPT), currently known as Shanghai Maritime University (/8
BEARZ) in January 1982 with a Bachelor's degree, majoring in
ocean shipping business, and obtained a Master’s degree
majoring in international economic law in January 1991. Mr. Xu
has also been an arbitrator at the China Maritime Arbitration
Commission (FBI/E E{HEHZE B ) since May 2017.
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Senior management

Mr. Chen Chengmei (BRE#BE L), aged 57, is the vice
president of our Company since 28 June 2016. Mr. Chen has
participated in the management of our Group since 1 February
2010 where he has been primarily responsible for supervising
tanker chartering business of our Group.

Mr. Chen has approximately nine years of relevant experience
in the shipping industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chen
served as the general manager at Fuzhou South Pipeline Gas
Technology Development Co., Ltd* (18 @ 75 & B #A R 5 iy 7 8
BBRAR]) from April 2002 to April 2004, a company principally
engaged in gas Technology Development pipeline provision,
where he was mainly responsible for overseeing the overall
operations of gas pipeline provision.

From May 2006 until April 2018, Mr. Chen served as the deputy
general manager at Fujian Chuan Yuan, a company principally
engaged in investment, where he was mainly responsible for
supervising overall operations.

Mr. Chen served as the deputy chief executive officer of
Jincheng Hengtong from January 2010 until November 2017,
where he was mainly responsible for supervening investment of
Jincheng Hengtong.
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Mr. Lin Shifeng (#kttt# 5% 4), aged 43, is the financial controller
of our Company since July 2016. Mr. Lin has participated in the
management of our Group since July 2016 where he has been
primarily responsible for overseeing the financial planning and
accounting management of our Group.

Mr. Lin has approximately nineteen years of relevant experience
in accounting and finance management, where he has spent
approximately sixteen years in the shipping industry. Prior to
joining our Group, Mr. Lin worked as an account supervisor at
Fujian Wanfeng Shoes Co., Ltd* (BE2EEEHXER AR, a
company principally engaged in sports products production,
from July 2000 to November 2003, where he was mainly
responsible for product cost accounting and difference analysis,
data statistics and financial statement preparation.

From November 2003 to January 2006, Mr. Lin worked as an
accountant at P&O NEDLLOYD (CHINA) Ltd. Fuzhou Branch (&
TEEFHBE)MEERAREIMND AT, a company principally
engaged in shipping business, where he was mainly responsible
for cost accounting and cost control.

From February 2006 to November 2007, Mr. Lin worked as an
assistant accountant and cost manager at Maersk Logistics
(China) Co., Ltd., a company principally engaged in container
shipping, where he was mainly responsible for registering and
controlling operational cost and assisting payment center to
arrange operational payment.

From November 2007 to January 2015, Mr. Lin served as a
financial supervisor at Dafei Shipping (China) Company Limited
Fuzhou Branch GER#mf(F E) AR A A& /M5 A7), a company
principally engaged in container transportation and, where he
was mainly responsible for account management and
accounting principal setting up.
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Biography of Directors and Senior Management

ESREREEERE

Mr. Lin served as the finance manager of Jincheng Hengtong
from March 2015 until April 2016 and as the financial controller
from July 2016 until November 2017, where he was mainly
responsible for accounting management.

From April 2016 to June 2016, Mr. Lin served as a finance
manager at Air Liquide (Fuzhou) Co., Ltd* (B{t =R (&M ER
‘A7A]), a company principally engaged in the supplying of
industrial gases and services, where he was mainly responsible

for accounting management and accounting principal setting
up.

Mr. Lin graduated from Changchun University of Science and
Technology (K&EE T AKE), formerly known as Changchun
Institute of Optics and Precision Instruments (K& Yt B E 25
Z7) and received a bachelor's degree in accounting in July
2000. Mr. Lin obtained the certificate for passing all the required
subjects of the professional stage of the national uniform CPA
Examination of P.R.China (Il @A 2Bl —Z A B XML E
A& FE) issued by the certified Public Accountant Examination
Committee of The Ministry of Finance, P.R.China (3 Bi&Bstfie
sHIZHAZEZ EE) in December 2018.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yim Lok Kwan (B&i&#9), was appointed as the company
secretary of our Company on 14 June 2018. Mr. Yim has over 7
years of experience in the corporate services field. Mr. Yim
currently serves as a manager of SWCS Corporate Services
Group (Hong Kong) Limited (“SWCS"), formerly known as SW
Corporate Services Group Limited, a professional services
provider specialising in corporate services. Mr. Yim was
nominated by SWCS to act as our company secretary pursuant

to an engagement letter entered into between our Company
and SWCS.

Mr. Yim graduated from Hong Kong Shue Yan University and
received a Bachelor’s Degree in accounting in July 2010. In
September 2016, Mr. Yim obtained a master’s degree in
corporate governance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Since December 2016, he has been both an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and the Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to upholding high standards of
corporate governance practices and business ethics in the firm
belief that they are crucial to improving the efficiency and
performance of the Group and to safeguarding the interests of
the shareholders. The Board reviews the Company’s corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to meet the
expectations of stakeholders and comply with increasingly
stringent regulatory requirements, and to fulfill its commitment
to excellence in corporate governance. Set out below are the
principles of corporate governance as adopted by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
as its own's corporate governance code of practices and
complied with all the code provisions set out in the CG Code
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors of any
non-compliance with the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2019, and they have all confirmed their full
compliance with the required standard as set out in the Model
Code.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the
best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required
from a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company,
and whether the Director is spending sufficient time in
performing them.

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of
skills and experience desirable for effective leadership of the
Company and independence in decision making.

Throughout the year, the Board comprises six Directors. As at
31 December 2019 and up to the date of this annual report,
there are three executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors of the Company. The composition of the
Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Faging (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Wenjun (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ding Yuzhao

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lai Guanrong

Mr. Suen Chi Wai

Mr. Xu Jie

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the
section headed "Biography of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company from time to
time pursuant to the Listing Rules. The independent non-
executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate
communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors do not have any other
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with one another.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company have been separated as required by code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code. For the year ended 31 December 2019,
Mr. Wang Faging has served as the chairman of Company and
Mr. Xu Wenjun has served as the chief executive officer of the
Company.

The chairman provides leadership and governance for the
Board so as to create the conditions for the effective
performance of the Board as a whole and effective contribution
by individual Director and to ensure that the Board performs its
responsibilities and all key and appropriate issues are discussed
by the Board in a timely manner. The chief executive officer has
the delegated power to manage the Company and to oversee
the activities of the Company on a day-to-day basis.

The division of responsibilities between the chairman and the
chief executive officer is defined and established in writing.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records
During the reporting period, the Company convened one
annual general meeting and seven Board meetings.

The attendance of the above meetings by each Director is as
follows:

FERTHEAR
AARERFETHREZNABCEREBRE
EVRTRISTRIEX EA21EHTE T A
B BHE2019F12A3MHIEEE - £
FEREERARNTNER - MEXH AR
NAMITRRE -

TEHNBENATEAMNERESTS  UE
HEEEERAMNRRAMERNESIEL
ERERFIBHIRE  YHRRESSET
EEBENEEERRIWAEER RN
EOME - TRAHCEERENEEAR
NEINEEARFNEEREEH -

TEETHASNBERERD - WAL
[P VA

EEEoRRESHERTE
RAREHE - KRR BR—RERBF
Rg REFSRETLREZTEEE -

REZHF LASZNBEREINWT

Number of meetings attended/
held during the Director’s
term of office
ESNEHRHE STERRE

Annual general

Board meeting meeting
Name of Directors EEpgE Exeed BRRBFKE
Mr. Wang Faqging (Chairman) (Note 1) TRBEAEEE)(HIFET) 3/3 N/A 3 F
Mr. Ding Xiaoli (Note 2) T HZ & (fiEE2) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Xu Wenjun (Chief Executive Officer) 1R X554 (7T ARE) 7/7 11
Mr. Ding Yuzhao TE8IEAE 7/7 1/1
Mr. Lai Guanrong FEERER ST 7/7 1/1
Mr. Suen Chi Wai BREREE 717 1/1
Mr. Xu Jie wmELE 6/7 11
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Notes:

1. Mr. Wang Faging was appointed as an executive Director on 30 August
2019.

2. Mr. Ding Xiaoli resigned as the Chairman of the Board and an executive

Director on 30 August 2019.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without
the presence of other Directors during the reporting period.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the reporting period, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive Directors representing
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of
his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company is of the view that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the
independence requirement set out in the Listing Rules.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the Directors is engaged on a service contract (in the
case of the executive Directors) or a letter of appointment (in
the case of independent non-executive Directors) for a specific
term of three years.

The Articles of Association provides that all Directors appointed
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall be
subject to election by shareholders at the next following general
meeting of the Company.

Every Director (including those appointed for a specific term)
shall also be subject to retirement and re-election by rotation at
least once every three years at the annual general meetings of
the Company under the Articles of Association of the Company.
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Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down
strategies and overseeing their implementation, monitors the
Group's operational and financial performance, and ensures
that sound internal control and risk management systems are in
place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing
effective independent judgment on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of
the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company's expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation
and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that they remain informed and relevant for their
contribution to the Board.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors
would be arranged and reading material on relevant topics
would be provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company'’s expenses.

During the reporting period, all Directors had complied with the
code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code through attending training
courses or reading materials relevant to the duties of Directors.

The table below summarises the participation of each of the
Directors in continuous professional development during the
reporting period:

EENFAERER
i%f‘ﬂ%ﬂﬂ& CEERNMESNRIE

CUBRETERE - URREEET
Hﬁ’ﬁﬁiﬁﬂ&kﬂéﬁﬁ%ﬁ%E’U'I%%T%’ﬁ%%
SELER -

EERSHESNETELE  BRY
5B H R K R RE o 7&“?%2%%%%3&
N ERNERE  WESBEBR TRE
ERHEAEEMHBEME - NAFEE
EPRESHFHEBSIIRE  BRHAAR
AJEYE o

RBEHE 2REFCEBLFEES
BB R 2B IRIE S BIE AR I T8
ST EEIE ST RIZ TR A 6515 ©

T%TE%LX§$EA¥&¢HHF‘§%E@F¢ ES
BRABER

Reading Legal
and Regulatory
Updates and
other Reference

Materials
BY iR B AT
SEBI R AR BI R
Name of Director EEER HinzZ&HR
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Wang Faging (Note 1) FIREFAE (FisE1) v
Mr. Ding Xiaoli (Note 2) TH A (BsE2) vV
Mr. Xu Wenjun wXHRE v
Mr. Ding Yuzhao TEelxsE v
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Lai Guanrong FEERER S v
Mr. Suen Chi Wai REREE v
Mr. Xu Jie kL v
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Notes:

1. Mr. Wang Faging was appointed as an executive Director on 30 August
2019.

2. Mr. Ding Xiaoli resigned as the Chairman of the Board and an executive

Director on 30 August 2019.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee are posted on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders
upon request.

The majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee are independent
non-executive Directors.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able
to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Lai Guanrong, Mr. Suen Chi
Wai and Mr. Xu Jie, Mr. Suen Chi Wai, being the chairman of
the committee, is appropriately qualified as required under
Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The main
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process, risk management and internal
controls system of the Group, assist the Board to fulfill its
responsibility over the audit, and review and approve connected
transactions and to advise the Board.
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The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing the
functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. These
include developing and reviewing the Company'’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board; reviewing and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of directors
and senior management of the Company; reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; developing, reviewing
and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if
any) applicable to employees and directors of the Company;
and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
from time to time adopted by the Company and the disclosure
in the corporate governance report to be contained in the
Company'’s annual report.

During the reporting period, three Audit Committee meetings
were held. It had reviewed and discussed the interim and annual
financial statements, the interim report, annual results
announcement and report, the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and the effectiveness of the
internal control of the Group and recommended the re-
appointment of auditor to the Board.

The attendance records of the members of the Audit
Committee are as follows:

EZZBEeNAABRTERERTRIE
D31 RST AR PRSI BAE - BB

FIE R ARANCEERABRES
R WMEFSREER B RESAK
NEEENEREEABNEIIRFBESE
XEE R RE %‘—ZZIK“ﬂEL#i:@-&
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2‘% PRRE  FEEREATRHE A

KBRS RARIEPIARAREH
MBIV B R - It BT AEAZ BUAD
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Attendance/

Number of

Meeting(s)

Name of Members of the Audit Committee BZZEEEHKENUE HER S35 8
Mr. Suen Chi Wa (Chairman) BEBEE(EE) 3/3
Mr. Lai Guanrong FEERER ST 3/3
Mr. Xu Jie ®wmELE 3/3

The Company's annual results for the year ended 31 December
2019 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the
Listing Rules and the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Xu Jie and Mr. Suen Chi
Wai, the independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Xu
Wenjun, the chief executive officer and executive Director. Mr.
Xu Jie is the chairman of the committee. The majority of the
Remuneration Committee members are independent non-
executive Directors.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of
no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
main duties of the Remuneration Committee are to review and
make recommendations to the Board regarding the terms of
remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation
payable to our Directors and senior management.

During the reporting period, two meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held. It had reviewed the Company's
remuneration policy and restructure and the remuneration
package for Directors and senior management. The attendance
records of the members of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

FMEEE

RARIEER EMBRAEIDBGELEE
BRI HME B e kT HEMBE
BE - FHEEeh =K E4EK - BB
SNIEITE BRI SE RREB R EET
BBRERANTESHRITEEN - 57
EERTZESEE - FHEESARZK
BABNIERITES o

FZEenBREENEREEXERT
RIS BESRE - IR BT ER
BERENIRENEERSREEBNF
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&  HEEHARREHEEREHAEE
BOFHMBOR MRE  URFMTE - &
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Attendance/

Number of

Meeting(s)

Name of Members of the Remuneration Committee HEZESS/REHU B HER S35 H
Mr. Xu Jie (Chairman) BRESE(EE) 172
Mr. Xu Wenjun R EE 2/2
Mr. Suen Chi Wai BRERLE 2/2
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Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
remuneration of the senior management (other than Directors)
by bands for the year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:

BRIBEEERTRIEBASESFRIE -
HZE2019F12A31BIEFE  BHEMNE
LEBHEREREAB (ESBHRIN BFH
E NN

Number of

employee(s)

(Note)

Remuneration bands Mg E EE A& (FicE)

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 2% 1,000,000 & JT 4
Note: Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 14 to the s BEHMOEBERNAERGSSVERENW

consolidated financial statements in this annual report. 14 0
Nomination Committee BEEZEZES

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Wang Faging, the chairman and executive Director, Mr.
Suen Chi Wai and Mr. Xu Jie, the independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Wang Faging is the chairman of the committee.
The majority of the Nomination Committee members are
independent non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
main duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to our Board regarding the appointment of
Directors and Board succession.
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”). A summary of the Board Diversity Policy is set

out below:

Purpose:

Board Diversity
Policy
statement:

Measurable
Objectives:

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the
approach to achieve diversity in the Company's
Board.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity
at the Board level as an essential element in
supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development. In designing the
Board's composition, the Nomination committee has
primary responsibility for identifying suitably qualified
candidates to become members of the Board and all
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board. All appointments are based
on the principle of merit-based appointment and
comprehensive consideration of objective conditions,
so as to select leading talents with both ability and
virtue.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.
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The Nomination Committee has adopted a nomination policy
("Nomination Policy”) which sets out a set of nomination
procedures and selection criteria for directors. The Nomination
Committee shall evaluate and select candidates based on the
criteria by reference to character and integrity, business
experience relevant and beneficial to the Company,
qualifications including professional qualifications, skills and
knowledge that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy, willingness to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of the Board and other significant
commitments, present needs of the Board for particular
expertise, skills or experience and whether the candidates
would satisfy those needs, requirement for the Board to have
independent directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and
whether the candidates for independent directors would be
considered independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules and the Board Diversity
Policy and any measurable objectives adopted by the
Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the Board.

During the reporting period, two meetings of the Nomination
Committee were held. It had reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board, assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, made recommendations
to the Board on the re-appointment of Directors and reviewed
and made recommendations to the Board on the Nomination
Policy. The attendance records of the members of the
Nomination Committee are as follows:
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Number of

Meeting(s)

Name of Members of the Nomination Committee EEZZEESRENUH HER S35 E
Mr. Wang Faqging (Chairman) FERBERE(FE) 2/2
Mr. Suen Chi Wai FEELEE 2/2
Mr. Xu Jie wERE 2/2
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

We evaluate and monitor key risks within our business as
follows:

e Credit Risk. We select customers with good credit records
and preferably larger companies with long established
records. For further details, please refer to the section
headed “"Business — Sales and Marketing” in the
Prospectus.

e Environmental Risk. We maintain a newer fleet of vessels
with an average age of less than three years old, with
regular inspections of equipment carried out and we rely
on experienced and professional ship management
companies to minimise the probability of environmental
pollution. For further details, please refer to the section
headed "Business — Suppliers — Ship Management
Companies” in the Prospectus.

e Market Risk. We are exposed to various types of market
risks, including changes in foreign exchange rate, interest
rate and fluctuations of any component of our operating
costs during the normal course of business.

For further details regarding our exposure to market risks,
please refer to the sections headed “Risk Factors — Risks
Relating to Our Business” and “Financial Information —
Principal Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations” in
the Prospectus.

e  Political Risk. As maritime safety will be affected by political
unrest, our marine department will closely monitor the
maritime safety of the route of our vessels to minimize the
impact of local conflicts or other political unrest.

During the reporting period, the Group has, in connection with
the listing process, engaged an independent internal control
consultant to a review of the effectiveness of the internal control
system of the Group covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance as well as risk
management. The Board considers that the Group's risk
management and internal control are adequate and effective.
The Group does not have an internal audit function and will
engage an external party to review risk management and
internal control systems annually.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2019.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report”
of this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend distribution ratio shall be determined by the
Board from time to time. The declaration and payment of
dividends shall be determined by the Board, which is also in the
best interests of the Group and shareholders of the Company.
In addition, the final dividend for any financial year is subject to
shareholders’ approval. The remaining net profit will be used
for the operation and development of the Group. When
determining whether to propose dividends and determining the
amount of dividends, the Board should consider, among other
things, the following factors:

(A) current and future business, actual and expected financial
results of the Company;

(B) any development plan of the Company;
(C) liquidity position, working capital and capital expenditure
requirements and future expected capital requirements of

the Group;

(D) the debt-to-equity ratio, return-on-equity ratio and the
level of the relevant financial contracts of the Group;

(E) any restrictions on the payment of dividends may be
imposed by the lenders of the Group or other third parties;
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(F) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group
and each member of the Group;

(G) general economic conditions, the business cycle of the
Group's business as well as other internal and external
factors that may affect the Company or financial results
and position; and

(H) any other factors that the Board considers appropriate and
relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends are subject to any
restrictions under the Cayman Islands Company Law, any
applicable laws, rules and regulations, including the Listing
Rules of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Articles of
Association.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the external
auditors of the Company in respect of audit services and non-
audit services for the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out
below:
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Fees Paid/

Payable

Service Category PR 7% %8 Bl e ENER

HKD'000

BT T

Audit Services EAZ RS 1,030

Non-audit Services IEERZRTS 451

TOTAL Hst 1,481
COMPANY SECRETARY NEME

The Company has engaged SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited, external service provider, and Mr. Yim Lok
Kwan has been appointed as the Company’s company
secretary. Its primary contact person at the Company is Mr. Lin
Shifeng, the financial controller of the Company.

The company secretary attended sufficient professional training

as required under the Listing Rules for the year ended 31
December 2019 to update their skills and knowledge.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, extraordinary general meetings shall also be
convened on the written requisition of one or more members
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist(s), provided that such requisitionist(s) held as at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the
Cayman lIslands Companies Law for shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to
move a resolution may request the Company to convene a
general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in
the preceding paragraph. As regards proposing a person for
election as a director of the Company, please refer to the
"Procedures for a Shareholder to Propose a Person for Election
as a Director” of the Company which is posted on the
Company's website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries.
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Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests to the Board
as mentioned above via the following channels:

Address Room 4309-11A, 43rd Floor, Shenglong Financial
Centre. No. 1 South Guangming Road, Taijiang,
Fuzhou, China

Email angelazhu@xysgroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group's business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the
annual general meeting, directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) are available to meet shareholders and answer
their enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at www.xysgroup.com as a
communication platform with shareholders of the Company and
investors, where the financial information and other relevant
information of the Company are available for public access.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the reporting period, there is no change in the
Company'’s constitutional documents
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Report of the Directors
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to
present their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in provision of asphalt tanker chartering
services and bulk carrier chartering services, and trading of
asphalt. The principal activities of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set forth in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 31
December 2019 by operating segments is set out in note 10 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 is set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
and the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019
are set forth in the consolidated financial statements on pages
128 to 131 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2019, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company'’s listed securities.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets during the year ended 31 December 2019
are set out in notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.
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SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the shares issued in the year ended 31 December
2019 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the identity of the shareholders
of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (“AGM") of the Company to be held
on Friday, 19 June 2020, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 16 June 2020 to Friday,
19 June 2020, both days inclusive, during the period no transfer
of shares will be registered. All transfers accompanied by the
relevant certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
transfer office and share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's
Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m
on Monday, 15 June 2020.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2019,

calculated in accordance with the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands,
amounted to US$69.7 million (2018: US$69.7 million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s articles of association (the “Articles of
Association”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out on pages 7 to 8 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wang Faging (Chairman) (appointed on 30 August 2019)

Mr. Xu Wenjun (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ding Yuzhao
Mr. Ding Xiaoli (resigned on 30 August 2019)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (The “INEDS"):
Mr. Lai Guanrong

Mr. Suen Chi Wai

Mr. Xu Jie

The Company has received written confirmations of
independence from each of the INEDs, namely Mr. Lai
Guanrong, Mr. Suen Chi Wai and Mr. Xu Jie, pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, the
Company still considers the INEDs to be independent.

Retirement and re-election of Directors

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of Association, at
each AGM, one third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of
Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to
but not less than one third shall be the number of retiring
Directors. The Directors to retire in each year shall be those who
have been in office longest since their last re-election or
appointment but, as between persons who became or were last
re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall
(unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined
by lot. Accordingly, Mr. Lai Guanrong and Mr. Xu Jie shall retire
by rotation. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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According to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the first general meeting of the Company
after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to
the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election. Any Director appointed under this
Article shall not be taken into account in determining the
Directors or the number of Directors who are to retire by
rotation at an AGM. Accordingly, Mr. Wang Faging, being a
Director appointed by the Board on 30 August 2019, shall retire
from office and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election
at the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors, has entered into a service contract or an appointment
letter with the Company for a term of three years. All of them
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
AGM in accordance with the Articles of Association. Their
emoluments were determined by the Board by reference to
their experience, responsibilities and duties with the Company
and shall be reviewed annually by the Remuneration
Committee. The details of the remuneration of each of the
Directors are revealed on note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company,
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY'S BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this report, no other transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance to which the
Company's subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 26 to 35 of this annual report.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Suen was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange
stock code: 01073), a company principally engaged in
development and manufacturing of agricultural biochemical
products on 26 July 2019; and Venus Medtech (Hangzhou) Inc.
(Stock Exchange stock code: 02500), a company principally
engaged in transcatheter heart valve medical device business
on 8 July 2019 respectively. There was no other change to any
information required to be disclosed in relation to any Director
pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was established for reviewing the
Group's emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of
the Directors and senior management of the Group having
regard to the Group's operating results, individual performance
and comparable market standard and practices. The Company
has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to the
Directors and eligible employees, details of which are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme" below.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES
OF OUR COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2019, the interests or short positions of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (“SFO") which will be required (a) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (b) to be entered into the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, or (c) as otherwise to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, are set out as
follows:
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(@) Our Company (@) AAF]

Approximate

percentage of

Number of shareholding in

Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held™ our Company

)Nz NNET I ]

EENA EEME FrERoEE ™ 149 BR RE L 51

Mr. Xu Wenjun®? Interest of controlled corporation 63,131,725 Shares (L) 15.78%

w3 reER R AER S 63,131,725 &% (L) 15.78%

Mr. Ding Yuzhao® Interest of controlled corporation 71,445,740 Shares (L) 17.86%

TEsEAE R AER S 71,445,740 B B& 5 (L) 17.86%

Notes: Mtz -

(1) The letter “L" denotes our Directors’ long position in the Shares. (1) FEILRRESABROPFENGE -
(20 Our Company is held as to approximately 15.78% by Centennial () &2 75 5 # Centennial Best Limited

Best Limited ("Centennial Best"), approximately 0.14% by Golden
Boomer Limited (“Golden Boomer"), and approximately 2.08% by
Gigantic Path Limited (“"Gigantic Path”). Centennial Best is held as
to approximately 43%, 42% and 15% by Golden Boomer, Perfect
Bliss Limited (“Perfect Bliss”) and Gigantic Path, which are in turn
wholly owned by Mr. Ding Xiaoli, Mr. Xu Wenjun and Mr. Ding
Yuzhao, respectively.
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(b) Associated corporations

(b) EESEHE

Nature of Approximate
associated Number of percentage of
Name of Director corporation Nature of interest shares held shareholding
BB EREESE  MEME FEROHE  BORALD
Mr. Ding Xiaoli® Centennial Best Interest of controlled 4,300 shares (L) 43%
corporation
THYRE® Centennial Best SEEERNER 4,300 B9 (L) 43%
Mr. Xu Wenjun Centennial Best Interest of controlled 4,200 shares (L) 42%
corporation
B EE Centennial Best S EERNER 4,200 BAR 5 (L) 42%
Mr. Ding Yuzhao Centennial Best Interest of controlled 1,500 shares (L) 15%
corporation
TES%AE Centennial Best T AR 1,500 B A&7 (L) 15%
Note: BIsE -
(1) The letter “L" denotes a person’s long position in the shares. N FEILAKRARDFFENGTE -
(2)  Mr. Ding Xiaoli resigned as an executive Director and the Chairman @ THMEAER20195F8 A30H B EH

of the Board on 30 August 2019. Please refer to the Company's
announcements published on 30 August 2019 and 9 September
2019 respectively for more details.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions in which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be maintained pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
year ended 31 December 2019 was the Company or its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the Directors or their spouses or children under the
age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the share
capital or debt securities of the Company or any other body
corporate, or had exercised any such right.

TEEREEETF - GHESHE
FLHEARF D RIRN2019F8A30H
%2019 9 A9 RFI# 2z A o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, so far as our Directors are aware, the
persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the
Company) who will have or be deemed or taken to have
interests and/or short positions in the Shares or the underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of
Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who were recorded in
the register of the Company required to be kept pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly
interested in 5% or more of the Company's issued share capital

i%ﬂ’izﬁ"ﬂiﬁ)}*ﬁﬁaﬂﬁﬁqﬂ HY#E
/ﬂ

R2019F 128318 BESFHA - AT
AT (BEERARRESITHRABRIN &
RS BB E VER IR () AR B RR (D
%ﬁm;*"#ﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬂwﬁu%xv%%z&
’hBE*_)ﬂ;kX/,\%?&EgH@T%E\ ST
B HEARRAIREBES KEERGE
BIEEFE ZERM - kEZKEER
NARIEEEITIRAS% S IA E AR -

will be as follows:

Percentage of

Capacity/ Number of  shareholding in
Shareholders Nature of interest Shares held® our Company
B M REQT
IR R B EntE RGeOEBE® BRES
Centennial Best Beneficial owner 63,131,725 Shares (L) 15.78%
Centennial Best EREBA 63,131,725 & A& 1% (L) 15.78%
Golden Boomer®@ Beneficial owner 554,260 Shares (L) 0.14%
Golden Boomer? EnEAA 554,260 AR 7 (L) 0.14%
Interest of controlled 63,131,725 Shares (L) 15.78%
corporation
SpnEE RS 63,131,725 BA% 15 (1) 15.78%
Mr. Ding Xiaoli Interest of controlled 63,685,985 Shares (L) 15.92%
(alias Mr. Ding Xiaoming)®@ corporation
XEEENE R 63,685,985 A {n (L) 15.92%
THYEE Interest of spouse 9,093,000 Shares (L) 2.27%
(XWBT Zsk5e4)0 [ 9,093,000 AR 15 (L) 2.27%
Ms. Chen Qinhui® Beneficial owner 9,093,000 Shares (L) 2.27%
REE RO EnEAA 9,093,000 AR 15 (L) 2.27%
Interest of spouse 63,685,985 Shares (L) 15.92%
[NEYFa 63,685,985 Rx %17 (L) 15.92%
Perfect Bliss® Interest of controlled 63,131,725 Shares (L) 15.78%
corporation
Perfect Bliss® R EE R 63,131,725 i iz 17 (L) 15.78%
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Percentage of

Capacity/ Number of  shareholding in
Shareholders Nature of interest Shares held™ our Company
FEEN RAAF
=R B REEHE RGHOEE® BERESL
Ms. Zhu Zhen® Interest of spouse 63,131,725 Shares (L) 15.78%
Ky #Z+0 [T 63,131,725 BB 1% (L) 15.78%
Gigantic Path® Beneficial owner 8,314,015 Shares (L) 2.08%
Gigantic Path® EnBEAA 8,314,015 &A% 1% (L) 2.08%
Interest of controlled 63,131,725 Shares (L) 15.78%
corporation
Ry AR 63,131,725 Bz (L) 15.78%
Ms. Huang Cui?” Interest of spouse 71,445,740 Shares (L) 17.86%
HEZLO foiB s 71,445,740 B RE 1% (L) 17.86%
Bilsea International Pte. Ltd Beneficial owner 27,000,000 Shares (L) 6.75%
(“Bilsea International”)®
Bilsea International Pte. Ltd EnEA A 27,000,000 A& &7 (L) 6.75%
([ Bilsea International |)®
Ms. Liu Weipeng® Interest of controlled 27,000,000 Shares (L) 6.75%
corporation and
interest of spouse
Liu Weipeng Z 1 ® R AR R KBRS 27,000,000 &A% 15 (L) 6.75%
Mr. Yan Xiankai® Interest of controlled 27,000,000 Shares (L) 6.75%
corporation and
interest of spouse
Yan Xiankai #£4 @ LB R EER 27,000,000 A&7 (L) 6.75%
HJ Technology Co., Limited® Beneficial owner 36,000,000 Shares (L) 9.00%
HJ Technology Co., Limited? EnlEE A 36,000,000 B 17 (L) 9.00%
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Percentage of

Capacity/ Number of  shareholding in
Shareholders Nature of interest Shares held™ our Company
FEEW RALQFE
R=R B REmHE BoEE® BRBEDH
Mr. Wu Kai® Interest of controlled 36,000,000 Shares (L) 9.00%
corporation
R\ FEO L E s 36,000,000 &A% 15 (L) 9.00%
Ms. Pang Min® Interest of spouse 36,000,000 Shares (L) 9.00%
EESzz L Ao B s 36,000,000 &A% 15 (L) 9.00%
Well Grace Trading Co., Limited™  Beneficial owner 49,000,000 Shares (L) 12.25%
Well Grace Trading Co., Limited® Ezm#A A 49,000,000 i i 15 (L) 12.25%
Mr. Lin Kaigquan Interest of controlled 49,000,000 Shares (L) 12.25%
corporation
MFR L0 ZEEE R 49,000,000 %A% 153 (L) 12.25%
Ms. Yang Lihuat? Interest of spouse 49,000,000 Shares (L) 12.25%
BEER L B m 49,000,000 &A% 15 (L) 12.25%
Fortune Harvest Materials" Beneficial owner 116,000,000 Shares (L) 29.00%
Hongkong Limited
BERNEMEBRBRERAR ExnlEBA 116,000,000 A% A& 1% (L) 29.00%
Mr. Chen Ming Hua" Interest of controlled 116,000,000 Shares (L) 29.00%
corporation
PR B2 55 A4 01 R EEER 116,000,000 A% A 1% (L) 29.00%
Ms. Huang Hanyu Interest of spouse 116,000,000 Shares (L) 29.00%
mEP L0 R 116,000,000 A% A&7 (L) 29.00%
Notes: B5E
1. The letter “L" denotes a person'’s long position (as defined under Part XV 1. FR (LI EREARARRMDETFEN [FE ] (F&
of the SFO) in our Shares. REBEHNHIEERGIZEXVEL) °
2. Centennial Best is owned as to 43% by Golden Boomer, which is in turn 2. Centennial BestH Golden Boomer#% &
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wholly owned by Mr. Ding Xiaoli. As such, each of Golden Boomer and
Mr. Ding Xiaoli is deemed to be interested in the 63,131,725 Shares held
by Centennial Best, and Mr. Ding Xiaoli is deemed to be interested in the
554,260 Shares held by Golden Boomer pursuant to the SFO. Mr. Ding
Xiaoli is the spouse of Ms. Chen Qinhui. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Ding
Xiaoli is deemed to be interested in 9,093,000 Shares held by Ms. Chen
Qinhui.
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Ms. Chen Qinhui has interested in 9,093,000 Shares and as the spouse of
Mr. Ding Xiaoli. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Chen is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Mr. Ding Xiaoli.

Centennial Best is owned as to 42% by Perfect Bliss, which is in turn
wholly owned by Mr. Xu Wenjun. As such, each of Perfect Bliss and Mr.
Xu Wenjun is deemed to be interested in the 63,131,725 Shares held by
Centennial Best pursuant to the SFO.

Ms. Zhu Zhen is the spouse of Mr. Xu Wenjun. By virtue of the SFO, Ms.
Zhu is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Mr. Xu Wenjun.

Centennial Best is owned by Golden Boomer, Perfect Bliss and Gigantic
Path as to 43%, 42% and 15%, which are in turn wholly owned by Mr. Ding
Xiaoli, Mr. Xu Wenjun and Mr. Ding Yuzhao, respectively. As the
Concerted Group, Mr. Ding Xiaoli, Mr. Xu Wenjun and Mr. Ding Yuzhao
restrict their ability to exercise direct control over our Company by
holding their interests through Centennial Best, a common investment
holding company, and as a result Mr. Ding Xiaoli, Mr. Xu Wenjun and Mr.
Ding Yuzhao ceased to be a group of controlling shareholders on 4
November 2019, as disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 28
October 2019. As such, each of Gigantic Path and Mr. Ding Yuzhao is
deemed to be interested in the 63,131,725 Shares held by Centennial
Best, and Mr. Ding Yuzhao is deemed to be interested in the 8,314,015
Shares held by Gigantic Path pursuant to the SFO.

Ms. Huang Cui is the spouse of Mr. Ding Yuzhao. By virtue of the SFO,
Ms. Huang is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Mr. Ding
Yuzhao.

Bilsea International is owned as to 65% and 35% by Ms. Liu Weipeng and
Mr. Yan Xiankai, respectively. By virtue of the SFO, each of Ms. Liu and
Mr. Yan is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Bilsea
International. Ms. Liu Weipeng is the spouse of Mr. Yan Xiankai.

HJ Technology Co., Limited is owned as to 100% by Mr. Wu Kai. By virtue
of the SFO, each of Mr. Wu Kai is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by HJ Technology Co., Limited. Ms. Pang Min is the spouse of Mr.
Wu Kai.

Well Grace Trading Co., Limited is owned as to 100% by Mr. Lin Kaiquan.
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Lin Kaiquan is deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by Well Grace Trading Co., Limited. Ms. Yang Lihua is the
spouse of Mr. Lin Kaiquan.

10.
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1. Fortune Harvest Materials Hongkong Limited is owned as to 100% by Mr.
Chen Ming Hua. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chen Ming Hua is deemed to
be interested in the Shares held by Fortune Harvest Materials Hongkong
Limited. Ms. Huang Hanyu is the spouse of Mr. Chen Ming Hua.

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors are not aware of any
person who has, as at the date of this report (without taking into
account any options which may be granted under the share
option scheme), an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares, which would be required to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or, directly or indirectly,
be interested in 5% of the issued voting shares of any other
member of the Group.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Our Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme
on 6 September 2018 which became effective on 26 September
2018 (the “Share Option Scheme”). Under the Share Option
Scheme, the eligible participants of the scheme may be granted
options which entitle them to subscribe for Shares, when
aggregated with options granted under any other scheme,
representing initially not more than 10% of the Shares in issue
on the Listing Date.

As at 31 December 2019 and to the date of this report, no

option had been granted or to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme.
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The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share

Option Scheme.

(a)

(b)

Purpose

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and
is established to recognise and acknowledge the
contributions the Eligible Participants (as defined in
paragraph (b) below) have had or may have made to our
Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in our
Company with the view to achieving the following
objectives:

(i)  motivating the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of our Group;

and

(i) attracting and retaining or otherwise maintaining on-
going business relationships with the Eligible
Participants whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the long-term growth of our Group.

Who may join

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to
subscribe for such number of new Shares as the Board may
determine at an exercise price determined in accordance
with paragraph (f) below to the following persons (“Eligible
Participants”):

() any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(i) any Directors (including INEDs) of our Company or
any of its subsidiaries;

(iii) any advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers and

agents to our Company or any of its subsidiaries; and

AT BB S E R IHFROMR -

(a)

(b)

E:y)

BREFIRLEN AR LK
FEBRZ2EES(EER TXbER)
HASEDEELHAEDHFELZ
AR - BREEKAAERSHE
ERUE-EARERREEEAER
ZHE DUER TR -

() HEBEERZSEE/AEEZ
MEiRRERBARE K

() WBI REBEESDHEYA
EEY REERAFT AER
SRERAZEAERBEE
RIS > 2TERIE -

ASERAL
EESUMBEREAUNTALTSE
ERSHRE|)ROBRE  URT
XNBRBEZTEERBEESTSA
REEETE < MR B E #TAXD -

() AARRECMEERT 2
A2MREBIES - HITAR
HEHAE

(i) ANABHEEAMHERR 2 E
MEF(BEBILIFNTES)

RNRABSHEEMHBRATZE
Al AR WAL - HER -
EEFERE : &

(iii)
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(iv) such other persons who, in the sole opinion of the
Board, will contribute or have contributed to our
Group, the assessment criteria of which are:

(@a) contribution to the development and
performance of our Group;

(bb) quality of work performed for our Group;

(cc) initiative and commitment in performing his
duties; and

(dd) length of service or contribution to our Group.

(c) Acceptance of an offer of options

66

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and
accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when the
duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of the
options duly signed by the grantee, together with a
remittance in favour of our Company of HK$1.00 by way of
consideration for the grant thereof, is received by our
Company on or before the relevant acceptance date. Such
payment shall in no circumstances be refundable. Any offer
for grant of an option to subscribe for Shares may be
accepted in respect of less than the number of Shares for
which it is offered provided that it is accepted in respect of a
board lot for dealing in Shares on the Stock Exchange or an
integral multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in
the duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of the
option. To the extent that the offer to grant an option is not
accepted by any prescribed acceptance date, it shall be
deemed to have been irrevocably declined.

Subject to paragraphs (l), (m), (n), (o) and (p), an option shall
be exercised in whole or in part and, other than where it is
exercised to the full extent outstanding, shall be exercised in
integral multiples of such number of Shares as shall represent
one board lot for dealing in Shares on the Stock Exchange for
the time being, by the grantee by giving notice in writing to
our Company stating that the option is thereby exercised and
the number of Shares in respect of which it is exercised. Each
such notice must be accompanied by a remittance for the full
amount of the exercise price for the Shares in respect of
which the notice is given.
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(d)

Within 21 days after receipt of the notice and the
remittance and, where appropriate, receipt of the
certificate by the auditors to our Company or the
independent financial adviser as the case may be pursuant
to paragraph (r), our Company shall allot and issue the
relevant number of Shares to the grantee credited as fully
paid and issue to the grantee share certificates in respect
of the Shares so allotted.

The exercise of any option shall be subject to our
Shareholders in general meeting approving any necessary
increase in the authorised share capital of our Company.

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all option to be granted (including Shares
in respect of which options, whether exercised or still
outstanding, have already been granted) under the Share
Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes
of our Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total number of Shares in issue on the Listing Date, being
40,000,000 Shares (the “Scheme Limit"”), excluding for this
purpose Shares which would have been issuable pursuant
to options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme (or any other share option
schemes of our Company). Subject to the issue of a circular
by our Company and the approval of our Shareholders in
general meeting and/or such other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time, the
Board may:

(i) renew this limit at any time to 10% of the Shares in
issue (the “New Scheme Limit") as at the date of the
approval by our Shareholders in general meeting;
and/or

(d)
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(i) grant options beyond the Scheme Limit or New
Scheme Limit to Eligible Participants specifically
identified by the Board. The circular issued by our
Company to our Shareholders shall contain a generic
description of the specified Eligible Participants who
may be granted such options, the number and terms
of the options to be granted, the purpose of granting
options to the specified Eligible Participants with an
explanation as to how the options serve such
purpose, the information required under Rule 17.02(2)
(d) and the disclaimer required under Rule 17.02(4) of
the Listing Rules.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of our Company at
any time shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from
time to time (the “Maximum Limit"). No options shall be
granted under any schemes of our Company (including the
Share Option Scheme) if this will result in the Maximum
Limit being exceeded. The maximum number of Shares in
respect of which options may be granted shall be adjusted,
in such manner as the auditors of our Company or an
approved independent financial adviser shall certify to be
appropriate, fair and reasonable in the event of any
alteration in the capital structure of our Company in
accordance with paragraph (r) below whether by way of
capitalisation issue, rights issue, consolidation, sub-division
of shares or reduction of the share capital of our Company
but in no event shall exceed the limit prescribed in this
paragraph.

Maximum number of options to any one individual

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of our Company (including both exercised, outstanding
options and Shares which were the subject of options
which have been granted and accepted under the Share
Option Scheme or any other scheme of our Company but
subsequently cancelled (the “Cancelled Shares”) to each
Eligible Participant in any 12-month period up to the date
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of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of grant. Any further grant of options in excess of
this 1% limit shall be subject to:

(i)  theissue of a circular by our Company containing the
identity of the Eligible Participant, the numbers of
and terms of the options to be granted (and options
previously granted to such participant) the
information as required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) and the
disclaimer required under Rule 17.02(4) of the Listing
Rules; and

(i)  the approval of our Shareholders in general meeting
and/or other requirements prescribed under the
Listing Rules from time to time with such Eligible
Participant and his close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) (or his/her associates if the participant is
a connected person) abstaining from voting. The
numbers and terms (including the exercise price) of
options to be granted to such participant must be
fixed before our Shareholders’ approval and the date
of the Board meeting at which the Board proposes to
grant the options to such Eligible Participant shall be
taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the subscription price of the Shares. The
Board shall forward to such Eligible Participant an
offer document in such form as the Board may from
time to time determine or, alternatively, documents
accompanying the offer document which state,
among other things:

(aa) the Eligible Participant’s name, address and
occupation;

(bb) the date on which an option is offered to an
Eligible Participant which must be a date on
which the Stock Exchange is open for the
business of dealing in securities;

(cc) the date upon which an offer for an option must
be accepted;
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(dd) the date upon which an option is deemed to be
granted and accepted in accordance with

paragraph (c);

(ee) the number of Shares in respect of which the
option is offered;

(f) the subscription price and the manner of
payment of such price for the Shares on and in
consequence of the exercise of the option;

(gg) the date of the notice given by the grantee in
respect of the exercise of the option; and

(hh) the method of acceptance of the option which
shall, unless the Board otherwise determines, be
as set out in paragraph (c).

Price of shares

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any
particular option granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion
shall determine, save that such price will not be less than
the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant, which must be a day on which the Stock
Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities;

(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of

grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share.
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(g) Granting options to connected persons

Any grant of options to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of
our Company or any of their respective associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is required to be approved by
the INEDs (excluding any INED who is the grantee of the
options). If the Board proposes to grant options to a
substantial shareholder or any INED or their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) which will result
in the number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) such person
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant:

(i)  representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in
issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million
or such other sum as may be from time to time
provided under the Listing Rules, based on the
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange at the date
of each grant, such further grant of options will be
subject to the approval of our INEDs as referred to in
this paragraph, the issue of a circular by our Company
and the approval of our Shareholders in general
meeting on a poll at which the grantee, his associates
and all core connected persons (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of our Company shall abstain from
voting in favour, and/or such other requirements
prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time.
Any vote taken at the meeting to approve the grant
of such options shall be taken as a poll.
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The circular to be issued by our Company to our
Shareholders pursuant to the above paragraph shall
contain the following information:

(i) the details of the number and terms (including the
exercise price) of the options to be granted to each
selected Eligible Participant, which must be fixed
before our Shareholders’ meeting and the date of the
Board meeting for proposing such further grant shall
be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the exercise price of such options;

(i) arecommendation from our INEDs (excluding any
INED who is the grantee of the options) to the
independent Shareholders as to voting;

(iii)  the information required under Rule 17.02(2)(c) and (d)
and the disclaimer required under Rule 17.02(4) of the
Listing Rules; and

(iv) the information required under Rule 2.17 of the
Listing Rules.

Restrictions on the times of grant of options

A grant of options may not be made after inside
information has come to our Company’s knowledge until
such information has been announced pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules and the Inside
Information Provisions of Part XIVA of the SFO. In
particular, no options may be granted during the period
commencing one month immediately preceding the earlier

of:

() the date of the Board meeting (such date to first be
notified to the Stock Exchange in accordance with the
Listing Rules) for the approval of our Company'’s
results for any year, half-year, quarterly or any other
interim period (whether or not required under the
Listing Rules); and
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(i)

()

(k)

(i) the deadline for our Company to publish an
announcement of the results for any year, or half-year,
or quarterly or any other interim period (whether or
not required under the Listing Rules); and ending on
the date of actual publication of the results
announcement.

Rights are personal to grantee

An option is personal to the grantee. No grantee shall in
any way sell, transfer, assign, charge, mortgage, encumber
or otherwise dispose of or create any interest whatsoever
in favour of any third party over or in relation to any option
or attempt so to do (save that the grantee may nominate a
nominee in whose name the Shares issued pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme may be registered). Any breach of
the foregoing by a grantee shall entitle our Company to
cancel any outstanding options or any part thereof granted
to such grantee.

Time of exercise of option and duration of the
share option scheme

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time after the date
upon which the option is deemed to be granted and
accepted and prior to the expiry of ten years from that
date. The minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised will be determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion, save that no option may
be exercised more than ten years after it has been granted.
No option may be granted more than 10 years after the
date of approval of the Share Option Scheme by the
Shareholders of our Company (the “Adoption Date").
Subject to earlier termination by our Company in general
meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the
Adoption Date.

Performance target

A grantee may be required to achieve any performance
targets as the Board may then specify in the grant before
any options granted under the Share Option Scheme can
be exercised.
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Rights on ceasing employment/death
If the grantee of an option ceases to be an Eligible

Participant:

(i)

by any reason other than death, ill-health, injury,
disability or termination of his/her relationship with
our Company and/or any of its subsidiaries on one or
more of the grounds specified in paragraph (m)
below, the grantee may exercise the option up to the
entitlement of the grantee as at the date of cessation
(to the extent not already exercised) in whole or in
part within a period of one month (or such longer
period as the Board may determine) from such
cessation which date shall be the last actual working
day with our Company or the relevant subsidiary
whether salary is paid in lieu of notice or not, failing
which it will lapse (or such longer period as our
Company may determine); or

by reason of death, ill-health, injury or disability (all
evidenced to the satisfaction of the Board) and none
of the events which would be a ground for
termination of his relationship with our Company
and/or any of its subsidiaries under paragraph (m) has
occurred, the grantee or, as appropriate, his personal
representative(s) may exercise the option in full (to
the extent not already exercised) within a period of 12
months (or such longer period as the Board may
determine) from the date of cessation of being an
Eligible Participant or death.

(m) Rights on dismissal
If the grantee of an option ceases to be an Eligible

74

Participant on the grounds that he has been guilty of

serious misconduct, or has committed any act of

bankruptcy or has become insolvent or has made any

arrangements or composition with his/her creditors

generally, or has been convicted of any criminal offence

involving his/her integrity or honesty, his/her option will

lapse and not be exercisable after the date of termination

of his/her employment.
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(n)

(o)

(p)

Rights on takeover

If a general offer is made to all our Shareholders (or all
such Shareholders other than the offeror and/or any
person controlled by the offeror and/or any person acting
in concert with the offeror (as defined in the Takeovers
Code)) and such offer becomes or is declared
unconditional during the option period of the relevant
option, the grantee of an option shall be entitled to
exercise the option in full (to the extent not already
exercised) at any time within 14 days after the date on
which the offer becomes or is declared unconditional.

Rights on winding-up

In the event that a notice is given by our Company to its
members to convene a general meeting for the purposes
of considering, and if thought fit, approving a resolution to
voluntarily wind-up our Company, our Company shall
forthwith give notice thereof to all grantees and
thereupon, each grantee (or his legal personal
representative(s)) shall be entitled to exercise all or any of
his options (to the extent not already exercised) at any
time not later than two business days prior to the proposed
general meeting of our Company referred to above by
giving notice in writing to our Company, accompanied by
a remittance for the full amount of the aggregate
subscription price for the Shares in respect of which the
notice is given, whereupon our Company shall as soon as
possible and, in any event, no later than the business day
immediately prior to the date of the proposed general
meeting, allot the relevant Shares to the grantee credited
as fully paid.

Rights on compromise or arrangement between
our company and its members or creditors

If a compromise or arrangement between our Company
and its members or creditors is proposed for the purposes
of a scheme for the reconstruction of our Company or its
amalgamation with any other companies pursuant to the
laws of the jurisdiction in which our Company was
incorporated, our Company shall give notice to all the
grantees of the options on the same day as it gives notice
of the meeting to its members or creditors summoning the
meeting to consider such a compromise or arrangement
and any grantee may by notice in writing to our Company
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accompanied by a remittance for the full amount of the
aggregate subscription price for our Shares in respect of
which the notice is given (such notice to be received by
our Company no later than two business days prior to the
proposed meeting), exercise the option to its full extent or
to the extent specified in the notice and our Company
shall as soon as possible and in any event no later than the
business day immediately prior to the date of the
proposed meeting, allot and issue such number of Shares
to the grantee which falls to be issued on such exercise of
the option credited as fully paid and register the grantee
as holder thereof.

With effect from the date of such meeting, the rights of all
grantees to exercise their respective options shall forthwith
be suspended. Upon such compromise or arrangement
becoming effective, all options shall, to the extent that
they have not been exercised, lapse and determine. If for
any reason such compromise or arrangement does not
become effective and is terminated or lapses, the rights of
grantees to exercise their respective options shall with
effect from such termination be restored in full but only
upon the extent not already exercised and shall become
exercisable.

Ranking of shares

Our Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an option
will not carry voting rights until completion of the
registration of the grantee (or any other person) as the
holder thereof. Subject to the aforesaid, Shares allotted
and issued on the exercise of options will rank pari passu
and shall have the same voting, dividend, transfer and
other rights (including those arising on liquidation) as at
attached to the other fully-paid Shares in issue on the date
of exercise, save that they will not rank for any dividend or
other distribution declared or recommended or resolved
to be paid or made by reference to a record date falling
on or before the date of exercise.
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Effect of alterations to capital

In the event of any alteration in the capital structure of our
Company whilst any option may become or remains
exercisable, whether by way of capitalisation issue, rights
issue, consolidation, subdivision or reduction of share
capital of our Company, such corresponding alterations (if
any) shall be made in the number of Shares subject to any
outstanding options and/or the subscription price per
Share of each outstanding option as the auditors of our
Company or an independent financial adviser shall certify
in writing to the Board to be in their/his opinion fair and
reasonable in compliance with Rule 17.03(13) of the Listing
Rules and the note thereto and the supplementary
guidance attached to the letter from the Stock Exchange
dated 5 September 2005 to all issuers relating to share
option schemes. The capacity of the auditors of our
Company or the approved independent financial adviser,
as the case may be, in this paragraph is that of experts and
not arbitrators and their certificate shall, in the absence of
manifest error, be final and conclusive and binding on our
Company and the grantees.

Any such alterations will be made on the basis that a
grantee shall have the same proportion of the equity
capital of our Company (as interpreted in accordance with
the supplementary guidance attached to the letter from
the Stock Exchange dated 5 September 2005 to all issuers
relating to share option schemes) for which any grantee of
an option is entitled to subscribe pursuant to the options
held by him before such alteration provided that no such
alteration shall be made if the effect of which would be to
enable a Share to be issued at less than its nominal value.
The issue of securities as consideration in a transaction is
not to be regarded as a circumstance requiring any such
alterations.

Expiry of option

An option shall lapse automatically and shall not be
exercisable (to the extent not already exercised) on the
earliest of:

(i) the date of expiry of the option as may be determined
by the Board,;

(r)

(s)
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(i) the expiry of any of the periods referred to in
paragraphs (), (m), (n); or

(iii) the date upon which the scheme of arrangement of
our Company referred to in paragraph (p) becomes
effective;

(iv) subject to paragraph (o), the date of commencement
of the winding-up of our Company;

(v) the date upon which the grantee ceases to be an
Eligible Participant by reason of such grantee’s
resignation from the employment of our Company or
any of its subsidiaries or the termination of his or her
employment or contract on the grounds that he or
she has been guilty of serious misconduct, or has
committed any act of bankruptcy or is unable to pay
his or her debts or has become insolvent or has made
any arrangement or has compromised with his or her
creditors generally, or has been convicted of any
criminal offence involving his or her integrity or
honesty or has been in breach of contract. A
resolution of the Board to the effect that the
employment of a grantee has or has not been
terminated on one or more of the grounds specified
in this paragraph shall be conclusive; or

(vi) the date upon which the Board shall exercise our
Company’s right to cancel the option at any time
after the grantee commits a breach of paragraph (i)
above or the options are cancelled in accordance
with paragraph (u) below.

Alteration of the share option scheme
The Share Option Scheme may be altered in any respect
by resolution of the Board except that:

(i) any alteration to the advantage of the grantees or the
Eligible Participants (as the case may be) in respect of
the matters contained in Rule 17.03 of the Listing
Rules; and
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(i) any material alteration to the terms and conditions of
the Share Option Scheme or any change to the terms
of options granted, shall first be approved by our
Shareholders in general meeting provided that if the
proposed alteration shall adversely affect any option
granted or agreed to be granted prior to the date of
alteration, such alteration shall be further subject to
the grantees’ approval in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme. The amended terms
and any adjustment to be made to the exercise price
of the Share Option Scheme shall still comply with
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the supplemental
guidance of 5 September 2005 and any future
guidance or interpretation of the Listing Rules from
time to time and any change to the authority of the
Board in relation to any alteration to the terms of the
Share Option Scheme must be approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting.

(u) Cancellation of options

(v)

Any cancellation of options granted but not exercised
must be approved by the grantees of the relevant options
in writing. For the avoidance of doubt, such approval is not
required in the event that any option is cancelled pursuant
to paragraph (i).

Termination of the share option scheme

Our Company may by resolution in general meeting or the
Board may at any time terminate the Share Option Scheme
and in such event no further option shall be offered but
the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in
force to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise
of any option granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be
required in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme.

Options granted prior to such termination but not yet
exercised at the time of termination shall continue to be
valid and exercisable in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme.

(u)

(v)
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Our Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of
the environment and the development of the society. Details of
the Group's development, performance and operation in the
environmental aspect will be set out in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Our Group has adopted internal control and risk management
policies to monitor the on-going compliance with relevant laws
and regulations. As far as the Board is concerned, our Group
has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the
Company and its subsidiaries in all material aspects.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, AND KEY
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Our Group is in good relationship with its employees and we
have policies in place to ensure our employees’ remuneration,
and welfare package as competitive among other players in the
industry and they receive adequate continuous professional
training. Our Group also maintains a good relationship with its
customers and suppliers, without whom the production and
operation success will not be guaranteed.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended
31 December 2019.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable
to the Group's major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases

— the largest suppliers 42.6%
— five largest suppliers in aggregate 65.9%
Sales

— the largest customers 24.5%
— five largest customers in aggregate 78.9%
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Save as Bilsea International disclosed in the sections headed
"Continuing Connected Transactions” and “Connected
Transaction” below, none of the Directors, their respective close
associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company'’s share capital)
had any interest in the five largest suppliers or customers.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group had the
following continuing connected transactions:

BRI FEBAERS | R BERS] —
£ 7T 1% #& A Bilsea International 5) + #f £
B KREZBETBREAREBESZAA
AR RTA]S% A ERAEEMERE - B
AAHERXE R HE TR o

BERERS
REZ2019F12A31HIEFE » A&EE
BUTHERERS :

Annual actual
transaction
Annual cap amount
for the year for the year
ended ended
Name of relevant Connected relationship 31 December 31 December
connected persons with the Group Nature of transactions 2019 2019
BE2019F BZ2019%
12A31H 12A31H
ILFER ILFEMN
EHHEALER HAEENEERE RatE FELR  BEBRXZER
US$000 US$'000
TET TET
Exempt
E#%
Bilsea International Holdings ~ Note Property leasing N/a N/a
Pte Ltd ("Bilsea Holdings")
Bilsea Holdings i NEHE NEH @M
Mr. Ding Xiaosheng Mr. Ding Xiaosheng is the brother  Employment contract N/a N/a
of Mr. Ding Xiaoli, who resigned
as an executive Director on
30 August 2019 and ceased
to be a Controlling Shareholder
on 4 November 2019
TZExE TEERERTHEURE EREH TEH TEm
(R 201948 A 30 HBHER T
EERN2019F 11 A4ATE
RERIRER) #0855
Non-exempt
TEHRR
Bilsea International Note Provision of asphalt tanker 12,500 12,179
chartering services
Bilsea International Bzt REFES MRS 12,500 12,179
Seabridge Note Purchase of bunker 2,800 573
services
Seabridge B &% BEMEIRS 2,800 573
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Note: Seabridge (mainly engages in the provision of bunker services), is wholly-
owned by Bilsea Holdings, which is in turn wholly owned by Bilsea
International (mainly engages in asphalt trading and provision of
transportation services), which is in turn owned as to 65% and 35% by Ms.
Liu Weipeng and Mr. Yan Xiankai (the spouse of Ms. Liu Weipeng),
respectively. As Ms. Liu Weipeng and Mr. Yan Xiankai are both the
directors of some of our subsidiaries, Seabridge, Bilsea Holdings and
Bilsea International are associates of each of Ms. Liu Weipeng and Mr.
Yan Xiankai, and are connected persons of our Group at the subsidiary
level. As at the date of this report, our Company is owned as to 6.75% by
Bilsea International.

Bilxin Tenancy Agreement

A tenancy agreement (the “Bilxin Tenancy Agreement”) was
entered into between Bilsea Holdings as landlord and the
Company’s subsidiary Bilxin Shipping Group Pte Ltd (”Bilxin
Shipping”) as tenant, under which Bilsea Holdings agreed to
lease a property located in Singapore to Bilxin Shipping, for a
term of 12 months commencing from 1 January 2019 and
ending on 31 December 2019 for office use. Pursuant to the
Bilxin Tenancy Agreement, the monthly rental payable to Bilsea
Holdings shall be in the sum of US$2,000 (exclusive of the
relevant goods and services tax in Singapore). The monthly
rental under the Bilxin Tenancy Agreement was determined on
an arm's length basis between Bilsea Holdings and Bilxin
Shipping. Total rental payable by the Group under the Bilxin
Tenancy Agreement amounted to US$24,000 (equivalent to
HK$187,000) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Employment Agreement with Mr. Ding Xiaosheng

Mr. Ding Xiaosheng (who is the brother of Mr. Ding Xiaoli) is an
associate of Mr. Ding Xiaoli, an executive Director resigned on
30 August 2019 (within 12 months as of the date of this report),
hence Mr. Ding Xiaosheng is a connected person of our
Company under Rule 14A.12(2)(a) of the Listing Rules. On 1
December 2017, Mr. Ding Xiaosheng entered into a written
employment contract (the “"Employment Agreement with Mr.
Ding Xiaosheng”) with Fujian Xinyuan Xinlanhai Import and
Export Trade Co., Ltd, the Company’s subsidiary, as vice
president for a term ending on 31 December 2020. The
aggregate salary paid by the Group to Mr. Ding Xiaosheng
were approximately US$66,000 (equivalent to HK$515,000) for
the year ended 31 December 2019.
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Bilsea Master Service Agreement

On 6 September 2018, the Company’s subsidiary, Shun Yuen
Group (Hong Kong) Limited (“Shun Yuen HK"), as service
provider, entered into a master service agreement (the “Bilsea
Master Service Agreement”) with Bilsea International, for a
term ending on 31 December 2020, pursuant to which the
Group agreed to provide asphalt tanker chartering services to
Bilsea International and/or its subsidiaries (the “Bilsea Group”).
The service fees payable by Bilsea Group to the Group under
the Bilsea Master Service Agreement were determined after
arm’s length negotiation between the parties thereto with
reference to (i) reputation of the customer; (ii) duration of
charter period; (iii) the prevailing market circumstances; (iv) past
business relationship with the customer; (v) the financing cost of
our vessel; (vi) cost of shipbuilding and operation; and (vii) cargo
quantity. Taking into account that the Group has already
provided asphalt tanker chartering services to Bilsea Group in
the past and that provision of such services has offered stable
and considerable profits to the Group historically, the Directors
consider that it is in the Group's interests to continue the
relationship with Bilsea Group and to provide the asphalt tanker
chartering services under the Bilsea Master Service Agreement
to Bilsea Group.

As for the sales amount, for the year ended 31 December 2019,
the cap for these continuing connected transactions in total was
US$12.5 million, and the actual transaction amount for the year
was approximately US$12.2 million.

Seabridge Master Supply Agreement

On 6 September 2018, Shun Yuen HK, as purchaser, entered
into a master supply agreement (the “Seabridge Master
Supply Agreement”) with Seabridge, for a term ending on 31
December 2020, pursuant to which the Group agreed to
purchase bunker services from Seabridge. The fees payable by
the Group to Seabridge under the Seabridge Master Supply
Agreement were determined after arm’s length negotiation
between the parties thereto with reference to market rate,
bunker quantity and the location of the port. Taking into
account that Seabridge has already provided quality bunker
services to the Group in the past, our Directors consider that it
is in the Group's interests to continue our relationship with
Seabridge and to source bunker services from Seabridge.
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As for the purchase amount, for the year ended 31 December
2019, the cap for these continuing connected transactions in
total was US$2.8 million, and the actual transaction amount for
the year was approximately US$0.6 million.

For details of the above continuing connected transactions,
please refer to the section headed "“Continuing Connected
Transactions” in the Company's prospectus dated 26
September 2018 (the “Prospectus”).

The transactions under the Bilxin Tenancy Agreement and
Employment Agreement with Mr. Ding Xiaosheng constitute de
minimis continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Rule 14A of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Bilxin
Tenancy Agreement and Employment Agreement with Mr. Ding
Xiaosheng and the transactions thereunder are exempted from
the reporting, announcement, annual review, circular and the
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related party transactions
for the year as disclosed in note 35(a) to the consolidated
financial statements also constituted exempted connected
transactions as defined under the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, our INEDs have
reviewed the above non-exempt continuing connected
transactions under each of the Bilsea Master Service Agreement
and Seabridge Master Supply Agreement and have confirmed
that such transactions were entered into:

() inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i)  onnormal or better commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with the agreements for such transactions,
the terms of which are fair and reasonable, and are in the
interest of the shareholders as a whole.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the

requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
all of its non-exempt continuing connected transactions.
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The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
non-exempt continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing its findings
and conclusions in respect of the non-exempt continuing
connected transactions disclosed above.

The Directors confirm that the auditor has confirmed the matter
set out in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 14 January 2019, Qasis Oriental Limited (“Oasis Oriental”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a purchase agreement with Bilsea International (the
"Purchase Agreement”), under which Oasis Oriental agreed to
purchase and Bilsea International agreed to sell approximately
4,500 metric tons (subject to upward or downward adjustment
within the range of 5% at the option of Bilsea International) of
asphalt 60/70 at the unit consideration of US$371.80 (equivalent
to approximately HK$2,900.04) per metric ton of asphalt 60/70
(the “"Purchase”). The Purchase was completed on 8 February
2019, where the total amount of asphalt 60/70 actually
transacted under the Purchase Agreement was 4,303.49 metric
tons. Accordingly, the total consideration actually paid by Oasis
Oriental to Bilsea International was US$1,600,000 (rounded
down to the nearest US$100 as per the Invoice and equivalent
to approximately HK$12,480,000) for this transaction (the “Total
Consideration”).
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As at the date of the Purchase Agreement, Bilsea International
was owned as to 65% and 35% respectively by Ms. Liu Weipeng
and Mr. Yan Xiankai (the spouse of Ms. Liu Weipeng), who were
both the directors of Bilxin Shipping, being an indirectly wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company. Accordingly, Bilsea
International was an associate of Ms. Liu Weipeng and Mr. Yan
Xiankai and was therefore a connected person of the Company
at subsidiary level pursuant to Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.
The transactions under the Purchase Agreement thus
constituted a connected transaction for the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As all applicable percentage
ratio(s) (as defined in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) with
respect to the Purchase calculated based on the Total
Consideration actually paid by Oasis Oriental to Bilsea
International were less than 5%, the purchase under the
Purchase Agreement was subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements set out in Rule 14A.35 of the
Listing Rules but was exempt from the circular and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 23 August 2019 and 9 September 2019 respectively.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the year ended
31 December 2019, there were no connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions which are required to be
disclosed by the Company in accordance with the provisions
concerning the disclosure of connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, it is
confirmed that there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of
the Company's issued shares throughout the year ended 31
December 2019 and to the date of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Director’s and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Company'’s Articles of Association, the Directors
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or
sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to the “Share
Option Scheme”, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into during the year ended 31 December 2019.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the
Directors or the controlling shareholders (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company nor any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that competed or
might compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group and any other conflicts of interest which any such
person had or might have with the Group during the year

ended 31 December 2019.

The Company has adopted, among others, the following
measures to manage the conflict of interests arising from
competing business and to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders: (i) the Company will disclose decisions on matters
reviewed by the INEDs relating to compliance and enforcement
of the deed of non-competition dated 6 September 2018
entered into by the controlling shareholders in favour of the
Company competing interests ("Non-competition
Undertaking”) in the annual report; and (ii) the controlling
shareholders will make an annual declaration on compliance
with their Non-competition Undertaking in the annual report.
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On 4 November 2019 (the “Date of Cessation”), upon
completion of the Shares Sale, Centennial Best, Mr. Ding Xiaoli,
Mr. Xu Wenjun and Mr. Ding Yuzhao ceased to be the
controlling shareholders of the Company. For details, please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 28 October 2019.
Accordingly, the Non-competition Undertaking was elapsed.

The controlling shareholders have confirmed to the Company
that they have complied with their undertakings under the Non-
competition Undertaking during the period from 1 January 2019
to the Date of Cessation.

The INEDs have reviewed and confirmed that the controlling
shareholders have complied with all the undertakings under the
Non-competition Undertaking during the period from 1 January
2019 to the Date of Cessation.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

There was no contract of significance to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any controlling
shareholders of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2019.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding the
Company's securities.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
RSM Hong Kong who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board
Mr. Wang Faqing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2020
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Xin Yuan Enterprises Group Limited and its subsidiaries (“the
Group” and “"We") are delighted to present the second
Environmental, Social and Governance report (the “report”).
This report outlines our systematic environmental, social and
governance ("ESG") approach and performances.

Reporting Scope and Period

Covering the period from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019
(the "reporting period”), this report comprises performance of
the operations of the Group's offices in the People’s Republic
of China ("PRC"), Hong Kong and Singapore, our asphalt tanker
chartering business, and the vessel management business.

Basis for Reporting

This report is prepared in accordance with the Appendix 27
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“"ESG
Guide”) of the Main Board Listing Rules issued by the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK"). This report strictly
complies with all the “comply or explain” provisions in the ESG
Guide.

The Board has reviewed and approved this report before
publication.

Feedback on the Report

Your support is an important driving force for our continuous
improvement. We appreciate your feedback and suggestions
on the report and our overall sustainability practices. Please
contact us through the following channels:

Address: Room 4309-11A,
43rd floor, Shenglong Financial Centre,
No.1 South Guangming Road,
Taijiang, Fuzhou, China

Telephone: + 86-591-87573330

E-mail: angelazhu@xysgroup.com

Website: WWW.XySgroup.com
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Stakeholder Engagement

The Group endeavours to create long-term value for our
stakeholders. We maintain open dialogue and build trusted
relationships with our stakeholders through ongoing and
structured engagement. We proactively engage with them to
understand their views and concerns on the Group's ESG issues,
and continuously improve our sustainability strategy.

The table below summarizes the key stakeholder groups, their
major concerns and the engagement channels embedded in
our operations.

Key Stakeholders Issues of Major Concerns

ER/F0E TREE[E

BiEnERE
AEBBREAS IR AFNDEERDE
B BAIRF\AFYEE  WBBRKENE
AR B BRI B IR P SERR R o FfM
BRERNEES  ATRESHAEE
BIRE e RERMENERNEL
b AT 7 24 = 3R P ) T AR B R B

T%*E%?ﬁi%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%” HEZREH
REFELTRANBBRE -

Engagement Channels

Government and regulators  ©  Compliance with laws and
T B B B i regulations
o  BTIRBEAR

o Corporate governance

L TEER
Suppliers ®  Increase production scale
HrER o  BARAERE

e Open and fair purchases

o  RARNFIRE

Shareholders and investors ¢ Financial and operating
REREEE performances
o MBMEERA

e Abide by laws and regulations

o EAREA

e Implement relevant policies and
measures according to the laws
and regulations

o IREKREHABEER KB

e  Tendering

s R

° Regular communication

o  TEHIERB

e Inspection and evaluation

S

e Shareholder meeting
o BEAE

° Roadshow

e Growth strategies and business ¢ K&

prospect
o BEREBREBIIR
e  Risk management
o [EREHE
e Information disclosure

o EREE

° Investor presentation

o  KREEMN
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Key Stakeholders Issues of Major Concerns Engagement Channels
FTEHHNE TERIHE BBRE
Trade and industry e Labourissues e Abide by relevant laws and
associations o ZERE regulations

IEme e Safety o ETHEIERER

U Fogca . Business communication

e Sharing of operation best o  XWER

practices

o DERELEED

Customer and potential e Pricing e Company website
clients e FE e NR)4HuL
BEPREBERP e Quality of products and services ®  Email
e EmMRBEES e FEH
e Compliance with laws and e Satisfaction survey
regulations ° R MNFE

o ETEBER

Employees e Salaries and welfare e Regular meetings
BT o FHEKEAM o TEHEH
e  Career development e Training
o BIXHER o I
e Staff activities
o BIEH
Local communities e Community involvement e Company website
=gz ko s HEZH e REIMUL

e Environmental compliances
e RIRAR
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CARING FOR THE ENVIRONMENT

Steered by our spirit of environmental stewardship, the Group
has made continuous effort to enhance our sustainability
performances across all business units. We are dedicated to
minimising adverse impacts arising from our operation by
implementing sustainable policies and measures and
advocating environmental awareness of customers and
suppliers.

The Group is committed to complying with relevant
international, regional and local environmental regulations at
the sea and port, including but not limited to the Marpol
Convention, the International Management Code for the Safe
Operation of Ships and for Pollution Prevention (“ISM Code”),
the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China and the Atmospheric Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China.
During the reporting period, there was no reported cases of
prosecution for violation of laws and regulations related to
environmental protection.

Green Operation

Ship energy and fuel consumption is causing the greatest
atmospheric emission in the Group. The Group's professional
ship engineering team actively seeks opportunities to apply
green features and measures during design and construction
processes and mitigate the potential environmental impact
throughout the business life cycle. Through adopting the
advanced and innovative technology and embracing
environmental protection concepts in ship designs, we have
significantly reduced the energy and fuel consumption
throughout design, construction and operation stage.
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The International Maritime Organization (“IMO") has
announced the energy efficiency and greenhouse gas reduction

requirements by 2025, where the energy efficiency of all new
ships shall be 30% higher than those built in 2014. Meeting the
requirements of the IMO, the Energy Efficiency Design Index

(EEDI) of all the newly commissioned ships has been

significantly improved, while the fuel consumption has been

well below the international standards.

Shore power system

HERE :
L " LED lighting
e SRR )
Monitor and alarm system e T Low Sulphur Ol tank and Marine Gas Oil system

ARG A A St 52 5

and power management system
oy B B TR IR T

Eco-friendly refrigerant
ROHEH

Bigger black and grey water tank
K BB AR

Stern tube S.W. cooling system

ALt K Bl R B

Coating system (sea mate NB)

GURMIBISE) BRASK

Ballast Water Management system
SRR K T Low speed and long stroke M/E

2 B R AT 5 Bl

Energy Efficiency Enhancement

94

Advance vessel design such as skeg stern, fin stabilizer and
streamline style to reduce water resistance and improve
vessel efficiency.

Equip with advanced energy management system to allow
efficient energy allocation. Continuous monitoring and
adjustment of the system during sailing to allow high
energy efficiency at all times.

Use of variable-frequency control system and installation
of energy-efficiency light fixtures to reduce energy

consumption.

Use of onshore power system during berthing to reduce
the energy consumption on ships and emissions at dock.
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Pollution Prevention

e Install ballast water treatment device to prevent
microorganism’s growth in ballast water and avoid
biological water pollution during sailing.

e Fully concealed stern tube with a seawater cooling system
to eliminate the risk of oil leakage in face of stern tube
failure.

e Use of green materials such as halogen-free cable,
fluorine-free refrigerant, plant-based biodegradable
hydraulic oil and asbestos-free binder to avoid pollution
during vessel construction and operation.

e Install low sulphur fuel system to reduce sulphur emissions.

e Use of copolymer antifouling paint in the coating of the
entire vessel to avoid potential marine contamination, as
well as prevent marine species from attaching themselves
to the ship hull and thus minimising the disruption of the
marine ecosystem.

Waste Management
e Install hull-mounted incinerators to handle solid waste and
oil waste at high temperature.

e  Equip with a large volume storage tank for black water and
grey water to store oil waste generated.

Apart from incorporating green features into the ship design,
the Group also made a great effort in managing the
environmental risks during sailing. In 2019, the Group acquired
the vessel management business with 2 Capesize ships
managed by our subsidiary Xin Yuan Ship Management (Hong
Kong) Limited. Recognising the potential emissions generated
by the acquired vessels, the Group has developed the Ship
Energy Efficiency Management Plan (“SEEMP”) to manage the
environmental pollution and safety operation. Parameters such
as fuel oil consumption, travel distance and underway hours are
collected systematically according to the methodology stated in
SEEMP. Further enhancements are made with the data
collected. To minimise air pollution, low sulphur fuel oil is used
in all ships owned by the Group.
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Aside from ships managed by the Group, the Group also owns
10 ships that are being managed by outsourced third party
shipping company. To further minimise potential environmental
impact, the Group communicated closely with the third party
shipping company to monitor their environmental performance
and ensure the operations are in compliance with relevant laws
and regulations.

Green Procurement

The Group is constantly exploring ways to better manage
environmental risks along the value chain to improve our overall
environmental performance. When procuring vessels, in
addition to the market rent level, price of second-hand vessels
and vessel recycling, we also consider whether the vessels
comply with emissions and energy efficiency standards by the
IMO and other international organisations.

To better manage the environmental risks in the supply chain,
the Group developed the Green Procurement Standard, which
outlined the green procurement policies and requirements such
as supplier assessment procedures, requirements for suppliers’
operation practice and the use of materials during production
in details. All suppliers are required to adhere to the Green
Procurement Standard.

We aim to ensure proper management of environmental risks
by suppliers. As such, we assess the environmental performance
of parts and materials suppliers every year in accordance to the
requirements outlined in the Green Procurement Standard.
Suppliers are required to report their status in obtaining
certification bodies including but not limited to 1ISO 14001
Environmental management systems and ISO 9001 Quality
management system.
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We also evaluate the raw materials and parts used by suppliers
to prevent adverse environmental and health impacts arising
from the improper use of chemicals. On top of the Green
Procurement Standard, the Group also developed the
Environmental Load Material Management Standard to specify
a series of substances with potential environmental impact, such
as paint, foam concentrate and hydraulic oil. All suppliers are
required to submit Material Safety Data Sheet for each material
to ensure the materials are following the safety limit. When
selecting new suppliers, priority will be given to candidates that
have met the Environmental Load Material Management
Standard on top of fulfilling the requirement of quality,
performance and price.

Green Office

The Group is dedicated to reducing carbon footprint and waste
generation in office premises. The Group has established
guidelines such as the Measures of Energy Saving and
Environmental Protection in Offices and the Principles and
Measures of Environmental Protection in Offices to layout our
green office policies for employees.

A wide range of measures to achieve energy conservation and
greenhouse gas reduction has been implemented. We
encourage employees to use natural lighting as much as
possible to reduce the use of lights. To avoid unnecessary
energy consumption, electrical appliances such as computer,
printer and scanner are switched off when not in use and
outside office hours. We constantly remind employees to avoid
opening windows when using air conditioning. The temperature
of air conditioners is adjusted into a reasonable level according
to the seasons. To further reduce energy consumption,
preferences are given to models with higher energy efficiency
and awarded with energy label when acquiring new electrical
appliances.

During the reporting period, the Group owns a company
vehicle. Nonetheless, we spare no effort to control the
emissions arising from vehicle usage. Employees are
encouraged to carpool with co-workers or switch to public
transport to minimise emissions.
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Although the Group does not operate in water-stressed regions
and face no issues of sourcing water, we have endeavoured our
best effort to conserve water during daily operation. We
proactively promote the use of water-saving appliances and
prohibit the use of tap water for car washing. We carefully
manage and maintain the water taps and pipelines to prevent
unnecessary water wastage.

We adopt a paperless culture to promote material conservation.
Employees are encouraged to review and transfer documents
through electronic devices, as well as using double-sided paper
when printing is unavoidable. We set up paper recycling bins at
offices to collect wastepaper for reuse. In the view of further
paper use minimisation, the Group works continuously to
establish a digital working platform for uploading documents
and making announcement online.

The Group's Waste Management System has detailed the
handling and management approach for each waste category
such as non-recyclable general wastes, electronic wastes and
other hazardous wastes. Qualified professionals are appointed
to ensure proper waste disposal. In order to minimise waste
generation, we encourage employees to reduce resource
consumption and recycle materials as much as possible.
Materials with recycling values are recycled and sent to recyclers
to extend their life cycle. With our unremitting efforts, the
Group has successfully reduced the intensity of household
waste during the reporting period from 0.02 tonnes per person
in 2018 to 0.014 tonnes per person in 2019. The Group will
continue to explore innovative approaches to reduce wastes
generated at our office premises.
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Environmental Key Performance Table BIBERARENE
Indicator Unit Data in Year 2019
. By 2019 £ #E
Air Pollutant Emissions’

ZERITRMBEN
NOx Emissions kg 111.18
NOx HF R T
SOx Emissions kg 28.22
SOx HER T
CO Emissions kg 19.28
COHFR T
PM, s Emissions kg 2.01
PM,s HETK T
PM;o Emissions kg 216
PMio BEIL T

Resource Consumption and Intensity

BERHEERZE

Electricity Consumption? kWh 13,207.87

GEEE FREH

Electricity Consumption Intensity kWh/person 377.37

RAERE FTRE/A

Water Consumption?® Tonnes 260

FKE:? W

Water Consumption Intensity Tonnes/person 7.43

Rk=E LEYON

Petrol Consumption Litre 255.97

AHERE 7t

Petrol Consumption Intensity Litre/person 7.31

AHEREE VAVON

l Air pollutant emission comes from vehicles and ships owned by the ' ?ﬁﬁx%ﬂﬂ??ﬁﬁUﬁ@$§@ﬁ’\qﬂ B} &

Group in PRC and Hong Kong. The emission data is calculated in Tfﬁﬁﬂﬁ$$ﬁ& o B BUBR IR P BRI
accordance with the Guidelines for Accounting and Reporting 1R & B B %ﬁﬁlgﬂ@%]/m;tf K
Greenhouse Gas Emissions by China Land Transportation Enterprises BERIEESI(FHTT))RE) |I&1R%<<EMEP/
(Trial) from the Ministry of Environmental Protection of PRC and the EEAZER SRS EERE 2019) 5T &
EMEP/EEA air pollutant emission inventory guidebook 2019 of the REAXAR ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’“ﬂxﬁm%ﬁfﬁﬁ('ﬁlﬂ
European Environment Agency. As the emissions of air pollutants caused HIRRHOZEBUWTRERX - Bk THE o

by the use of natural gas is limited, the environmental impact is not
significant and thus is not disclosed.

The electricity consumption data comes from the offices at PRC and
Hong Kong.

3 The water consumption data comes from the office at PRC. E FAKEHEREFBIBERE

g REEHEXETEREBNRFER
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Indicator Unit Data in Year 2019
BR B 2019 F 8B
Marine Gas Oil Consumption* Litre 1,622.59
TGRSR 7
Marine Gas Oil Consumption Intensity Litre/nautical mile 0.16
MARHAERE /e R
Natural Gas Consumption® Cubic Metres 421
RARMES MK
Natural Gas Consumption Intensity Cubic Metres per person 12.03
AARAETE NFAKSAN

Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Intensity

BEREBIREBREE

Scope 1 Emissions (Direct Emissions)® Tonnes 5.83
EEN BE (BB ¢ 17
Scope 1 Emissions Intensity Tonnes/person 0.17
EENBEREE LZYN
Scope 2 Emissions (Indirect Emissions)’ Tonnes 9.30
& E 28R (R HERD 7 T8
Scope 2 Emissions Intensity Tonnes/person 0.27
HE2HNETE Wa,/ A
Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions Tonnes 15.13
BERBEIES 148
Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions Intensity Tonnes/person 0.43
BEREBHREETE Wa,/ A

100

The marine gas oil consumption data comes from the ships owned by the
Group.

The natural gas consumption data comes from the kitchen at PRC office.
Scope 1 emissions refer to direct emissions from vehicles and ships
owned by the Group and the natural gas combustion at PRC. The
emission data is calculated in accordance with the “Reporting Guidance
on Environmental KPIs” of SEHK, the Guidelines for Accounting and
Reporting Greenhouse Gas Emissions by China Land Transportation
Enterprises (Trial) of the Ministry of Environmental Protection of PRC and
the Guide for Calculating Methods and Reporting of Greenhouse Gas
Emissions of Enterprises in Other Industries (Draft).

Scope 2 emissions refer to indirect emissions resulting from electricity
generation that is purchased by the Group.
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Indicator Unit Data in Year 2019
BR B 2019 F 8B
Non-hazardous Waste Generation and Intensity®
BEBRYELEREES
General Waste Tonnes 0.50

—RREEY) WA

Household Waste Intensity Tonnes/person 0.014
RELIREE LEYON

Wastepaper Tonnes 0.002
P& 4 Mg

Wastepaper Intensity Tonnes/person 0.0001
BEREE WE, A

Food Waste Tonnes 0.19
s SavR A

Food Waste Intensity Tonnes/person 0.0053
B ERBI IR B W, A

Hazardous Waste Generation’®
BEBYEL®

Waste Batteries Pieces 36
BEEE) 1&

CARING FOR OUR EMPLOYEES

Employees are the key to corporate development of the Group.
As such, we attach great importance to human resources with a
mission to create a delightful and safe workplace. We are
dedicated to respect and care for our employees, provide them
with training and development opportunities, and safeguard
their health and safety.

Employees’ Rights and Welfare

The Group strictly abides the Labour Law of the People'’s
Republic of China, Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Employment Act of Singapore and other relevant laws and
regulations of the places where it operates.

& The non-hazardous waste generation data comes from the office at PRC.
The hazardous waste generation data comes from the office at PRC. No
electronic waste, waste fluorescent lamp and ink cartridges were
generated during the reporting period.

BEST
BETRAKECEZERNMESR - Ak - ]
P+OBERBANER  REIAES AR
R 22 TS - ZMBAREER
AERT  ARFERHBIINRERKES
VIREEERERZZ

ETEMNRER
AEEBREBT(FEARKNE L E
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The Group's Personnel Management System and the
Employees’ Handbook stipulate employment policies including
remuneration and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, anti-
discrimination, training and development, and other benefits of
employees. All employees are subjected to the rights and
obligations outlined in the Employees’ Handbook.

The Group cherishes a fair, diversified and inclusive workplace.
We strive to adhere to the employment principle of “Appointing
employees according to their merits and using their talents
according to their ability”. We provide equal opportunities for
recruitment, promotion, salary adjustment to employees and
potential candidates only based on their abilities. Our
employees, regardless of their nationality, ethnic group, race,
gender, religion and cultural background, are protected from
discrimination in any form.

The Group has adopted a stringent policy to prohibit the use of
child labour or forced labour. On top of abiding by relevant
laws and regulations, the Group's Child Labour Prevention and
Remedial Procedures are in place to avoid hiring anyone under
the age of 18. A thorough background check will be conducted
during the recruitment process.

To attract and retain talent, we provide competitive
compensation and benefits to our employees. On top of
statutory holidays, we also provide annual leave, sick leave,
marriage leave, maternity leave, bereavement leave and breast-
feeding leave. Employees who worked overtime can also apply
for compensation leaves. In an effort to better protect our
employees and accompany their needs, we provide employees
with marriage allowance, maternity allowance, birthday
allowance and consolation money. Abiding by statutory
regulations, we provide our staff in PRC with an insurance
package including pension insurance, unemployment insurance,
occupational injury insurance, medical insurance, maternity
insurance and housing provident fund.

Throughout the reporting period, there was neither reported
cases of prosecution for violation of employment laws as well as
employee’s rights and interested, nor has the Group received
any relevant complaint.
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During the reporting period, the Group has 35 employees in  $R&EHRN - KEBNEE - P LI INE
Hong Kong, PRC and Singapore, and 6 employees have leftthe HB35ZE8T - 6L E T OB o 1°
Group.™

Employee Distribution
EBISM
As of 31 December 2019
BZ= 201912 A31H

Distribution by Gender Distribution by Employment Categories
gzl ki RERER DM

| R Female [l The Board and Senior Management
S 7 EFEkoRERE
Department Managers
EilwrcsE]
Other Employees
HMET

i The 6 resigned employees categorized by gender and age group: 6 ZOXE BB B TIRUR R FRRAA D BB
males and 0 females; 5 of age 31-40; 1 of age 50 or above. S0 6L B R ORI A M ¢ 5A131-408% ¢ 1AL
GOBRIA L
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Distribution by Geographical Locations
RENE D M

Distribution by Age Groups
REWRAR 2

9
11
Il rrRC HK Singapore [l 30o0rBelow [l 30-40 41-50 50 or Above
i & N 30BRHIAT 30-408% 41-50%% 505%eA £
Employee Engagement EIRAE

The Group strives to recognize the needs of our employees by
encouraging uninhibited dialogues between employees and
the Group. A complaint channel was established for employees
to voice out their opinions and suggestions. Once receiving
complaints or opinions from employees, our management will
arrange a face-to-face meeting with the complainant and seek
to provide feasible solutions. We take the feedback from
employees seriously and look to resolve their problems through
constant communications and providing assistance as far as
possible.

The Group is committed to develop a friendly and caring
workplace. Acknowledging the importance of work-life balance,
we organize activities for employees on an ongoing basis.
During the reporting period, the Group organized a team-
building event with the theme of “Strive Together and Share
the Results Together” to improve communications between
employees and foster team spirits.
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Our employees participating at the team-building event

BT 2HE5EREE

Employees’ Learning and Development

Our employees contribute directly to our product and service
quality. Therefore, we continue to deploy resources and provide
a comprehensive training programme to nurture their personal
advancement and implement our policy of “One post, multiple
functions”.

The Group's Employee Training System designs and formulates
development plan according to the level, position and needs of
our employees. To ensure the training quality, employees are
required to complete the Internal Training Evaluation Form and
the Post-training Review Report to express their opinion on the
course content and competence of trainers, as well as their
learning outcome upon completion of training. We continue to
seek opportunities to improve our training programme through
updating the training materials, inviting qualified trainers and
upgrading the equipment.

ETEFRERE
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A wide variety of training programme are provided to
employees at different levels and positions according to their
needs and the Group's development requirement. For instance,
all newcomers have to participate in the induction training to
understand the corporate culture, professional knowledge and
their work responsibilities. To encourage self-enhancement of
our employees, we also invite professionals to carry out lectures
and training courses. All participants are rewarded with National
Occupational Qualification Certificate when passing relevant
examinations. During the reporting period, training on
accounting and navigational safety were organized for
employees to enhance their professional knowledge. For the
Board and senior management, we provide training on various
subjects to keep them up with the latest market and regulation
trends. During the reporting period, the Board and senior
management attended lectures on their responsibilities,
professional ethics, the content of the updated ESG Guide and
the regulations relevant to capital raising.

In the future, we will continue to improve our training system
and policies, and diversify the training programme, as to enable
our talents to develop themselves to their fullest potential.

During the reporting period, we have provided diversified
training for employees, with 42 participates in training
programmes and an average of 6.9 hours per employee.

Employees’ Health and Safety

Ensuring the health and safety of employees is the Group's
foremost concern. Strictly complying the Work Safety Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases
and other relevant laws and regulations, the Group's
Occupational Health and Safety Management Measures
(“"Health and Safety Measures”) guides the management and
mitigation of occupational health and safety risks across our
business units.
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To ensure proper use of protective equipment, our Health and
Safety Measures provides detailed guidelines for the
management and usage of safety products and equipment. The
Health and Safety Measures also outlines the procedures in the
event of any potential occupational health and safety hazard
and preventive measures for various occupational diseases such
as pneumoconiosis, eye diseases and occupational deafness.
All employees are required to strictly comply with relevant rules
and regulations. To avoid accidents, we provide pre-job training
for new joiners on the Health and Safety Measures, and deliver
regular training for all employees on various aspects such as fire
safety, electronic safety and the usage of safety equipment.

The Group strictly complies the regulation by the China
Maritime Safety Administration, where all Chinese crews
engaged in international navigations must possess seaman'’s
book issued by the Harbour Superintendence Administration of
the People’s Republic of China and other relevant certificates.
While the Group’s main business is asphalt tanker chartering,
our employees at the marine department and the technical
department are required to get on board for ship repairs and
maintenance. As such, we organize regular external training for
crews to ensure the validity of their seaman’s book and
certificates of basic safety training, advanced firefighting
training, proficiency training in first aid and security awareness.

For our vessel management business, we strictly abide by the
ISM Code to organize safety meetings as well as monthly
contingency drills and training.
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Our crew participating at the abandon ship and fire fighting drill
ZFiavs B 200 R KO R E

During the reporting period, there were no accidents in which
the Group suffered any injuries or death due to work, nor were
there any cases in which the Group was materially affected by
non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to
occupational health and safety.

PERFECTING OUR OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

As an asphalt tanker charter, the Group’s major suppliers range
from shipbroking companies, ship management companies,
ship manufacturers to parts and materials suppliers. With the
aim to ensure our product and service quality, we strive to
achieve comprehensive and effective supply chain
management.

When selecting new suppliers, in addition to price, we also
consider their quality, delivery time, service and ability in
technical development as well as the implementation of
environmental protection activities. Quality assessments are
conducted by the Group’s Purchasing Department annually in
terms of a similar set of criteria, including their quality,
documentation accuracy and rectification efficiency.
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To better manage environmental and social risks of suppliers,
we have formulated documents such as the Provisions on the
Management of Spare Ship Parts and Material Supply, the
Instruction for Vessel Asbestos Control and the Instruction for
Management of Medicines and First-aid Equipment on Ships.
For instance, it is specified in the Instruction for Vessel Asbestos
Control that all purchases of parts and materials with asbestos
are prohibited. The suppliers are also required to submit an
Asbestos Free Declaration Report or relevant laboratory
assessment report. If the supplier fails to provide relevant
documents, the parts and materials will be rejected.

During the reporting period, the Group has 10 major suppliers.

Eastern China Northeast China

Hong Kong and Macao
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Overseas Region

ER Rit BEERREM Mt E
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Product Responsibility EmEE

The Group believes the quality and reliability of the ships we
owned are of utmost importance to sustain our business and
uphold our mission of “safeguarding personnel health, ensuring
ship safety, and protecting marine environment”. We strictly
abide by relevant domestic and international laws and
regulations such as the ISM Code to secure navigational safety
and protect the marine environment. A comprehensive quality
control system was also set up for close monitoring the vessel
production process.

We value the comments and suggestions from customers and
seek to improve our product and service quality continuously.
All customers are welcomed to provide feedbacks through our
established channels including mail, telephone hotline and visit
in person. The Group's Complaint Handling Process clearly
stated the actions required upon receiving complaints and the
handling approaches for different types of complaints.
Throughout the reporting period, the Group did not receive any
complaints regarding the quality of our products and services.
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The Group advocates a high level of integrity and professional
ethics. We are committed to complying with laws and
regulations related to intellectual property rights and privacy
such as the Specifications for the Administration of Intellectual
Property Rights of Enterprises and the Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China. We developed the Company’s
Confidential Information Security System to manage the
Group's confidential information by hierarchies, as to avoid data
breaches and other information security incidents.

During the reporting period, the Group has no non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations concerning health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy issues.

Anti-corruption

The Group is dedicated to construct a fair, open and just
business environment. As such, we uphold the highest ethics
and governance standards in our business operations. The
Group strictly abide by the Company Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic
of China, Hong Kong's Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and
other relevant laws and regulations.

We adopt a zero-tolerance attitude towards any behaviour
related to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, and
have developed the Anti-corruption and Anti-bribery Code of
Conduct (“CoC”) and the Integrity and Self-disciplinary
Regulations (Provisional). The aforesaid guidelines set out the
standards of behaviour we expect of employees and the details
of our anti-corruption mechanism.

The Group spares no effort to promote integrity and prevents
unethical pursuits. In the CoC, we specifically require the
management to include fraud and corruption-related risks into
the scope of annual corporate risk assessment. Intending to
manage the risks systematically, we have assigned the audit
department as the regular department to handle any relevant
matters, and report to the Board and the Audit Committee
regularly. In order to enhance the awareness within the Group,
we provide anti-corruption training for all new employees, and
have set out the related requirements and standards in the
Employees’ Handbook.
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Besides implementing preventive measures, the Group has also
established a whistle-blowing policy for reporting fraud and
corruption. Our employees and any parties related to the Group
are encouraged to raise concerns about possible impropriety in
any matter by mail, telephone or email. To protect the whistle-
blowers, all reported cases are treated in confidence. The
reported cases will be investigated by the audit committee and
reported to the Board when necessary. Once the suspected
cases are confirmed, the party involved will be subjected to
disciplinary action or immediate dismissal.

During the reporting period, there were no cases of bribery,
extortion, fraud or money laundering involving the Group's
employee, nor were there any cases in which the Group was
materially affected by any breach of anti-corruption related laws
and regulations.

CARING FOR THE COMMUNITY

Community Investment

The Group deeply acknowledges the importance of developing
a harmonious relationship with the community while operating
our businesses. We strive to generate lasting value for the
community through supporting community development. Apart
from encouraging our business units and employees to take
part in community welfare and voluntary work, the Group
developed the Management Measures for the administration of
Charity and Public Welfare Activities to outline our community
policies such as the management of charity funds and the
organise requirements for community activities. The Group will
continue to seek opportunities to carry out community
investment projects and contribute to the sustainable
development of the society.
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE ESG GUIDE OF SEHK B X K

B -dHgRERESD

AESEAE]
Aspect KPls Content Relevant chapter/Remarks
=g ERERERE AR R, EE
A. Environment

A1 Emissions

112

R

B

General
Disclosure

— AR ER

A1

A1.2

A1.3

Information on:
BRABER MR ERBBHIR - Ak Rt
HEES BEREZEZEYNELSTH
(@) the policies; and
HER R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
BTHBETABEAZENHERE
e EAY
relating to air and greenhouse gas
emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

B o

The types of emissions and respective
emissions data.

BEmmtEsa AR R -

Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

BERBAYRE (CAMEGHE) & (1@

R EE(MASESEN - BIERME

= o
B

Total hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

EEXEEEEYHESE (UBEE) R (10
BR)ZE (A SESSEN - BIERE

-
ECOR
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Caring For The Environment
— Green Operation

AERE —HBEE

Caring For The Environment
— Green Office

WERS — RERAE

Caring For The Environment
— Environmental Key
Performance Table
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wE

Aspect KPls Content Relevant chapter/Remarks
=g ARERERE RE MEEES, R
Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
PREAEEREZEYEE (ANEETE) & (18
BA)BRE(WASESEMN - BBERE
u+7—r
A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate Caring For The Environment
emissions and results achieved. — Green Operation
fAUREHE R E i M PG RCR © BAERRE —GBLE
Al.6 Description of how hazardous and Caring For The Environment
non-hazardous wastes are handled, — Green Office
reduction initiatives and results FAEIRE —GEHATE
achieved.
M RREENEEEZYN L R
EELENEHEEABRR -

A2 Use of General Policies on the efficient use of resources, Caring For The Environment
Resources Disclosure including energy, water and other raw — Green Operation
BIREA — R ER materials. BAEIRIE —GBEE

BRERER(BIERIR - KREAMERM  Caring For The Environment
) HBGR — Green Procurement
BAEIRR — G BRE
Caring For The Environment
— Green Office
BAERRE —GENRAE
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy Caring For The Environment

consumption by type (e.g. electricity,

gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and

intensity (e.g. per unit of production

volume, per facility).

TE%E@%'J’J}EI’\JE% /SR REIR (40

ROl BHEE (U TETERGE

%TY@M&FEEI TR
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Performance Table
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Aspect KPls Content Relevant chapter/Remarks
=g RREMER KR MEEES, R
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
BFEKERER (WAGESEN - B8
RiEETHE)
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency Caring For The Environment
initiatives and results achieved. — Green Operation
et Be TR AR a5 &I M PSR R » ARIRRE —GBLE
Caring For The Environment
— Green Office
AERE —GEBRAE
A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue  Caring For The Environment
in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, — Green Office
water efficiency initiatives and results FARIRE —ERAE
achieved.
U SKEGE A 7KOR AT (EfRIFRIRE - BA
NIRTHRIK e 5T I RS RCR ©
A2.5 Total packaging material used for The use of packaging
finished products (in tonnes) and, if materials is not material to
applicable, with reference to per unit the Group due to our
produced. business nature.
HKmFAREEMHNEE CAMAE) BARERMANEHETE - ~&HE
K (@R ) §EESMIEE - WEXEERBEME -
A3 The General Policies on minimising the issuer’s Caring For The Environment
Environment Disclosure  significant impact on the environment — Green Operation
and Natural ~ —fR#ER and natural resources. BAERE —GBEE
Resources BRBEITABRRERRAEIREKEAXN  Caring For The Environment
RERRA TENBK - — Green Procurement
BIR FEIRE — R BRE
A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of ~ Caring For The Environment
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activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions taken
to manage them.
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Aspect KPls Content Relevant chapter/Remarks
=g ARERERE RE MEEES, R
B. Social

HE

Employment and Labour Practices

EIENE T EH

B1 Employment General

(=5

Disclosure
— MR EE

B1.1

B1.2

Information on: Caring For Our Employees

BEH M E - BEREI - TIER — Employees’ Rights and

B BE - FEHE ST REE Welfare
R H A I RAERI

BAEET — 8 THMN&ER

(@) the policies; and Caring For Our Employees
PR R — Employee Engagement

(b) compliance with relevant lawsand HBEET —B8ITHRAE

regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
BTHETABEAZENERE
2 MR B
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

ER: -

Total workforce by gender, employment
type, age group and geographical

region.
BRI - BRER - FikAR RitEEl
DHIEB B -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age
group and geographical region.
RIER - Fhedp Ktz o E B R
St o
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Aspect KPls Content Relevant chapter/Remarks

B RREMER KR MEEES, R

B2 Health and  General Information on: Caring For Our Employees
Safety Disclosure FBHRHEZE2THERERREES#HST — Employees’ Health and

EEEZe> —REER

B2.1

B2.2

B2.3

B3 Development General
and Training Disclosure

BREED  —REE

B3.1

BEMEEN

(@) the policies; and
126 33

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
BTHETABEAZENERE
R IR B

relating to providing a safe working

environment and protecting employees

from occupational hazards.

ER -

Number and rate of work-related
fatalities.

RIEBEMLTHABRLLE -

Lost days due to work injury.

EAIEREATIERE -

Description of occupational health and
safety measures adopted, how they are
implemented and monitored.

A TR B R AR R B 248 5 - A
NEBRITRERTE -

Policies on improving employees’
knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training
activities.
ERRAREBTIIEBRENABERK
BERVBUR o IR )EE o

The percentage of employees trained
by gender and employee category (e.g.
senior management, middle
management).

RIERIMEBER (R EERE - R

EEEF)EINEIREEDL
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Aspect
BmE

KPIs
BAREMER

Content Relevant chapter/Remarks

A& HEREE

B4 Labour
Standards
BT %A

B3.2

General
Disclosure

— R ER

B4.1

B4.2

The average training hours completed
per employee by gender and employee
category.

RERINEEERE D - SREETK
AR -

Information on: Caring For Our Employees

BRABILETHBRHSTH
(a) the policies; and Welfare

— Employees’ Rights and

BR & FAEET — B ITHANNETR

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
BTHETABEAZENERE
e TRl

relating to preventing child and forced

labour.

B o

Description of measures to review
employment practices to avoid child
and forced labour.

R ERBEAMERAREET M
SRHET o

Description of steps taken to eliminate
such practices when discovered.
MR RER ISR R BB
EREREY 28R -
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Content
AE

Relevant chapter/Remarks

MR fHE

Aspect KPIs

B BRENIER

Operating Practices

=ZEIED)

B5 Supply Chain General
Management Disclosure
HERER —REE

B5.1
B5.2

B6 Product General
Responsibility ~ Disclosure
EmEE — R ER

B6.2
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Policies on managing environmental
and social risks of the supply chain.

ERHERENRE N ERBREEK -

Number of suppliers by geographical
region.

iR R EHEE -

Description of practices relating to
engaging suppliers, number of suppliers
where the practices are being
implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.
AR RHERNED - MERT
BB HEEEREE - ARBEED
HVIT M BEER 70 ©

Information on:
EHFTREE R MRENRREZ 2 -
BE - BRERLEEEARMBRITED
(@) the policies; and
R - K
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
BTHETARER
EINERL
relating to health and safety,

FENMERA

advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of
redress.

B R -

Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are
dealt with.

B E m MRGHIRFEE AN E
Y% -
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Perfecting Our Operating
Practices — Supply Chain
Management

TEEEEN —HEEER

Caring For The Environment
— Green Procurement

FAERE — R ERE

Perfecting Our Operating
Practices — Product
Responsibility

TEEEEN —EmEE

Due to our business nature,
disclosure related to
product labelling is not
covered in this report.
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Aspect KPls Content Relevant chapter/Remarks
=g ARERERE RE MEEES, R
B6.3 Description of practices relating to

observing and protecting intellectual
property rights.
il B o RB A E R A B D) -

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection
and privacy policies, how they are
implemented and monitored.
fMOREE ERRERILEBBOR - AR
HERTRERT L -

B7 Anti- General Information on: Perfecting Our Operating
corruption Disclosure ~ BRAMIEFERS - $1F - BGFRIAERER - Practices — Anti-corruption
R&ESF —R B EE (@) the policies; and TEEEEN —RES
BER &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
BTHBEITABEAFENERE
EINERL

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and

money laundering.

ER -

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases
regarding corrupt practices brought
against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
RBEHAHBHTAIHEERDLD
BRNBETHARMNEE RFDRER -

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and
whistle-blowing procedures, how they
are implemented and monitored.
Tt B E AR i S B AR e - LA NMERE B
TRERTE-
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Aspect KPls Content Relevant chapter/Remarks
=g BARERERE RE MEEES, R
Community
R
B8 Community  General Policies on community engagement to Caring For The Community
Investment Disclosure  understand the needs of the Ealakad
HERE —RRIRER communities where the issuer operates
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and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’
interests.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B RS

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

T +852 2598 5123
F +852 2598 7230

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Xin
Yuan Enterprises Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 128 to 228, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

RSM Hong Kong

RSM
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T +852 2598 5123
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code"), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2 in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates the Group had net current liabilities
of US$33,639,000 as at 31 December 2019. As stated in Note 2,
this condition indicates that a material uncertainty exists that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. The key audit matter we identified is the
impairment assessment of vessels:
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
HARETEE

BFREEFTSEE ()

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWET N EERRET SR

Impairment assessment of vessels

o AR ORR B RT

Refer to Notes 17 & 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

IRMER B RS RERMITE17 18 ©

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s vessels
amounted to US$208,725,000, representing
95% of the Group's total assets. They are key
assets held by the Group and drive its
significant cash flows from the asphalt tanker
chartering services and bulk carrier chartering
services. The Group reviews the carrying
amount of its vessels at the end of each
reporting period if impairment indicators are
present.

R2019F12A31H BEXENMMAEREE
208,725,000, 7T 15 BREBEEIS% ° %
Er EEERANIZEE WEESMHE
MRS REEREMERERARERE . &
SERERENRENEAMMOERERSF
EREFR -

The impairment assessment requires
management to consider both internal and
external sources of information, in determining
whether there is any indication that any vessel
may have been impaired. The assessment of
whether impairment indicators are present
requires significant management judgement.
Accordingly, we considered this area a key
audit matter.

BEFGERKEEBECEEE RS APRBRE
o] #4 AA 7T BE 2 RUE B Z B A #8 K o B0 & KR
R HEREFERETFRTEEANEIRE
HIE o BUE - BB R EEBRREFE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s

impairment assessment included:

HMBEREEEREMMIHIEFEE

— Understand management’s impairment assessment

process;

— BEREEErREMN GBE

— Review profitability analysis for each vessel, current

vessel price and any changes in time and voyage

charter and rates; and

— TEHEEMMANBENEN DN HEMBERIAR

HIE R EA R ERNEAES &

— Challenge management'’s assessment of whether

indicators of impairment are present.

—  HBERBURTEEREN R -

BEREESERR AR /2019 FF;R

123



Independent Auditor’s Report
B 3% BAT R

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The
Other Information comprises all of the information included in
the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.
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AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, regarding among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % B RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Ms. Liu Fung Yi.

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

25 March 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
mEBEER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

2019 2018

2019 F 2018 4F

Notes US$'000 US$'000

B 5 FEx FET

Revenue &= 8 49,751 42,716
Cost of sales SHERAR (35,762) (28,225)
Gross profit EX 13,989 14,491
Other income =N 9 1,489 8,222
Administrative expenses THAX (2,535) (3,864)
Other operating expenses Ha @R (634) (7,110)
Exchange (losses)/gains, net FEH (B8), WS F5E (218) 343
Profit from operations KEREERN 12,091 12,082
Finance costs A& AR 11 (6,087) (5,469)
Profit before tax BR Bt A% A 6,004 6,613
Income tax expense PRSI 2 12 - -
Profit for the year FEREF 13 6,004 6,613

Earnings per share BEREF 16

Basis (cents per share) FA (=R 1.50 2.02
Diluted (cents per share) g (3R N/A T~ E F N/A A~ FH
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meEaRkEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

2019 2018
2019 F 20184
US$'000 US$'000
FER FET
Profit for the year FRaEA 6,004 6,613
Other comprehensive income: Hitt2EWKA :
Item that may be reclassified to AJBE ERT P AR EB I -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating MEGINETERIE K =58
foreign operations (18) (4)
Other comprehensive income RBENFREM2EERA
for the year, net of tax (18) (4)
Total comprehensive income FRE2HEKALLE
for the year 5,986 6,609
EREREEFRAF /2019 48K 129



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A IR &

As at 31 December 2019 72019412 A 31 H

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
Notes US$'000 US$'000
B 5 FEx FET
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ B NS 17 100,014 184,190
Right-of-use assets FHREEE 18 108,918 =
Total non-current assets kRBEEHE 208,932 184,190
Current assets RBEE
Derivative financial instruments PTESRT A 19 - 119
Inventories ey 20 1,508 949
Contract assets BHEE 29 373 =
Trade receivables B 5 WA 21 2,313 1,952
Other receivables, deposits and FEIRSRTE « 15E K&
prepayments SRR ] 22 1,643 4,199
Pledged bank deposits BIRFIRITER 23(a) 1,379 1,345
Bank and cash balances IRITMIR 8k 23(b) 2,817 18,260
Total current assets mEBEEHAE 10,033 26,824
TOTAL ASSETS EEH#E 218,965 211,014
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ERZREE
Share capital % A% 24 4,000 4,000
Reserves i 26 101,090 95,104
Total equity EREm 105,090 99,104
LIABILITIES =K
Non-current liabilities ERBERB
Borrowings R 27 24,938 32,101
Finance lease payables AR EENIA 28 - 56,760
Lease liabilities HEaRE 28 45,265 =
Total non-current liabilities ERBEEETE 70,203 88,861
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A BRI R

As at 31 December 2019 72019412 A 31 H

2019 2018
2019 2018 4F
Notes US$'000 US$'000
B EE FEx FET

Current liabilities REEE
Derivative financial instruments PTESRTE 19 286 167
Contract liabilities aHEaRE 29 187 869
Borrowings Bx 27 27,831 7,330
Finance lease payables rE R E R FIE 28 - 11,561
Lease liabilities HEaE 28 11,635 -
Trade payables 2 S ERNRIA 30 1,920 1,473
Other payables and accruals B IE R ERTE A 31 1,813 1,649
Total current liabilities RE S ERE 43,672 23,049
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES xR EEA%E 218,965 211,014

Approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2020 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Xu Wenjun
R

BEREESERR AR /2019 FF;R

Wang Faqing
EEE

MR2020F3A25HEEEEH# £ WA
THALTRREE :
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERBRBEXR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADAEEAER
Foreign
currency
Share Share  Capital  Merger translation Retained
capital premium  reserve  reserve  reserve Profits Total
HEBRE
Rx ROEE EXRE AHEE e RERA @t
US$'000  US$000  US$000  US$000  USF000  US$000  US$'000
TEr TEr TER FEr TER OTERT TER
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1 718 50 55073 9310 833 - 8689 74435
Total comprehensive income FREABANEE
for the year = = = = 4) 6,613 6,609
Share capitalisation (Note 24(il))  F&fn & Ak (B3 24(ii) 2470 2,470) = = - - -
Shares issued under the Global ~ RIEZIHREEHETH
Offering (Note 24(ii) Bt (B3E 24i)) 1000 17,060 - - - - 18060
Changes in equity for the year ERERE 3,470 14,590 = = (4) 6,613 24 669
At 31 December 2018 R2018E 127318 4,000 69,663 9,310 833 (4 15,302 99,104
At 1 January 2019 R2019%1 418 4,000 69,663 9,310 833 4 15302 99,104
Total comprehensive income FRZARAR
for the year and changes ERERE DR
in equity for the year - - - - (18) 6,004 5,986
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12A318 4,000 69,663 9,310 833 (22) 21,306 105,090
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
Notes US$'000 US$'000
B aE FEx F=T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING &ZE ZEIFIERERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax BB A 6,004 6,613
Adjustments for: T BBEELFE
Bank interest income HRITHFBHA 9 (227) (103)
Depreciation of property, Y - BB RRETE
plant and equipment 13 3,117 7,299
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {f A &EETE 13 6,065 =
Losses/(gains) on disposal of HESTESRMT A
derivative financial instrument a8, (Mzs) 13 5 )
Fair value losses/(gains) on TEemIAATE
derivative financial instruments BE (UhEs) 13 201 (302)
Finance costs BhE B 11 6,087 5,469
Unrealised exchange KEIRE H EE S (Uhzs)
losses/(gains) 211 (406)
Operating profit before working BB E S EERIL L m A
capital changes 21,463 18,569
Increase in inventories FEE (559) (316)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 FE W IALE AN (361) (514)
Increase/(decrease) in BAHEELN/ (D)
contract assets (373) 94
Decrease/(increase) in other HibEWEIE - 188 &
receivables, deposits Faft FRIEm A, (1)
and prepayments 2,556 (3,307)
(Decrease)/increase in AHERECHD), 1Em
contract liabilities (682) 438
Increase in trade payables B 5 FET sRIAIE AN 447 423
Increase/(decrease) in other HiGENRIB R ESTE A
payables and accruals #n, G ) 164 (8,791)
Cash generated from operations IRERTSIR S 22,655 6,596
Interest and bank charges paid ERMNERRITFES (1,868) (2,591)
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFE (4,194) -
Finance lease charges paid ENREHEER = (2,878)
Net cash generated from LE R ATISIRE ) F 5
operating activities 16,593 1,127
EREEEERRAT /2019 FF] 133



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MEBRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

2019 2018
2019 2018 4F
Notes US$'000 US$'000
B EE FEx F=T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZEFIERERE
ACTIVITIES
Increase in pledged bank deposits = # I $R 1T17 20 & N (34) 21
Decrease/(increase) in time deposit FHITFZOR L (3 h0) 23(c) 6,000 (6,000)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted SIREIRITESRR D (32 )
bank balances 23(b) 105 (166)
Interest received B U F B 227 103
Proceeds on disposals of derivative HE&E(TE SR T EFTSFUA
financial instruments 32 1
Purchases of property, BEVE  HWEKIEB
plant and equipment (33,726) (7,960)
Net cash used in investing activities K& /ZBFTRIR & F58 (27,396) (14,043)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BtEZEFRERERE
ACTIVITIES
Advance from related companies BBt N K 32(b) - 3,186
Repayment to related companies  [AIEAE A A& 32(b) = (3,776)
Drawdown from finance leases HRmEHREEL 32(b) = 37,618
Principal elements of lease HMENREEIH D
payments (2018: Repayment of (20184 : B3R
finance lease payables) mEHEREMNFIE) 32(b) (11,649) (8,756)
Borrowings raised EUNEEN 32(b) 22,752 =
Repayment of borrowings EiEEx 32(b) (9,625) (23,854)
Proceeds from issue of shares BT SR IA = 18,060
Net cash generated from financing E&E EEFTEIR & 558
activities 1,478 22,478
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEHESRER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
Notes US$'000 US$'000
B 5 FEx FET
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN BHERBEEEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Ri4»), /48 i858 (9.325) 9,562
Effect of foreign exchange INETE RS FH R E
rate changes (13) 4)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS M1 B1HRERER
AT 1 JANUARY BEEEY 10,421 863
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS A12A31BWE£K
AT 31 DECEMBER HEZEEY 1,083 10,421
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND ReERREEBYH M
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances RIT IR & ek 2,817 18,260
Less: Restricted bank balances T R HIIRTT A B 23(b) (1,734) (1,839)
Less: Bank deposits with original & : REIEAR BB =187
maturity beyond three months HIRITE R 23(c) - (6,000)
1,083 10,421
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

136

GENERAL INFORMATION

Xin Yuan Enterprises Group Limited (the "Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
on 28 June 2016. The address of its registered office is P.O.
Box 31119, Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay
Road, Grand Cayman KY1-1205, Cayman Islands. The
address of its principal place of business in Hong Kong is
40th Floor, Sunlight Tower, No. 248 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong. The Company's share are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 36
to the consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA"). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKAS"); and Interpretations. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
"Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

At 31 December 2019, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately US$33,639,000, which principally resulting
from the drawdown of unsecured borrowings of
approximately US$20,452,000 for the purpose of acquiring
two vessels. This condition indicates the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
therefore, it may be unable to realise its assets and
discharges its liabilities in the normal course of business.

XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2019

—RER
EREEEBAER AR ARRAT])
R2016F6A28AREBEHESHEE R
REERSHEES M - Hif
WEFEIHAEAP.O. Box 31119, Grand
Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West
Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1205, Cayman Islands ° E B/ B X &
HEMEMU AEBEFERANE
R 24853 15 04048 » KA RIAR
MREBBE R AR AR ([
AT ERET ©

KABBREER AT - EMEBA
AT EEKEHNGE MR
RFE36 -

A
AZEREMBRERIRBELSS
fag((BEETMA®])EHZ
FRBEREAMBREEN(ER
mEER D) MRS - FBHME
HELUBEBEEMBERE LR
ARG EN(EBGER]):
k- ZEHRAMBRETTE
X PrRE o E AR AN (T EWARAD
ZERBEERTE  URBBRAIK
(5 622F) 2 WEMRE - AEEFT
RN BEXGTERN FRE -

2019512 A31H » REBAARS
B & FEEX33,639,000% 7T ' TEE
£ REE WA M IR B I
B3 #)20,452,000 € 7T ° AR ER
EFERMNEARTHBPREE MR —

MEGBAEPAGEBELIEREAEE
KBEaE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given careful consideration
to the current and anticipated future liquidity of the Group
and the ability of the Group to continue to attain profitable
and positive cash flows from operations in the immediate
and longer terms. In order to strengthen the Group's
liquidity in the foreseeable future, the directors of the
Company have taken the following measures:

— A related company has agreed to extend the
repayment date of loans to the Group amounted to
approximately US$11,736,000 from November 2020
to November 2021. The aforesaid supplementary
agreement with a related company was signed on 9
March 2020.

— On 12 March 2020, the Group entered into two
finance leases with a financial institution for
US$18,000,000 with the pledge of two vessels of the
Group for a period of five years. Further on 23 March
2020, the Group received US$17,100,000 from the
financial institution.

The directors of the Company have taken into account the
cash requirements of the Group for the next twelve months
from the end of the reporting period and the above
measures, the directors have concluded that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to meet in full its
financial obligations as they fall due and accordingly the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to
continue as a going concern, adjustments would have to
be made to the financial statements to adjust the value of
the Group's assets and to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
liabilities as current assets and liabilities, respectively.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3. BRI RGBT EBMB R

=

[= R et

138

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16
Leases, and a number of amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective for the current accounting period of
the Group.

Except for HKFRS 16, none of the developments have
had a material effect on how the Group's results and
financial position for the current or prior periods have
been prepared or presented. The Group has not
applied any new standard or interpretation that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 supersedes HKAS 17 Leases, and the
related interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC) 15
Operating Leases-Incentives and HK(SIC) 27
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease. HKFRS 16 introduced a
single accounting model for lessees, which requires a
lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability for all leases, except for leases that have a
lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-
value assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3. BRAFET RELIETE BB ER
(Continued) H28 (&)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

(Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to
classify leases as either operating or finance leases
using similar principles as in HKAS 17. Therefore,
HKFRS 16 did not have an impact or leases where the
Group is the lessor. The lessor accounting
requirements are brought forward from HKAS 17
substantially unchanged.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to
enable users of the financial statements to assess the
effect that leases have on the financial position,
financial performance and cash flows of an entity.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1
January 2019. The Group has elected to use the
modified retrospective approach and has therefore
recognised the cumulative effect of initial application
as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity at
1 January 2019. Comparative information has not
been restated and continues to be reported under
HKAS 17.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes
to previous accounting policies and the transition
options applied are set out below:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

140

(a)

New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly
relates to the concept of control. HKFRS 16
defines a lease on the basis of whether a
customer controls the use of an identified asset
for a period of time, which may be determined
by a defined amount of use. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct
the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease
in HKFRS 16 only to contracts that were entered
into or changed on or after 1 January 2019. For
contracts entered into before 1 January 2019,
the Group has used the transitional practical
expedient to grandfather the previous
assessment of which existing arrangements are
or contain leases. Accordingly, contracts that
were previously assessed as leases under HKAS
17 continue to be accounted for as leases under
HKFRS 16 and contracts previously assessed as
non-lease service arrangements continue to be
accounted for as executory contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

(b)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a
lessee to classify leases as either operating
leases or finance leases, as was previously
required by HKAS 17. Instead, the Group is
required to capitalise all leases when it is the
lessee, including leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, other than
those short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets which are exempt.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases
previously classified as operating leases, the
Group has applied the incremental borrowing
rates of the relevant group entities at the date of
initial application. The weighted average
incremental borrowing rate applied is 15%.

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the Group
applied the following recognition exemption
and practical expedients at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16:

(i) elected not to apply the requirements of
HKFRS 16 in respect of the recognition of
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets to
leases for which the remaining lease term
ends within 12 months from the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, i.e. where
the lease term ends on or before 31
December 2019;
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

142

(b)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact

(Continued)

(i) used hindsight based on facts and
circumstances as at date of initial
application in determining the lease term
for the Group's leases with extension
options;

(iii) excluded initial direct costs from measuring

the right-of-use assets at the date of initial

application; and

(iv) relied on the assessment of whether leases

are onerous by applying HKAS 37 as an

alternative to an impairment review.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group
recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are
attributable to the right-of-use assets or the
lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease
liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income
Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to
application of the initial recognition exemption.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3.
(Continued)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

(Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

(b)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact

(Continued)

The following table reconciles the operating

lease commitments as disclosed in Note 34 as at
31 December 2018 to the opening balance for
lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019:

RANHR] R RIER] & B IR

H28 (&)

(a) HAFIRRIETEBYMIE
HAER| (48)

ERMBREENFE16FEE

(%)

(b) FEHEACTEERBESY
Z(18)
TREHIMFM4TEER
2018 12A31H 2 & &
HEAEHENR2019F1 A
1HERAZHEABE/NE

SRR
US$'000
FET
Operating lease commitment at MR2018F 12 A31HZ
31 December 2018 RRETHERIE 283
Less: Commitments relating to lease B EBRRENMEZHERN
exempt from capitalization: ZIERYE
— short-term leases and other — #R NHEIR 2019 F
leases with remaining lease 12 A31 B2 A& R
term ending on or before ZREHHEEREMES
31 December 2019 (32)
— leases of low-value assets —KEBEEEHE (7)
244
Less: total future interest expenses W RRFEFAX B (45)
Present value of remaining lease KA2019F1A1B 2
payments, discounted using the EEERMEIRIRZ
incremental borrowing rate as at BTSN RIRE
1 January 2019 199
Add: Finance lease liabilities recognised il : 7220184 12 A 31 H##ER
as at 31 December 2018 ZBEHERE 68,321
Lease liabilities recognised R2019F1B1BHERZ
as at 1 January 2019 HEERE 68,520
Of which are: Hr
Current lease liabilities RBEEAE 11,620
Non-current lease liabilities ERBHEERR 56,900
68,520
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

144

(b)

Lessee accounting and transitional impact
(Continued)

The right-of-use assets in relation to leases
previously classified as operating leases have
been recognised at an amount equal to the
amount recognised for the remaining lease
liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to that lease
recognised in the statement of consolidated
financial position at 31 December 2018.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments ("HKFRS
9") and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

So far as the impact of the adoption of HKFRS
16 on leases previously classified as finance
leases is concerned, the Group is not required
to make any adjustments at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, other than changing
the captions for the balances. Accordingly,
instead of “Finance leases payables”, these
amounts are included within “Lease liabilities”,
and the depreciated carrying amount of the
corresponding leased assets is identified as
right-of-use assets. There is no impact on the
opening balance of equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a)
(Continued)

3. AT RGBT EBYBER
HER(B)

A RSB E BB

HERA (&)

[ =R Pt
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) ERVBEREENE16%EE
(#8)
(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (b) FEHANSIEIERBEE

(Continued)

The following table summaries the impacts of
the adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position:

(&)

TR AR A E B R 55,
EEAF 16 E A EB L
BYBRRKRIZE

Effects of adoption of HKFRS 16
RABERBREENE 16K HE

Carrying Carrying
amount as at amount as at
Line items in the consolidated statement of financial 31 December Recognition 1 January
position impacted by the adoption of HKFRS 16 2018  Reclassification of leases 2019
R2018% R2019%
12A318 1A18
FRNBEMBREEAE 16 RYEZRAMBHRRER ZEEE B¥2E HERD ZIREE
Note US$'000 US$:000 US$000 US$/000
fitet TEL TEL TER TEL
Assets 8B
Right-of-use assets PREsE = 114,787 199 114,986
Property, plant and equipment nE  BERRE ) 184,190 (114,787) = 69,403
Liabilities 8%
Lease liabilties HERE - 68,321 199 68,520
Finance lease payables HEHERMNTA (i) 68,321 (68,321) = =
Note: ks
(i) In relation to assets previously under finance leases, (i) M MEHETHNEE
the Group recategorises the carrying amount of the mE - NEEGR20194F
relevant assets which were still leased as at 1 January 1TR1BIMARE 2 HEE
2019 amounting to US$114,787,000 as right-of-use E 2 BRTE 114,787,000 3
assets. TTEND B REREAE -
(i)  The Group reclassified the obligation under finance (i) HR2019F1A18H X &£

E % g & HE T
11,561,000% 7T K&
56,760,000k L 2 EE &
o AREERE 7l
P AR RIEREELRE -

leases of US$11,561,000 and US$56,760,000 to lease
liabilities as current and non-current liabilities
respectively at 1 January 2019.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

146

(c)

Impact of the financial results and cash flows of
the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019, the
Group as a lessee is required to recognise
interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the
depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of
the previous policy of recognising rental
expenses incurred under operating leases on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. This
results in a positive impact on the reported
profit from operations in the Group's
consolidated statement of profit or loss, as
compared to the results if HKAS 17 had been
applied during the year.

In the cash flow statement, the Group as a
lessee is required to split rentals paid under
capitalised leases into their principal element
and interest element (Note 32(c)). These
elements are classified as financing cash
outflows and operating cash outflows
respectively. Although total cash flows are
unaffected, the adoption of HKFRS 16 therefore
results in a significant change in presentation of
cash flows within the cash flow statement (Note
32(c)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

(c)

Impact of the financial results and cash flows of
the Group (Continued)

The following tables give an indication of the
estimated impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16
on the Group's financial result and cash flows for
the year ended 31 December 2019, by adjusting
the amounts reported under HKFRS 16 in these
consolidated financial statements to compute
estimates of the hypothetical amounts that
would have been recognised under HKAS 17 if
this superseded standard had continued to
apply in 2019 instead of HKFRS 16, and by
comparing these hypothetical amounts for 2019
with the actual 2018 corresponding amounts
which were prepared under HKAS 17.

3. BRAHIREBITEBUKR
HER(B)

[= R et

(a) RAHTREBITERYHK

HERA (&)

BRAMBRERENE1655HEE

(#8)

(c)
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3. BRaFFEI REEITEBHBR

(Continued) H28 (&)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) HKAHMIRKEITEBHK
(Continued) HER (8)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) ERMBREEANFE167EE
(&)
(c) Impact of the financial results and cash flows of (c) HAREEKEERE D
the Group (Continued) mECwE (8)
2019 2018
2019F 018F
Deduct:
Estimated
amounts
related to
Add back: operating  Hypothetical Compared
Amounts HKFRS 16 lease as amounts to amounts
reported  depreciation if under for2019  reported for
under  and interest HKAS 17 asifunder 2018 under
HKFRS 16 expense (Note 1) HKAS 17 HKAS 17
%5
ReEHEL

e - EE it e8E 2019F2
REZE HEREEN (BOREEE BREE REFELH

Financial result MRS Z16%T e € (BOBBEE ENEUR
for year ended SHEABANHRS F16HR2H2 WHER E17%) SRR H018F2F
31 December 2019 ERZ165Er ¢85 FEEX (BtzE1) B17%) ZEEUE
impacted by the adoption ~ EZ2019%12A31H US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US§'000
of HKFRS 16: LEECEBES: TEn TEn S TR TEn
Profit from operation LR 12,091 72 (87) 12,076 12,082
Finance costs BB (6,087) 25 = (6,062) (5,469)
Profits before taxation BB AR 6,004 97 (87) 6,014 6,613
Profit for the year EREn 6,004 97 (87) 6,014 6,613
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3. BRaFFEI REEITEBHBR

(Continued) H28 (&)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (a) HAFIRRIETEBYMIE
(Continued) HAER| (48)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) ERVBBEEAF167EE
(#8)
(c) Impact of the financial results and cash flows of (c) HAREERKEERE D
the Group (Continued) mEzwE (8)
2019 2018
2019% 185
Estimated
amounts
related to

operating  Hypothetical Compared
Amounts  leasesasif  amountsfor  toamounts

reported under 2019 asif  reported for

under HKAS 17 under 2018 under

HKFRS 16 (Notes 1&2) HKAS 17 HKAS 17
FRgens

AT ] 2019% BEER
BEEE (ENREEE BReE Rl

Line items in the consolidated B REER BiHER (EMREBER EAVE
cash flow statement for year SRGEBRBRE F165%2H F175) SRR 2011852
ended 31 December 2019 BHE 165 ECEE 2¢8  (F1R2) F17%) ZEBHR
impacted by the adoption of 201951231 HILEE US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US§'000
HKFRS 16: ZERARERERER Tin TR SE T
Cash generated from operations ReEL RS 22,655 (87) 22,568 6,59
Interest element of lease rentals paid ~ EAHERE 2 FIEHH (4,194) - (4,194) (2878)
Net cash generated from RETHELIRLTE

operating activities 16,593 (87) 16,506 1121
Net cash generated from RETDELVELTH

financing activities 1,478 87 1,565 22478
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(Continued)
(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

150

(c)

Impact of the financial results and cash flows of

the Group (Continued)

Note:

The "estimated amounts related to operating leases”
is an estimate of the amounts of the cash flows in 2019
that relate to leases which would have been classified
as operating leases, if HKAS 17 had still applied in
2019. This estimate assumes that there were no
difference between rentals and cash flows and that all
of the new leases entered into in 2019 would have
been classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, if
HKAS 17 had still applied in 2019. Any potential net
tax effect is ignored.

In this impact table these cash outflows are reclassified
from financing to operating in order to compute
hypothetical amounts of net cash generated from
operating activities and net cash used in financing
activities as if HKAS 17 still applied.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 3. BREAFET RKETBEBHKR

(Continued) H28 (&)
(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet (b)y SHEMEHRERNIFTR
effective RIETTEBMBREER
The Group has not early applied new and revised REBEWEREFEMAD BB
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet mAR2019F1A1B RSB 2
effective for the financial year beginning 1 January BN A 5T 5] R B =T
2019. These new and revised HKFRSs include the BBV BMELER] o ZFEFF]
following which may be relevant to the Group. MBI B BN G HmEER R
FErgeEARERAN T %
15 o

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RELT BEE 2%
R ETTHBEN
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business 1 January 2020
BBV BHREERFE IR (EFIR) EBNEER 20201 A 18
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material 1 January 2020
ERGFEAE 1R EEBGHEA B8R (BRI RN) ERNTEE 202061 A 18
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 1 January 2020
ERMBHRELERE N - FEFTLERIFE 395K
BERMBMELERE 758 (BT AR) P REENE 202061 A 18
The Group is in the process of making an assessment REB EHETAZFER R
of what the impact of these amendments and new FTAERITE BRI B X FE R HARE /Y
standards is expected to be in the period of initial FE -HEBR  HER/LA
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption o R & IBAKA]
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the RUEGAMBRRELEEAY
consolidated financial statements. 2o
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

4,

152

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, unless
mentioned otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g.
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair
value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries
are entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect
the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability
to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which

control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(a) Consolidation (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (ii) the Company's share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statements of financial
position and consolidated statements of changes in
equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statements of profit or
loss and consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between the non-controlling shareholders and
owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

4. EEBEFEE®E)
(a) #HEMRE (8

E &K B A R 8 BRI
ﬂ%m% sHEEANHER
B 8D FE IR BB 7 5%
BRARIEE N D FE R (i)
NEEEZ B AR EEFRE
MEﬂﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁEﬂﬁﬁ&
BB A E M RTINS R E R
WA Z58 o

SEARBIMRS - #EHEK
BRGNTAHE - RIS
RHECEZREERRERE
BRIRSIREIE IR T AL -
MEBABNEHRRELER
SERENR  UBREANEH
PRERAEVER SR — 2K -

FEREREARBTEERR
AR EHEK B QRS - 3F
TR TN AR B B IR &
FirAEm B RMNEDAZ
W RiFERaEME2EK
EW IR ER RS AF
N R 2R ABBREIE
RIRERERRBEE A ZREH
vl

ox I H 2 IR A S 4B AR SR
BRARNGHEA ARIEE
R - BN BRI R
MIARTEER -

Bk %8 D
ff%%m

BEREESERR AR /2019 FF;R 153



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

154

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Company's ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions
with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to the owners of the
Company.

In the Company'’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in United
States dollars (“USD"), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(b) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Transactions and balances in each entity's
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting
period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in foreign currencies are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates when the fair
values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the
Group entities that have a functional currency
different from the Company’s presentation
currency are translated into the Company's
presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b) Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Translation on consolidation (Continued)

156

— Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates for the period
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the foreign currency
translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal.

(c) Property, plant and equipment

(i)

Vessels

Vessels under leases (upon application of HKFRS
16 at 1 January 2019, the interest in Vessels were
see Note 3)
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation

reclassified to “Right-of-use assets”,

and impairment losses.

Vessels (other than the abovementioned vessels
under leases and the dry-docking component)
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of 10-25 years, after taking
into account the estimated residual values. The
estimated useful lives are reviewed annually.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(c) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Vessels (Continued)

Upon acquisition of a vessel, the components of
the vessel which are required to be replaced at
the next dry-docking are identified and their
costs are depreciated over the period to the
next estimated dry-docking date. Costs incurred
on subsequent dry-docking of the vessels are
capitalised and depreciated over the period to
the next estimated dry-docking date. When
significant dry-docking costs incurred prior to
the expiry of the depreciation period, the
remaining costs of the previous dry-docking are
written off immediately.

Vessels under construction are stated at cost
less impairment losses. Depreciation begins
when the relevant assets are available for use.

Other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are
incurred.
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4,
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(c) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
(i) Other property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

Depreciation of other property, plant and
equipment is calculated at rates sufficient to
write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Office equipment & motor vehicle

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation

method are reviewed and adjusted,

appropriate, at the end of each reporting

period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or

loss.

(d) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that

use.

The Group as lessee
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all

leases.

XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2019

20%-33%

4. FESTBEE)

(c)

M - BERRE(E)

(i) HiW%E BEERRKE
(&)
HW % - Bz KRR EBIA
B ARRIR B A 8 H KA
BRI EEML X - R

SRR EHETEITE -
EBFERWMT -

WAKRENR 20%-33%
/‘L$

RIEREE - 7T 62 & B
FETENERSHARE
TR MBR (ER)

LEWE - BERZED
BEREEMERIEFE
éﬁiﬁfaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ'%@
=5 WNMEREER

(d) HE

RERAGE  AEEFES
AREA%EEHE - MaF
RBBREmMS TE -BREH
PYE I A] 38 Rl B E fE A A
MoAleRARXEEHE . B
EFPHRAETNERAIEAIEE
AREERAIBAEEESRE
REB D BN - AESE
4 o

KEBIEAEBEA
H20194F 1 A1 H # & /F 89 %
®
ﬁuéﬁ SHEMOMIEHE
$$.LETEA#E
B ERENZAE
EXD ﬂ&ﬂﬁﬁ#ﬂ&%

ARIIEE—HERD

/fa':_L



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (Continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus
any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

4. EEBEFEE®E)
(d) HEW@®)

AEBEERBEABEA(E)

B 20194 1 A1 H # 8 /F 89 %
w(E)

REERKBHEE  AEERER
FHEEEMHEERRE  BH
HAI2EAS A THEEHEE
MEBEBEEMRERIN - EXE
EREEEESTVHAER K
SEETREREEZREER
ft- B ERAEFRARER
tHERBBHARRCERE
FZ o

WMEEENME HEABER
ZHBMARNESNRERE
R WEAEERSF X (RN
ZAMEEEANETE - ARE
FRIEEE M) IR - RER
BRER HEABAESRKN
B FEFXRIERERRF
FEBTE - THURR A
ENRAIEHE YT ARESR
BT E - B b 3RS A
RO HEN BRI -

HEENEEHRNEREE
EBRBKAGE  BHREE
BEMREEMARAE B
HZAIEHNEMES - AR
TSI B A 1 08 BB AR
ER - EREEEKABE
AR E EE TR AR
BEEXMEHEBEENGNX
A FREERE HEMNE
WHERE - EREEEHR
RN RET T EFRER &
FIIfR

FREEEEARRDF /2019 FFR 159
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continued)
(d) Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)
Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in the
Group's estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is
a change arising from the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase, extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not
meet the definition of investment properties and
lease liabilities separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Policy prior to 1 January 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the Group
classified leases as finance leases if the leases
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group. Leases which did not
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group were classified as operating
leases.

Where the Group acquired the use of assets under
finance leases, the amounts representing the fair
value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present
value of the minimum lease payments, of such assets
were recognised as property, plant and equipment
and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance
charges, were recorded as obligations under finance
leases. Depreciation was provided at rates which
wrote off the cost or valuation of the assets over the
term of the relevant lease or, where it was likely the
Group would obtain ownership of the asset, the life
of the asset. Finance charges implicit in the lease
payments were charged to profit or loss over the
period of the leases so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of charge on
the remaining balance of the obligations for each
accounting period. Contingent rentals were charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they
were incurred.

Where the Group had the use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases
were charged to profit or loss in equal instalments
over the accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis was more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived
from the leased asset. Lease incentives received were
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the
aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent
rentals were charged to profit or loss in the
accounting period in which they were incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(d) Leases (Continued)

162

(e)

(f)

The Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease
or an operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance
lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying
assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is
classified as an operating lease.

Inventories

Inventories comprise bunker and lubricant oil for
vessels remaining on board at the end of the
reporting period. Inventories are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
using the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is
the expected amount to be realised from use as
estimated by the directors/management.

Contract assets and contract liabilities
Contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment
terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for expected credit losses (“ECL") in
accordance with the policy set out in Note 4(u) and
are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on
a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESTTBER @)

(Continued)

(f) Contract assets and contract liabilities ) BHEERGHNERE(E)
(Continued)
When the contract includes a significant financing HMENBREEAREISY &
component, the contract balance includes interest HERBERBERN BAR
accrued under the effective interest method. HHEETF B o

(g) Recognition and derecognition of financial () BRRKRIBERESEIA

instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
when the Group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
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expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and EREBEIHEERZEE
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of Fﬁﬁ%m%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ [\ Bz K% [B] )

the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
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rewards of ownership and continues to control the BRIy EME RE R I
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interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(g) Recognition and derecognition of financial

164

(h)

(i)

instruments (Continued)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group's obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a
contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the

effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(j). Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are
also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are

assessed for ECL.

(k) Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

() Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective

interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after

the reporting period.

4. FESTBEE)

)

(k)

U]

ReRREEEY

RehReTEMERRITR
FERE RITKEMBE B
BHERFRARBARR=
i AR BRI B R A E A
SHEASNESNSRAMY A
BENRERR NANKE - &£
RAEGREHERERK  RE
R EBYMBIHARENR
EEMBRARERSEE—
MOMRTEX - RERRE
HEYIAREE BTG -

TREERKRATA
TRABERATAREDA
VEHZHRNAT BB
BEEANBETHEREENMK
ATEMERETOR - BA
TEAREMAEARAKSENRE
FIBERERNFBREEEDH
BRI LATEHINBREFESR
BEEBATAMRAN S
BUR e

& =K

tER i N FE R AELE
RHRA)HER - HEREAER
MR R I BEHAANGT & o

BROBEARBBE  BRIER
SEEZEEKEENTSER
BENERHEEEREHESR
D12M@A o

FREEEEARRDF /2019 FFR 165



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(m) Trade and other payables

166

(n)

(o)

(p)

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at
their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the
end of each reporting period.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from voyage charter and contract of
affreightment ("CoA") is recognised over time when
the asphalt tanker chartering services are performed.

Revenue from vessel management services is

recognised over time when the management services
are performed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(p) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from asphalt trading is recognised when
control of the goods has transferred, being when the
goods have been shipped to the customer’s specific
location (delivery). Following delivery, the customer
has full discretion over the manner of distribution and
price to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility
when on selling the goods and bears the risks of
obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. A
receivable is recognised by the Group when the
goods are delivered to the customer as this
represents the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Rental income from time charter and bulk carrier
charter is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
period of each charter, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease
incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(q) Employee benefits

168

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue
to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time
of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit
or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of the dates when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs
and involves the payment of termination
benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and
used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset,
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset.
The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other
than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of
obtaining a qualifying asset. Effective 1 January 2019,
any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale
is included in the general borrowing pool for
calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(s) Taxation

170

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
recognised in profit or loss because of items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. Deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities,
the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets
or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are
not recognised at initial recognition and over the
lease terms due to application of the initial
recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

172

(t)

(u)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is
written down as an expense through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of
the individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated
future cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit.
Present values are computed using pre-tax discount
rates that reflect the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit whose
impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are
allocated first against the goodwill of the unit and
then pro rata amongst the other assets of the cash-
generating unit. Subsequent increases in the
recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they
reverse the impairment.

Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
trade receivables and contract assets. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u) Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance
for that financial instrument at an amount equal to

12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after

the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

174

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. Forward-
looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group's
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert
reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies,
relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations,
as well as consideration of various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group's core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4. FESTBEE)

(Continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contracts

assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

— significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if:

() The financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(i) The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term, and

(i) Adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

W EREEREGHNEERE

(%)

FEHFﬁ’killmi“jJﬂ(i:)
RI—ESANEtMSET
AmEERBRAEIEN

— BERAEE  QEIEM

RENBEERABHEART

FEEE - BHEBEARET
EEBRETWEIARIET
[ o

T\Eﬁt?ﬁﬁﬁéﬁ%’ REER
W & #) T 8 B AR B 30
CRAEREEZEERRA
%ﬂfﬁﬁ@n@%?ﬁﬁﬁﬂlaﬂi@ﬂ]ﬂ He
REERBEERBWABEXR
ZERBRERLIELL - Bl
YERIG® °

BEALAATE  BER|REAB
HemTAWATAREEGRE
EERR AfBeBREZERE
TEMEERRB TS ERNU
RAARKIEIE N - EATER
T imﬂl,\a%ﬁiiﬂmﬁﬂﬁ
RIEEER

() TMIAEFREEROE

G
N

iy EBABRBENETT
AHMNEHNReREER
T &

(i) HMEBELBARREORDD
F 8 B) 15 T 45 1B K 0 B 4
ﬂEEFtW\AEf:I/m\ ’]fﬁi//lb
EHFEHEESN -

EREXEEERAT /2019 FF1] 175
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

176

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low
credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of
“investment grade” in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not
available, the asset has an internal rating of
"performing”. Performing means that the
counterparty has a strong financial position and there
is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria
are generally not recoverable.

when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2019

4. FEESTBEE)

(u)

TRMEERENEERE
(#&)

FERBRAEEM(E)
REERR  SREFRAEMN
ZEE TBMEEMNIINEEE
AR AR [ RER ] SIS
WAL AABFER/IR
o] AIZReREERARERE
Rk RFERSHFASR
58 A B B 5 AR R B I £ 280 HA 3R
15 o

ARETHEEARNABIEE
[ B 2 B K 1@ 38 A0 &Y 2 BRI BX
B WHRBE B EHER I
R ZE 1| A] 10 < BR 78 B BT o8
EERBRRARIE M -

BHONESR
REBRRATBARAIME
ERBREZEBNMSHENELD
EH ARABERLRKRATE
AN ] — R fGR F 2 B M 3R IR
—REAWE o

RHIEFERVBRE
"

—  REBELSKEIREIMEBK
RZEREKR  BHAT
KA gEREEA(BRER
S8 2RER(TEEXR
SERFANERERAR) -

N Lot AEBRR -
EeREEBARBEBOR - ]
BOBKEE  BRIFAEER
BREYAREBEXR AR
RIHEERENENEEER
B -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

— the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
counterparty’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the counterparty a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

— it is becoming probable that the counterparty
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

—  The disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

178

(u)

Impairment of financial assets and contracts
assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward looking
information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by
the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting
date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a
lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining
the expected credit losses is consistent with the cash
flows used in measuring the lease receivable in
accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1 January 2019) or
HKAS 17 (prior to 1 January 2019).

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines
at the current reporting date that the conditions for
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures
the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

(w)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and
a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide
additional information about the Group’s position at
the end of the reporting period or those that indicate
the going concern assumption is not appropriate are
adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated
financial statements. Events after the reporting period
that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements when
material.

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY ESTIMATES
Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the

directors have made the following judgement that has the

most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the

consolidated financial statements (apart from those

involving estimates, which are dealt with below).
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

5.

180

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the Group meets its
day-to-day working capital requirements through its
continuous positive operating cashflow and the bank and
other facilities. Details are explained in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(@) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly
in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be supported by
the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use,
the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset;
and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be
applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset (including
right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the assets belongs. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the
growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test.

The carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as at 31 December
2019 were approximately US$100,014,000 (2018:
US$184,190,000) and US$108,918,000 (2018:Nil)
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

5.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENT AND KEY ESTIMATES
(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Income taxes

Significant estimates are required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made. No provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax, Singapore Corporate Income
Tax and the People's Republic of China (the “PRC")
Corporate Income Tax was made since the Group
had no assessable profit for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2019.

Impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets

The management of the Group estimates the amount
of impairment loss for ECL on trade receivables and
contract assets based on the credit risk of trade
receivables and contract assets. The amount of the
impairment loss based on ECL model is measured as
the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. Where the future
cash flows are less than expected, or being revised
downward due to changes in facts and circumstances,
a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of
trade receivables and contract assets is US$2,686,000
(2018: US$1,952,000) and no allowance of doubtful
debts was made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on

the Group's financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

182

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency
risk as some of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of respective Group entities
such as Singapore dollars ("SGD") and Renminbi
(“RMB”). During the year, the Group entered into
foreign currency forward contracts to hedge the
foreign currency risk in respect of bank loans
denominated in SGD. The Group monitors its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider further its
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

At 31 December 2019, if USD had strengthened/
weakened 5 per cent against SGD with all other
variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax
for the year would have been approximately
US$833,000 (2018: US$1,007,000) higher/lower, arising
mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gains/
losses on bank loans denominated in SGD.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet
its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The
Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating
activities (primarily trade receivables) and from its
financing activities, including deposits with banks and
financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions
and other financial instruments. The Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents and derivative financial assets is limited
because the counterparties are banks and financial
institutions with high credit-rating assigned by
international credit-rating agencies, for which the
Group considers to have low credit risk.

(i) Trade receivables and contracts assets
Customer credit risk is managed by each
business unit subject to the Group’s established
policy, procedures and control relating to
customer credit risk management. Individual
credit evaluations are performed on all
customers requiring credit over a certain
amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables, for voyage charter, generally
are due within five business days after
completion of cargo loading. For CoA, generally
are due within three business days after
completion of cargo discharging. For demurrage
claims, the balance are normally are due within
30 days after the finalisation. For asphalt trading,
the balance is normally paid within 30 days after
the invoice date. Debtors with balances that are
more than 3 months past due are requested to
settle all outstanding balances before any
further credit is granted. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

184

(i)

(i)

Trade receivables and contracts assets
(Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables and contract assets at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using
a provision matrix. As the Group's historical
credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based
on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.
The ECL rate of current trade receivables and
contract assets is assessed to be 0%. No loss
allowance provision was recognised during the
year.

Other receivables

The Group assessed that the ECL for other
receivables are not material under 12-month
expected losses method. Thus no loss allowance
provision was recognised during the year.

XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2019

6. TERIEAKRERE(®)
(b) EERMR(E)

(i)

(i)

BESRURERENEE
(#&)
AREBERBENEHEH
EEBRZERAER
RUFBEREHNEERR
Bim BRASRBIERR
BREAESL - ARA
SEEREEERLRY
BERRNTRADEFPEER
BEERNBRAEREES
2 AERBHBRE
HHEIERETRAEE
TRFEFPEBIELE—Z
2 mEE S RUKIA
RAEKEBEENEHEERES
BERER0% - FARLE
MR RIS -

H b fE W =R 1E
AEEBEHFHE - Bt
U RIRBEREEEER
1218 A TR E RIA AL
BERX o R F R EER
BEiE R -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows of the Group's non-
derivative financial liabilities is as follows:

6. TERIEAKRERE®)
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On demand Between Between
or within 1and 2 2and 5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
R1ER 182% 2E5% 56N E st
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FEx FEx FEx FEx FEx
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12831H
Borrowings famk 30,285 8,311 18,121 - 56,717
Lease liabilities RERRE 14,411 16,523 33,244 - 64,178
Trade and other payables &5 R E R 508 12,113 = = = 12,113
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12831H
Borrowings & 9,008 8,661 24718 1,596 43,983
Finance lease payables ENRERE 15,203 15,224 50,264 = 80,691
Trade and other payables &5 R E B FUE 2934 - - - 2934
Interest rate risk (d) F/=mbz
The Group's exposure to interest-rate risk mainly AEREMFEEBREZREHE

arises from its bank deposits, bank loans, loans from a
related company, other loans and finance lease
payables. Bank deposits of approximately
US$2,129,000 (2018: US$11,095,000) bear interests at
fixed interest rates and therefore are subject to fair
value interest rate risk. The remaining bank deposits,
bank loans and finance lease payables bear interests
at variable rates varied with the then prevailing
market condition.

The Group used interest rate swaps in order mitigate
its exposure associated with fluctuations relating to
interest cash flows.
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6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

186

(d)

(e) Categories of financial instruments

(f)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

6. TERIEAKRERE(®)

(d) RRmEk(E)

At 31 December 2019, if interest rates had been 100
basis points (2018: 100 basis points) lower/higher with

all other variables held constant, consolidated profit

after tax for the year would have been approximately
US$1,093,000 (2018: US$1,044,000) higher/lower,
arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest

expenses.

R2019F 124318 - s ) X
P&, EF1001E £ 2 (20184F -

1001E &%) MAABAEMESE
mRERTE MFRAGRAKRHREK

s I 3L A0,k > %9 1,093,000 &
7 (2018 4F : 1,044,000E 7T ) °
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(e) €T AMHAI

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Financial assets: SREE:
Financial assets mandatorily SR HlIE A ERT AR
measured at FVTPL FTEMEmMEE
— derivative financial instrument — T4 4B T A - 119
Financial assets measured RS AT E /Y
at amortised cost ETREE 8,069 25,512
Financial liabilities: cTHEeE:
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BEAVEFABGNERAE
— derivative financial instrument — #7444 TE 286 167
Financial liabilities measured REEK A ENERAE
at amortised cost 56,166 110,686
Fair values fH AFE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets RERE B ISR R A R B9 R
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated SEemEERSRMBRENER

statements of financial position approximate their

respective fair values.
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

7.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The following disclosures of fair value measurements use a
fair value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access
at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and

transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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7.

188

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy:

7. DFEFEG@)

(a) AFEEREE:

At
Fair value measurements using: 31 December
ERTIIERNAVETE: 2019
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 R2019%F
B8 ot =% 12A%H
Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TER TER FER TER
Recurring fair value ER/MAVEE:
measurement:
Financial liabilities tRER
Interest rate swap contracts ~ F| &Iz HE 4 - 286 = 286
At
Fair value measurements using: 31 December
ERTIIBRNATETE : 2018
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2018
F— EF_R F=H  12AANH
US$'000 US$000 US$'000 US$'000
T T FE FET
Recurring fair value ERMAVEE:
measurement:
Financial assets tREE
Foreign currency forward INEREIAH)
contract - 37 - 37
Interest rate swap contracts ~ F|RigHIA4] - 82 = 82
- 119 - 119
Recurring fair value ERMAVETE:
measurement:
Financial liabilities LRER
Interest rate swap contracts | R H A 4) = 167 = 167
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7.
(b) Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs

used in fair value measurements:
Level 2 fair value measurements

AFEFTE(®E)

(b) HEAEEMEANMGEER
FURAFEFEFREAN
RESEREARE
E_RAFEFE

Assets/(liabilities)

BE/(Af)
Description Valuation technique Inputs 2019 2018
it fh{E R WARE 2019 F 2018 4F
US$'000 US$'000
Fxx =
Foreign currency Discounted cash flows ~ Comparable
forward contract exchange rate - 37
HNEREIE L) MERERE MR FE =&
Interest rate swap Discounted cash flows  Interest rate
contracts Discount rate - 82
XA L BRRERE &= 2 BRI &
Interest rate swap Discounted cash flows  Interest rate
contracts Discount rate (286) (167)
&AL MRRERE ) & 2 B3R &
During the two years, there were no changes in the WER - BTGB &

valuation techniques used.

& o
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

8. REVENUE 8. W=
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers ERBEENRRERFEE DM
by services and the timing of revenue recognition for the BEAHWADIRNOT :
year are as follow:
2019 2018
2019 2018 F
US$'000 US$'000
FTERx FET
Revenue from contracts with ERNBREENE 155
customers within the scope of HERANEFESHKRA
HKFRS 15
— Voyage charter and CoA, —EHEEBEESL
recognised over time W& B [ HE 7R 21,661 19,246

— Trading of asphalt, recognised

—BEE S RiFEEER

at a point in time 1,710 =
Revenue from other sources R B H b 2RR Y U =
— Time charter — HAFH 26,380 23,470
49,751 42,716
9. OTHER INCOME 9. HftlgA
2019 2018
20194 2018 4F
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Bank interest income IRITFBULA 227 103
Compensation income BEERA 1,212 7,550
Fair value gains on derivative PTEem T AAFERZE
financial instruments - 302
Gain on disposal of derivative HETESRT AR
financial instrument - 1
Sundry income HIFUT A 50 266
1,489 8,222
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 0. 7HEH

The Group has three operating segments as follows:

Asphalt tanker —  Provision of asphalt tanker
chartering services chartering services
Bulk carrier —  Provision of bulk carrier

chartering services chartering services

Asphalt trading — Trading of asphalt

The Group's reportable segments are strategic business
units that offer different products and services. They are
managed separately because each business requires
different technology and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as those described in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements. Segment profits or losses do not
include unallocated administrative expenses, other
income, other gains and losses, finance costs and income
tax expense.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers
as if the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at
current market prices.

In 2018, the Group has one single reportable segment
which was managed as a single strategic business unit that
engaged in provision of asphalt tanker chartering services
with similar marketing strategy. During the year ended 31
December 2019, the Group commenced its asphalt trading
business and bulk carrier chartering services.

REBEAUAT=ELLDH

HEE M — RHESH
A A R TS A A R 75
MEMER — REHREREN
AR#%5 AR
EEES — EEES

AREBAI 2H D B REHTRER
R AR %5 B0 BUBE X 75 B0FT - F I
FE®E REARZSEBTEITRK
1y K2 BR %5 ©

KEDBO SRR AL S TR
KW 4FTLE AR o 2R HE
BABREASETRMAS - HiUk
A Bl kEE - EKAEAR
Frsfim s o

AEBH S IHEEENERETS
SRE BMNZEEREETES
FH(BUAZRIHE) °

EA2018¢ AEBERE —HE—7]
WoE - tERE— Eﬂéﬁ%%ﬂ‘%%ﬁ
Efi ARl SE R (e S IR
MM AR 7S - BLE 2019F 12 A 31
mtif; TEEFRBEESE S
E AR B E M A ARTS o
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 0. 7 EER (&)
Information about operating segment profit or ERKZE LI aFNEE EE
loss, assets and liabilities: BEENER :
Asphalt
tanker Bulk carrier
chartering chartering Asphalt
services services trading Total
EE M BEM
A e B A% M PR A BEES @t
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TEx TET TET TET
Year ended BZ2019%12831H
31 December 2019: LFE:
Revenue from external PSS ==0) N
customers 47,464 577 1,710 49,751
Segment profit DELEH 8,057 168 82 8,307
Interest expense FMERX 5,969 93 - 6,062
Depreciation and amortisation ﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁ 8,929 160 - 9,089
Additions to segment REDBIERBEE
non-current assets 664 32,994 - 33,658
As at 31 December 2019: RH2019%12A318 :
Segment assets DEEE 185,200 33,277 7 218,484
Segment liabilities ANEBE (92,224) (248) - (92,472)
Year ended BZ2018%12A31H
31 December 2018: EFE:
Revenue from external PSRN EY 0] N
customers 42,716 - - 42,716
Segment profit Ay 9416 = = 9416
Interest expense RS 5,469 = = 5,469
Depreciation and amortisation  #T& K84 7,285 = = 7,285
Additions to segment RENHERBEE
non-current assets 33,942 = = 33,942
As at 31 December 2018: R2018%F12831H :
Segment assets DEEE 207,637 = = 207,637
Segment liabilities AEBE (111,311) - - (111,31)
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) ’\ﬁﬂﬁﬂ(i )
Reconciliations of segment profit or loss: DEDRF N B R
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
US$'000 US$'000
TER FET
Revenue LON
Total revenue of reportable segments 7] 2 7 2 A 4858 49,751 42,716
Profit or loss A EE
Total profit or loss of reportable A 2| E s kBB B RE
segments 8,307 9,416
Interest revenue F 2 A 1 14
Interest expenses MERX (25) -
Unallocated corporate income RoBLEEWA 1 570
Unallocated corporate expenses AOMTERT (2,280) (3,387)
Consolidated profit for the year FEREZEE R 6,004 6,613
Reconciliations of segment assets and liabilities: PHEERABHER:
2019 2018
2019 F 20184F
US$'000 US$'000
TErx FET
Assets BE
Total assets of reportable segments A 2D EELTR 218,484 207,637
Unallocated AL 481 3,377
Consolidated total assets S BEBT 218,965 211,014
Liabilities afE
Total liabilities of reportable segments A] 2 iﬁ/ PEEERE (92,472) (111,311)
Unallocated KD (21,403) (599)
Consolidated total liabilities S48 E\ E4E%R (113,875) (111,910)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. 7 HER (&)

Geographical information: wEER :
Revenue W

The Group's business is managed on a worldwide basis.
The revenue generated from provision of asphalt tanker
chartering services and provision of bulk carrier chartering
services which are carried out internationally, and the way
in which costs are allocated, preclude a meaningful
presentation of geographical information.

The revenue from asphalt trading is mainly generated from
customers based in Hong Kong.

Non-current assets
As at 31 December 2018 and 2019, over 99% of the
Group's non-current assets are vessels.

The vessels are primarily utilised across geographical
markets for shipment of liquid asphalt and bulk carrier
throughout the world. Accordingly, it is impractical to
present the locations of the vessels by geographical areas
and thus no segment analysis is presented.

REBEBR LGS - 12
{5408 75 0 TEL A R T T 5 B B A
SBRTE (7 2 SR 0 [E PR R ) FF 18 e
RRRASEFR  EEZIHE

BEESZBBZETRREAFTEANE
ﬁ o

FRBEE
R20184F N 2019F 12 A31H » K&
B8 99% HIIEREN B EE A o

MARETEANAEERBERESH
&M is R EREES AR EM
Hut IR 25 MM E L
TER BmLEZIERDHD
A7 o

Revenue from major customers: REFEEZEFHWE :
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
US$'000 US$'000
FTErx FET

Provision of asphalt tanker RAUE S M8 M IR
chartering services

Customer A ZEA 11,417 9,925
Customer B ZFB 5,648 4,565
Customer C ZEC 12,179 10,263
Customer D ZFED 6,352 8,316

Customer E (Note) EFE(BIE)

- 5,309

Note: Revenue from Customer E represented less than 10% of the
Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

11.

12.

FINANCE COSTS 11. ®ERA
2019 2018
2019 2018 4
US$'000 US$'000
FERx FET
Interest expenses on lease liabilities fAE&E& 2 7B (K13E28)

(Note 28) 4,219 =
Finance leases charges MEHEEN — 2,878
Interest rate swap expenses AR B 2 67 171
Interests on borrowings EIF 2 1,801 2,420

6,087 5,469

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FrEHiBAX

2019 2018

2019 F 20184

US$'000 US$'000

FEx FET

Current tax BN EAFR I8 = -
During the year, the Group mainly operated in Hong Kong, FR AEEBTEEEFS FEE
PRC and Singapore. However, no provision for Hong Kong IR LT o SR - ERANE
Profits Tax, PRC Corporate Income Tax and Singapore EERNYLEEZREHAN A Et
Corporate Income Tax was made since the Group had no EEMER - PECEMRER LR
assessable profit for the year (2018: Nil). DO ZERTE T VEH #8448 (2018 £ -

&) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

12.

196

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 12.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and
the product of profit before tax multiplied by the Hong
Kong Profits Tax rate is as follows:

Fri&%i 5 < (40)
FIT 15 154 9 2 B2 B 75 A0 I SRA &8
MEBRBRASEROERLT

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
US$'000 US$'000
FER FETT
Profit before tax e R B % 6,004 6,613
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 2 & E RS X 16.5%
16.5% (2018: 16.5%) (20185 : 16.5%) FT HAVTHIR 991 1,091
Tax effect of income that is not BRI AT 152 2
taxable (8,531) (8,577)
Tax effect of expenses that are not AT RS 2
deductible 7,309 7,277
Tax effect of tax losses not RERT BB BN &
recognised 327 256
Effect of different tax rates of I ENCIENEE R0 A=
subsidiaries (96) 47)
Income tax expense P - -

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately US$2,938,000 (2018: US$1,743,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
assets have been recognised due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams from those loss making subsidiaries.
The aforesaid unused tax losses of the Group have not yet
been agreed by respective tax authorities. The expiry date
of unrecognised tax losses are summarised as follows:

MR20195E 12 A31 0 AEEEXRE
A % 18 155 48 #92,938,000 3 7T (2018
£ 11,743,000 7T) A AR EHE R
iAo IEARREZEZHREH
B BRAREENRRKZHRT
AEAMEREEREEE - A%
EH i KRB AR IEEE S AR S
ARMBHRERTE - FAERRBEBIE

MEEESENT :
2019 2018
2019 F 20184F
US$'000 US$'000
FErx FE
On 31 December 2022 M2022F12A31H 43 46
On 31 December 2023 R2023%F12 A31H 789 858
On 31 December 2024 202412 A31H 1,003 -
Carried forward indefinitely R HRAE 1,103 839
2,938 1,743
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

13. FREF

The Group's profit for the year is stated after charging/ AEBRERNZ BT THE&EHE (5
(crediting) the following: A) T3 &IEEBZES -
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Auditors’ remuneration % 5 Al 257 T 160 158
Depreciation on property, plantand 413 - [E &R EITE
equipment 3,117 7,299
Depreciation on right-of-use assets ~ {FAEEEITE 6,065 -
Exchange losses/(gains), net P& 5 E5iE, (Wek) B 58 218 (343)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of derivative HETESmT A
financial instrument BB (Wa) 5 (M
Fair value losses/(gains) on derivative $T4E & @ T A A FE
financial instruments &8, (W) 201 (302)
Listing expenses EFHRX = 1,888
Operating lease charges KEHEER
— land and buildings — Tt REF 89 175
Staff costs (including directors’ BETRA(RIEEEEHM)
emoluments)
— Salaries, bonuses and allowances — %”f  JEAT K EBL 1,048 819
— Retirement benefits scheme RREFIFT R
contributions 109 119
— Other benefits — HEME 146 142
1,303 1,080
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 14. EEREEFHMH
EMOLUMENTS
(@) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=H N
The emoluments of each director are set out below: REZBEMIHBEYWOT :
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and  Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonuses  contributions Total
RIKER
e HEREH B SHEIR @t

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$/000 US$/000
TEL = TET T TEL

Year ended BZ2019%
31 December 2019  12A31ALEE
Mr. Wang Faging THEERAE(MiTa)

(Note a) - 16 - - 16
Mr. Ding Xiaoli TH 4 (MEEb)

(Note b) = - - - _
Mr. Xu Wenjun "R E - 88 - 5 93
Mr. Ding Yuzhao TE8%4 - - - _ _
Mr. Lai Guanrong BEREE - 25 - - 25
Mr. Suen Chi Wai REELE - 25 - - 25
Mr. Xu Jie RREE - 25 - - 25

- 179 - 5 184
Year ended HZz2018%

31 December 2018 1231 HILEE
Mr. Ding Xiaoli THI%SE - 5 - - 5
Mr. Xu Wenjun 3Pt - 95 - 5 100
Mr. Ding Yuzhao TE8)%4 - 5 _ _ 5
Mr. Lai Guanrong BERTE = 8 - - 8
Mr. Suen Chi Wai BSERE - 8 - - 8
Mr. Xu Jie RREE - 8 - - 8

- 129 - 5 134
Notes: BteE
(a)  Appointed on 30 August 2019. (a) 2019 8ANAEEME-
(b)  Resigned on 30 August 2019. (b) F201948 A 30 AEHE -
There were no arrangements under which a director FAMBESHEXRENRE
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during AT N 2 HE (2018%F - £8) o

the year (2018: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

14. DIRECTORS' AND EMPLOYEES' 14. EEREEHMH (&)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) TEBREHFMAL
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during rEBFANREEZRSHTMA
the year included one (2018: one) director whose TEE—RQ018F : —HK)E
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented E o OHFM RN YD
above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2018: T o HEAPMNZ (20184 : IUR)
four) individuals are set out below: ATEHVEENE S 0T -
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
US$'000 US$'000
FERx =T
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 241 251
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL - -
Retirement benefits scheme RIRRE RN E 8K
contributions 15 19
256 270
The emoluments fell within the following band: BRAHFMA N TYEE

Number of individuals

A
2019 2018
2019 & 20184
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T 4 4
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

14. DIRECTORS' AND EMPLOYEES'’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Saved as disclosed in Notes 27 and 35, there is no
other significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group's business to which
the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company and the director’s connected party had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there were
no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings entered into
by the Company or subsidiaries undertaking of the
Company, where applicable, in favor of directors
(2018: Nil).

15. DIVIDEND
The directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend (2018: Nil).
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE 16. BIRER
The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on BREARBREFTEERNATRIEA :
the following:
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
US$'000 US$'000
FTERx FET
Earnings 2%
Profit for the year attributable to RREIER NEIRFE A
owners of the Company 6,004 6,613
'000 ‘000
T Fix
Number of shares RoEE
Weighted average number of T A S & (BT EE)
ordinary shares (Note) 400,000 326,575
Note: The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose MizE : 2018 F AR T E B IREARZ T I im Rk
of calculating basic earnings per share for 2018 have been adjusted IEFHEE RN ERNMEHFEIED
for the effect of the shares capitalisation as more fully explained in A BLHFBREAMETRERMT24
Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements. Efue
No diluted earnings per share was presented for the year WEmEINEZE2019F12 A31HIEF
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil) as there was no FQ018F : BN BREBERF -

potential ordinary share outstanding.

TR BB RBEITE R -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

202

17. 9% - BMEKRERE

Office
Equipment Vessels
Vessels & & motor under
dry-docking vehicle construction Total
MAORE
LI A kA= MM #ct
US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FET FTET FTET FEx
Cost B
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1H1H 151,517 47 23,609 175173
Additions NG 1,596 12 32,334 33,942
Write-off ik (1,168) - - (1,168)
Transfer [ 55,943 = (55,943) =
At 31 December 2018 and 1220184 12 A 31 H
1 January 2019 K2019%1H18 207,888 59 - 207,947
Reclassification upon RENB BB RS
adoption of HKFRS 16 ERIE 16512
(Note 3) BB (HFE3) (133,443) - - (133,443)
Additions NG 33,658 68 = 33,726
Exchange difference M ERR - 1 - 1
At 31 December 2019 R 2019%F 12 A 31H 108,103 128 - 108,231
Accumulated depreciation ZiHiTE
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1H1H 17,615 11 - 17,626
Charge for the year FERME 7,285 14 = 7,299
Write-off itk (1,168) - - (1,168)
At 31 December 2018 and 72018412 A 31 H
1 January 2019 K 2019F1R18 23,732 25 - 23,757
Reclassification upon RERE BT
adoption of HKFRS 16 WMEERNFE 165
(Note 3) eEFHE(MEI) (18,656) = - (18,656)
Charge for the year FERMG 3,096 21 = 3,117
Exchange difference b 5 =58 - (1) = (1)
At 31 December 2019 R2019%F 12 A31H 8,172 45 = 8,217
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2019 201912 A 31 H 99,931 83 - 100,014
At 31 December 2018 201812 A 31H 184,156 34 - 184,190
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

17.

18.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

At 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of vessels
pledged as securities for the Group's bank loans amounted
to approximately US$66,865,000 (2018: US$69,369,000)
(Note 27).

At 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of vessels held
by the Group under finance leases amounted to
approximately US$114,787,000 (Note 28).

17. Y% - BERRE @)

R2019F 12 8318 » AEBEIRIT
EXEEROMMEEEL R
66,865,000 7T (2018 4F : 69,369,000
E70) (FisE27) »

M2018F12A31H  "EEEER
EHERHENAMMAOEEEDN A
114,787,000 7T (M7 28) °

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. FRAREE
Vessels & Leased

dry-docking properties Total
iSRS HENE st
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FET FTET FET
At 1 January 2019 (Note 3) 201961 A 18 (KI5E3) 114,787 199 114,986
Depreciation e (5,993) 72) (6,065)
Exchange differences ME 5 =R > (3) 3)
At 31 December 2019 R2019F 12 A31H 108,794 124 108,918

Lease liabilities of US$56,900,000 are recognised with
related right-of-use assets of US$108,918,000 as at 31
December 2019. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the vessels
that are held by the lessor (Note 28). Except for leased
vessels & dry-docking with carrying amount
US$108,794,000, there is no other leased asset that was
used as security for borrowing purposes.

R2019F 12831 H - BREEAE
756,900,000 7T X ABRAFE AEEE
/108,918,000 7T » B B A FT#%
BN ERERI - HEHZR
I He AT 2258 (M9 5E28) - BRHE
E i fa &35 1& &) BR T {8 108,794,000
XN WEAMAEEERER
REER o
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

18.

204

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

18. EREEE (&)

2019
20195
US$'000
FEx
Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets {FHEEENITEER 6,065
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBBNOTEM GTARERKA)
(included in finance cost) 4,219
Expenses relating to short-term lease B A E B BB x (R AT X))
(included in administrative expenses) 56
Expenses relating to leases of low value assets L2 EKEBEEEE BRI
(included in administrative expenses) (BT ATTBRX) 9
Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in Note 32. MERSRHAEFFHNME32 -

For both years, the Group leases certain offices for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term
ranging from 1 to 4 years. Leases of vessel were accounted
for as finance leases during the year ended 31 December
2018 and carried interest ranged from 4.30% to 5.23%.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

No lease of the Group includes an option to renew the

lease for an additional period after the end of the contract
term.
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

19. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

19. fTEERTIA

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 F
US$'000 US$'000
FTERx FET
Financial assets TREE
Fair value of foreign currency HNERHIE A FE
forward contract - 37
Fair value of interest rate swap FMEEEHEL A TE
contracts - 82
- 119
Financial liabilities TREE
Fair value of interest rate swap FEEEHEL AN E
contracts 286 167
The Group entered into certain foreign currency forward AREBRETIRTIITETINEER
contracts and interest rate swap contracts with banks to HIA Y RAMKRIEHA MU ETIBEE

manage its exchange rate and interest rate exposure.

The foreign currency forward contracts are measured at
FVTPL. The fair value has been estimated using discounted
cash flows that are based on forward exchange rates and
contract forward rates. At 31 December 2019, there was no

outstanding foreign currency forward contract.

The interest rate swap contracts are measured at FVTPL.
The fair value has been estimated using discounted cash
flows that are based on interest rates and discount rates.

2 o ) L

HIERRANERHERD

ZEINERPEDH TR A FERT
ANBHFE - ATFENFERAERE
IR &
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20.

21.

206

INVENTORIES 20. &
2019 2018
20195 2018 4
US$'000 US$'000
FER FET
Bunker and lubricant oil for vessels AR AR 2 e SH 1,508 949
TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. EZRRWFE

For time charter, the Group generally receives monthly
prepayment from customers. For voyage charter, the
Group generally receives full payment within five business
days after completion of cargo loading. For CoA, the
Group generally receives full payment within three
business days after completion of cargo discharging. For
demurrage claims, the balance is normally paid within 30
days after the finalisation. For trading of asphalt, the
balance is normally paid within 30 days after the invoice
date. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
the directors.
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. ESEWFRIE (&)
The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the NEZHHREENE HEKFIA
invoice date, is as follows: R OMTINT -
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FE
0 to 30 days 02 30H 2,167 1,504
Over 30 days 30HAE 146 448
2,313 1,952
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables are REEE ZERBGRIANREENASE
denominated in USD. JCEHE ©
22. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND HtEWRE - ZEREMARK
PREPAYMENTS IE
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Other receivables Hitb e rIE 1,152 3,245
Deposits and prepayments e MIE FIE 491 632
Due from a shareholder (Note) e U I 3R FkIE (BT ) = 322
1,643 4,199
Note: The amounts due are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest free Wit BRFIEABIEESHE - BEIRWF -
and have no fixed terms of repayment. et BB EE &R -
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23. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK AND
CASH BALANCES

208

(a)

The Group's pledged bank deposits included
deposits pledged to a bank to secure bank loans
granted to the Group (Note 27). The deposits were in
USD and bore fixed interest rate of 2.0% (2018: 2.4%)
per annum, and therefore were subject to fair value
interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2019, bank balances of
approximately US$1,223,000 (2018: US$815,000) were
restricted from being used and charged over the
Group's bank loans (Note 27).

At 31 December 2019, bank balances of
approximately US$511,000 (2018: US$1,024,000) were
restricted from being used and charged over the

Group's lease liabilities (2018: finance lease payables)
(Note 28).

At 31 December 2018, the Group's unpledged bank
and cash balances included bank deposit with original
maturity within three months of US$3,000,000 and
bank deposit with original maturity beyond three
months of US$6,000,000. These deposits were in USD
and bore fixed interest rates of 3.4% and 3.7% per
annum respectively, and therefore were subject to fair
value interest rate risk.

At 31 December 2019, the bank and cash balances of
the Group denominated in RMB and kept in the PRC
amounted to approximately US$61,000 (2018:
US$160,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations.
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24. IR7
Number of
shares Amount
BHEE X ]
Note US$'000
Bk TErn
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2018 (US$0.01 each) 20181 B 18 (8Ak0.01%ET) 5,298,624,400 52,986
Increase in authorised capital SRTERRE N 0] 4,701,375,600 47,014
At 31 December 2018, 1 January 2019 and 722018 12 A 31H * 20194
31 December 2019 (US$0.01 each) 1A1ER2019F12A31H
(2A%0.01%ET) 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRARE
At 1 January 2018 (US$0.01 each) 201841 A 18 (8%0.01%T) 52,986,244 530
Shares capitalisation B EAL (i) 247,013,756 2,470
Shares issued under the Global Offering 1R 2 IREE & 1T (D (iii) 100,000,000 1,000
At 31 December 2018, 1 January 2019 and 722018412 A 31 H * 20194
31 December 2019 (US$0.01 each) 1A1BR2019F12A31H
(8R0.01%T) 400,000,000 4,000
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24. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

210

(i)

(iii)

Pursuant to the written resolutions passed by the shareholders of
the Company on 6 September 2018, the authorised capital of the
Company increased from US$52,986,244 divided into 5,298,624,400
ordinary shares with a par value of US$0.01 each to US$100,000,000
divided into 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares with a par value of
US$0.01 each by the creation of 4,701,375,600 shares.

Pursuant to the written resolutions passed by the shareholders of
the Company on 6 September 2018, conditional on share premium
account of the Company being credited as a result of the Global
Offering , the directors were authorised to capitalise an amount of
US$2,470,138 standing to the credit of the share premium account
of the Company by applying such sum in paying up in full at par
247,013,756 shares for allotment and issue to the then existing
shareholders in proportion to their respective shareholdings.

On 26 September 2018, the Company issued 100,000,000 new
shares at HK$1.5 (equivalent to US$0.1918) each in relation to the
Global Offering. The premium on the issue of shares, amounting to
approximately US$17,060,000, net of listing-related expenses of
approximately US$1,120,000 was credited to the Company's share
premium account. These new shares rank pari passu with the
existing shares in all respects.

Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to

safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going

concern and to maximise the return to the shareholders

through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Group currently does not have any specific policies

and processes for managing capital.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital

requirements.
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

25. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  25. XA TN B IRRE R iES

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY )
(a) Statement of financial position of the (@) A E) AR IR
Company
As at 31 December
MW12H31H
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
Note US$'000 US$'000
B 5 FEx FE
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RITE AR E 36 55,603 55,603
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables, deposits  EfhfEULZRTE - £ 4
and prepayments K IafRIE 31 335
Due from subsidiaries A NI O] 15,422 15,471
Bank and cash balances RIT RIS ER 25 434
Total current assets REEEHAE 15,478 16,240
TOTAL ASSETS EEHAE 71,081 71,843
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Share capital f& AN 4,000 4,000
Reserves H1E 25(b) 66,389 67,128
Total equity ERAEsE 70,389 71,128
LIABILITIES a&
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables and accruals ~ Hth 8~ B & fE:T & 569 591
Due to subsidiaries X NG| 123 124
Total current liabilities RBAEARE 692 715
TOTAL EQUITY AND EEREERAE
LIABILITIES 71,081 71,843
Approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March M20205F3 25 B EEE= it
2020 and are signed on its behalf by: o WE FIATRERERSE
Xu Wenjun Wang Faqging
#®X1g EEF
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

25. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

25. ;I;’Aﬂ MNP BRRRE FHEE
(48)

(b) ANAFHHEZE

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
B 658 RitEE wct
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FE FTET FTET
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1 A 1H 55,073 (456) 54,617
Share capitalisation (Note 24(i)) %15 & A{b (B 5% 24(ii)) (2,470) - (2,470)
Shares issued under the Global BRI ELITH

Offering (Note 24(ii) A9 (BT 5E 244Gii)) 17,060 = 17,060
Loss for the year FEANERE = (2,079 (2,079)

At 31 December 2018 and R2018F12A31H X
1 January 2019 20191 H1H 69,663 (2,535) 67,128
Loss for the year FAEE = (739) (739)
At 31 December 2019 R20194%F12 A31H 69,663 (3,274) 66,389

26. RESERVES 26. f#fE
(a) The Group (a) &M

The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserve
(i) Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium account
of the Company are distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as they fall in the ordinary course of business.
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

26. RESERVES (Continued)
(b) Nature and purpose of reserve (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents wavier of amount
due to the Controlling Shareholders. As the
waived amount is in substance equivalent to a
capital contribution to the Group, hence, it has
been accounted for as capital reserve.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the
difference between the cost of investment in Xin
Yuan Ocean over the nominal value of shares of
Xin Yuan Ocean acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve
comprises all foreign exchange difference
arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in Note 4(b)(iii) to the consolidated
financial statements.

26. fi#ithE (5

(b) REBHVMEERE M)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

27. BORROWINGS 27. &K
2019 2018
2019 & 2018
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Secured BER
Bank loans RITER 32,317 39,431
Unsecured EIER
Loans from a related company (Note) RE —K@B A7) 2 EF(MFE) 11,736 -
Other loans HEmER 8,716 =
52,769 39,431
Note: Subsequent to the reporting period, the Group entered into a YL - RS AR - NS B ER R R AT S
supplementary agreement with the related company, please refer e HLHSEVEBERERMNE
to Note 37(b) to the consolidated financial statements. 37(b) °
The borrowings are repayable as follows: EERERAT
2019 2018
2019 20184
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Within one year 19 LA 27,831 7,330
More than one year, but not 1A EETBA2E
exceeding two years 7,379 7,330
More than two years, but not more 2F LA EBETHBBSF
than five years 17,559 23,188
More than five years 5F A E - 1,583
52,769 39,431
Less: Amount due for settlement B AR 12 AR
within 12 months (shown under I HA#E E 38
current liabilities) B AERSHEE) (27,831) (7,330)
Amount due for settlement after AR 1218 A 18 B B4 E 518
12 months 24,938 32,101
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

27. fER (&)
AREEEFRNEREDRATEE

27. BORROWINGS (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are

denominated in the following currencies:

FI{E

2019 2018

2019 & 20184

US$'000 US$'000

FEx FET

usb ETT 36,052 19,200
SGD o 16,717 20,231
52,769 39,431

The effective interest rates as at 31 December were as

R12 31 BERMEMT -

follows:
2019 2018
2019 £ 20184
Bank loans IRITER 4.40%-5.31% 4.30%-5.23%

Loans from a related Company
Other loans HAE R
All borrowings are arranged at floating rates, thus
exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

Bank loans were obtained for the sole purpose of the
construction of the vessels. At 31 December 2019, the
bank loans were secured by the followings:

() Mortgage over the Group's vessels (Note 17);

(i)  Corporate guarantee provided by the Company and
subsidiaries; and

(iii) Pledged bank deposits and restricted bank balances
(Note 23).

KB —REBARIZES

5.84% N/A 73 F
5.84% N/A A3

BB IDIRFHNRZH - Hilt
FEAREHBRRESREN AR -

RITERIIAER BEEMA MIERR -
M2019F 128318 RITERTIA
T3 IEE -

(y ANEBEMAEEFEE17)

(i) ARBIRETHEBRRIIRER
NEER &

(i) BEFBTERERIRGIERIT
w8 (BF5E23) »
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28. LEASE LIABILITIES (2018: FINANCE LEASE 28. HHEEE(2018F : @EHRE
PAYABLES) B FRIE)
Minimum lease payments
RIEHEESR
2019 2018
2019 £ 2018 F
US$'000 US$'000
S FET
Within one year —FE A 14,411 15,203
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_-_Z2FAF (BIEEEMT) 49,767 65,488
64,178 80,691
Less: Future finance charges B RIREE E B (7,278) (12,370)
Present value of lease obligations HEFMTIRE 56,900 68,321
Present value of minimum
lease payments
REHEESRRE
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
US$’'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Within one year —FE A 11,635 11,561
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_ZFRF (BIEEHEEWF) 45,265 56,760
Present value of lease obligations HEEMTHRA 56,900 68,321
Less: Amount due for settlement 8 BRI1I2EARN
within 12 months (shown under P HAE E SR
current liabilities) B AEREEE) (11,635) (11,561)
Amount due for settlement after AR 1218 A BIHEE 08
12 months 45,265 56,760
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

28. LEASE LIABILITIES (2018: FINANCE LEASE 28. HEAE (2018 F : @EHE

PAYABLES) (Continued)
It is the Group's policy to lease certain of its vessels under
finance leases. The lease term is either 4 or 5 years.

All finance lease payables are denominated in USD.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the
modified retrospective approach and adjusted the
opening balances at 1 January 2019 to recognise lease
liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17. These liabilities have
been aggregated with the brought forward balances
relating to leases previously classified as finance leases.
Comparative information as at 31 December 2018 has not
been restated and relates solely to leases previously
classified as finance leases. Further details on the impact
of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in Note 3.

At 31 December 2019, financial lease payables were
secured by the followings:

()  Charges over the Group’s certain right-of-use assets
(Note 18);

(i)  Corporate guarantee provided by the Company and/
or subsidiaries;

(i) Restricted bank balances (Note 23(b)); and

(iv) Shares of subsidiaries.

PR FRIE) (40)
AEENBREREREAERHE
EREETHM - HEIR4KSF -

FrEmERE RN KRB AK T
(=08

AEBFERALEITZERELERE
RAEABVEREEAFE 1698 - WA
BRR2019F 1 A1 H 2 B 64 LARE
RERMBEEBGHENE 17 RD
AKERE HEETHERE -
ZEBBECEEBREIIDEARE
MEMMHENGEEHRNE - B
2018F 12 A3 B RER W ES
Pl BEEERIDBEABREREN
HEHRME EEBEZEEMBR
HERAFBI6RNTERNE—TFB
BRAMIEES -

M2019F12A310 - &R ERER
FIATA TS BT

() AEEETEAEEEZD (K
$¥18) :

(i) ARBERLHMERFRED
NEFER

(i) XBRHIRITE &R (MT5E23())
5

(iv) MIEBARRBIRRMD
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29. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

29. BHEE EHNEE

Contract assets 2019 2018
BREE 2019 F 2018 4F
US$'000 US$'000
FErx FET
Unbilled revenue — voyage charter  ARBIEBRE Uiz — 725
and CoA REEEHR 373 -~
Receivables from contracts with BB ERERERIZE 155
customers within the scope of HEANZTESHWA -
HKFRS 15, which are included in A TE S K& E b el sk
“Trade and other receivables” 2,313 1,952

Contract assets of the Group consist of unbilled amount
resulting from voyage charter and CoA over time. Contract
assets are transferred to receivables when the rights
become unconditional. This usually occurs when the Group
issues invoice to the customer.

There were no significant changes in the contract assets
balances during the reporting period.

REBANWEEBREERHEERE
HEBEERNNARKERR - &
MEERBBRINRSEGERE
ERPFR - L —RRAKERAT
PREBEREL -

BERANGNEEEBRABRLEERXN

Contract liabilities 2019 2018
BHNAE 2019 F 2018 4F
US$'000 US$'000
TER FET

Billings in advance — voyage charter T84 FIEBRE — BN
and CoA BESHK 187 869

Contract liabilities of the Group arise from the advance
payments made by the customer or billing involved to the
customer (whichever is earlier) while underlying services
are yet to be provided. Such liabilities decreased as a
result of decrease in advance payments made by the
customers or billing raised to the customers.

There were no significant changes in the contract liabilities
balances during the reporting period.
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A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

29. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29. é‘%"]ﬁg/%%’gﬁﬁ(%>
(Continued)

Movements in contract liabilities: AU EE
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Balance at 1 January R1A1B2Z &% 869 431

Decrease in contract liabilities as a FABERREBFEEHEE
result of recognising revenue during B EFAFTIE N EE
the year was included in the
contract liabilities at the

beginning of the year (869) 431)
Increase in contract liabilities as a BEERPESHNELFAARS
result of billing in advance of BEEABEEM
voyage charter and CoA 187 869
Balance at 31 December M®12 A31 B 2 &8k 187 869
30. TRADE PAYABLES 30. EZENRE
The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the REZEHENNE HENFIER
invoice date, is as follows: BROMTIT
2019 2018
2019 % 2018 4
US$'000 US$'000
FER TETT
0 to 30 days 0£230H 1,480 1,473
31 to 60 days 31260H 26 -
Over 60 days 60B AL 414 =
1,920 1,473
The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables are KREBE S EMNFENERETIA
denominated in USD. ETTEHE
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 A31 HILFE

31. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 31. Htt R REREE A
2019 2018
2019 2018 F
US$'000 US$'000
FER FETT
Receipts in advance TR FRIE 189 44
Other payables and accruals HMENZRIBERERES 1,624 1,605
1,813 1,649

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32. &8 E&REBRMET

OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions
Additions of property, plant and equipment during
the year approximately US$Nil (2018: US$25,982,000)
were financed by finance leases.

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group's consolidated statements of cash flows as
cash flows from financing activities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32. R BERERMET (8)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) METHELAGEHNYEE
financing activities (Continued) (8&)
Advance from Finance
related lease Lease
companies  Borrowings payables liabilities Total
REBH RERE
AGTEE EEN L HEAE @t

US$000 US$1000 US$:000 US$000 US$:000
TEL e TEL TEL e

At 1 January 2018 R2018%F1A1H 590 63,691 13477 - 77,758
Cash flows, net ReNEFE (590) (23,854) 28,862 B 4418
New finance leases MEREHE = - 25,982 - 25,982
Exchange differences EHES - (406) = = (406)
At 1 January 2019 #2019%1 A18 : 39,431 68321 - IR
Impact on initial application of & X EEEA
HKFRS 16 (Note 3) BBEEEN
1672 (f:13) - - (68,321) 68,520 199
Restated balance at R2019F 1A 1HR)

1 January 2019 eV - 39,431 - 68,520 107,951
Cash flows, net Remess - 13,127 = (11,649) 1,478
Non-cash interest FReER = = = 25 25
Exchange differences ERER - 211 = 4 215
At 31 December 2019 R2019% 12431 A - 52769 - 56900 109,669
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 32. R BHERERMET (8)
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HMEBRSRHHAEE
Amounts included in the cash flow statements for HAHERSRERNEES
leases comprise the following: EMT :
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
US$'000 US$'000
TER FET
Within operating cash flows BREERERE (89) (175)
Within financing cash flows Br@ERERE (11,649) 28,862
(11,738) 28,687
These amounts relate to the following: AT HBENZE L
2019 2018
2019 20184
US$'000 US$'000
FTER FET
Lease rental paid ENEERS (89) (175)
Drawdown from finance leases REEEHEE - 37,618
Payments of finance lease payable 1@t & ERE T FKIE - (8,756)
Payments for principal elements IHHEENAEH S
of leases (11,649) =
(11,738) 28,687
33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33. AREE
As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any 201912 431 B » AEEI&EE
significant contingent liabilities. (2018: Nil). M EARHABE(2018F « &) -
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34. LEASE COMMITMENTS 34.

The Group as lessee

At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are
payable as follows:

HEAE

EEBERABEA

2018412 531 B » Al ke
MEETEMNHRKKEBERNK
BRI

2018
20184
US$'000
FET

Within one year —F LA

122

In the second to fifth years inclusive FE_EFNLF (BREEEMF) 161

283

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its offices. Leases are negotiated
for terms ranging from 1 year to 4 years, and rentals are
fixed over the lease terms and do not include contingent
rentals.

The Group as lessor

At 31 December 2019, the Group had future aggregate
minimum charter hire income receivable under non-
cancellable time charters as follows:

REBHENFTREARERELE TH
NEERMOES - BHBERIFE
4% MEEXREMAEE - BFE
B AET -

AEEERAEHBAA

R2019F 12 A31 8 » ZEBRET
ARGE A E R R RFERS YK
ABREAT -

2019 2018

2019 F 2018 F

US$'000 US$'000

FER FETT

Within one year —FE AN 25,076 18,180
In the second to fifth yearsinclusive ~ E-_ZEFRF (BIEEERF) 20,625 10,353
45,701 28,533
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

224

In addition to those related party transactions and (a)
balances disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with its related parties during the year:

35. BB LIRS

BRar & 015 R B 30 5 AT
BHBAEE T X B MRS R
SERNFERNEERE T ETT
P E

2019 2018
2019 F 20184
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FE7T
Sales to a related company [ —fE R A IR SHE
(Note (i)) (BEEE) - 65
Purchase from a related company R E&—EEE A RIMNEE
(Note (i) (B &EG) - 65
Interest paid to a related company [A]— & B85 A 72 A ORI B
(Note (ii)) (B&E (i) 106 -
Notes: Pt o -
() ARARESFRXAXERT £4

(i) Mr. Xu Wenjun and Mr. Ding Yuzhao, the directors of the
Company have beneficial interests in the related company.

(i) Mr. Xu Wenjun, the director of the Company has beneficial
interests in the related company.

FAENLEE AR A Btk -

(i)  ARFEBFRHFRGEENBHBQ
AEEEEER -

The remuneration of directors and other members of b)) EFKTEEEEBEEMKERN
key management during the year was as follows: FAME BT
2019 2018
20194 2018 FF
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
Short-term benefits %2 HAtE A 329 346
Retirement benefit Scheme RIRRBAIGTEIHRK
contributions 20 24
349 370
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36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 36. TEMBE AT
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December R2019F 124318 - TEMBAA
2019 are as follows: BEFBANT
Attributable
equity interest
Place of of the Group
Principal Place incorporation/ Issuedand as at the date
Name of operation establishment paid up capital of report  Principal activities
U A KEBRNES
EL IRERBE  RUBH BRORARRE  BHEERE IEED
Directly held:
ERRR:
Virtue Glory Holdings Limited ~ Hong Kong The British US$10,000 100%  Investment holding
Virgin Islands
&R RERAES 100007 RERRK
Indirectly held:
LESSER
Baustella Shipping (Hong Kong)  Hong Kong Hong Kong US$10,000 100%  Vessel owning and
Limited chartering
KHENK(ER)RRRA AR BR 10,000%7T EnAEREE
Begstella Shipping (Hongkong) ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% Vessel owning and
Limited chartering
BREWK(ER)BRAA AR Bk 10,0007 EnAEREE
China Union Sealand Group Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100%  Investment holding
Limited
PEEEEEARAT &R i 10,0007 7T RERK
Jastella Shipping (Hong Kong) ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100%  Vessel owning and
Limited chartering
RAEMK(ER)BRRA AR B 10,0007 EhAERHAE
Lotstella Shipping (Hongkong) ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% Vessel owning and
Limited chartering
HEERK(ER)BRAA AR B 10,0007 EhAERAE
Qasis Oriental Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100%  Asphalt trading
RAEMNERAT] B B 10000787 EEE
Phoenix Shipping (Hong Kong)  Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100%  Vessel owning and
Limited chartering
BEMTH (BB BRAA i A 10,0007t EfEA REE
Shun Yuen Group (Hong Kong) ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% lnvestment holding
Limited
EREE(FE)BRAA & BB 10,000% 7T RERR
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36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

226

36. TEMBLE ()

Attributable
equity interest
Place of of the Group
Principal Place incorporation/ Issuedand  as at the date
Name of operation establishment paid up capital of report  Principal activities
U A AEEREE
8 TRERBE  RUBE BRIRARRE  BHEERE IEED
Indirectly held: (Continued)
MERE: (8)
Xin De Yuan (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$59,000,000 100%  Vessel owning and
Shipping Limited chartering
EER(ER) MBERLA &k R 59,000,000 7 EMEAREE
Xin Yuan Ocean Shipping (HK) ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong RMB70,000,000 100%  Vessel owning and
Group Limited chartering
ERE+ER (BE)&E EE &R AE#70,000,00070 EEAREE
ARAT
Xin Yuan Ship Management Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100%  Vessel management
(Hong Kong) Limited
ERMER(FR)ERLT  FR &R 10000787 hER
Z&L Dolphin Shipping Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100%  Vessel owning and
chartering
BRMBEARRA &R &R 10000787 EhEARES
Bilxin Shipping Group Pte. Ltd.  Singapore Singapore US$1,000,000 100%  Investment holding
Hns R 1,000,000 T REEKR
Lilstella Shipping Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore US$50,000 100%  Vessel owning and
chartering
HR K 50,000% 7T EHMEEREE
Orcstella Shipping Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore US$50,000 100%  Vessel owning and
chartering
R R 50,000% 7T EHMERREE

XIN YUAN ENTERPRISES GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2019



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S AR M R

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z 2019F 12 31 BILFE

36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 36. TEMB AT (&)

Attributable
equity interest
Place of of the Group
Principal Place incorporation/ Issuedand  as at the date

Name of operation  establishment paid up capital of report  Principal activities
AL/ AEEREE

%R TEERME  RUBE BROTRARRE  AHEERE IEID

Indirectly held: (Continued)
BgEg: ()

Poestella Shipping Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore US$50,000 100%  Vessel owning and
chartering
ik iP5 50,000% 7T EMEAEREE
Rostella Shipping Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore US$50,000 100%  Vessel owning and
chartering
P P 500007 EnAERES
Fujian Xinyuanxinlanhai Import ~ The PRC The PRC RMB18,285,568 100%  Sourcing of mechanical
and Export Trade Company (US$2,715,000) equipment and hardware
Limited ("Xinlanhai") product for the Group's

vessels and provision of
administrative services
to group companies

ERERTESELOE R R AKH 18,285,568 T A B ARERS
BRAA(HER]) (2715,000%7T) RERBHER
WRAEERE
RIS
Note: Xinlanhai is a wholly-owned foreign enterprise established in the MisT - SEB R BRI B E R -

PRC. The registered capital of Xinlanhai is RMB30,000,000 and ¥ EE ) T & A8 8 A R #5 30,000,000
RMB 18,285,568 has been paid up as at the date of this report. T RABREBRBREAMARE

18,285,568 7T °
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37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

228

(a)

After the COVID-19 outbreak in early 2020, a series of
precautionary and control measures have been and
continued to be implemented across the globe. The
Group is paying close attention to the development
of, and the disruption to business and economic
activities caused by, the COVID-19 outbreak and
evaluate its impact on the financial position, cash
flows and operating results of the Group. Given the
dynamic nature of the COVID-19 outbreak, it is not
practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of its
impacts on the Group's financial position, cash flows
and operating results at the date on which these
financial statements are authorised for issue.

On 9 March 2020, the Group entered into a
supplementary agreement with a related company for

the extension of the repayment term from November
2020 to November 2021.

On 12 March 2020, the Group entered into two
finance lease agreements of US$18,000,000 in
aggregate for the additional working capital of the
Group. The finance leases are repayable in five years,
bearing interest at 3-month LIBOR plus 3.69% per
annum and secured by the followings:

(i)  charge over two vessels of the Group;

(i) corporate guarantee provided by the Company
and a subsidiary;

(i) restricted bank balances; and

100% of the shares of two subsidiaries

(iv)

Further on 23 March 2020, the Group received
US$17,100,000 from the financial institution.
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37. REWREE

(a)

2020 F ¥11E ZE COVID-191&
—RAPBpIERZEFEREERE
REENEEER - ~EE—
HZ Y ECOVID-19& 15 #
BRAREEEGEREETE
ERNTE  UHHEEARE
B BHRR BeERERLE
¥BEEENTE ER
COVID-19 & IEMBIREIEE + K
BERhZEMBHREZR
EEAEMETEEAEENK
MR -BERERKEREEE
PRS2 o

MR2020F3 898 » A& B 5
BE AR LR HE - HE
FHIR 2020 F 11 ALK& = 2021
F118 -

MN2020F3 8128 » NEEE]
N7 #8 %8 18,000,000 3 7T &) M 15
BHEMEWZE  FAAEED
HINEEES MEHAEAR
T FEREE - &R3E A RBE
17 B 237 B IN3.69% F | K5t
B A T AAAEER -

() AEEREMAKE

(i) ARER—HHERRRE
HHRBER

(i) XEBEHIFEITES &

(iv) MIREHT B A E 100% B 1n
Bt AN - A20208E3 230 0 K
£E B8 & @ EER1517,100,000
EIL e
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